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[Page 2]

The Court: Good morning.
All Counsel: Good morning, Your Honor.

The Court: You may be seated. Will the witness take
the witness stand. You can state your name.

The Witness: Cynthia Figueroa.
Continued Direct Examination

By Mr. Field:

Q. Good morning, Commissioner Figueroa.
A. Good morning.

Q. Thank you for being back with us today. If you give
me a moment, I am just going to prepare my notes and
start your questioning again. So Commissioner,
starting today, I just want to return to the topic we
were talking about when we closed on Wednesday and
make sure it is clear what we are talking about as we
go forward. Towards the end of your testimony you
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talked about being contacted by a reporter. Remind us
what you learned from that reporter.

A. So the reporter asked if I was aware of any
organizations, specifically Bethany Christian Services

And Catholic Social Services, discriminating against -
offering support and services to same-sex couples who
were interested in becoming foster parents.

[Page 3]

Q. And what did you understand the nature of those
two agencies you referenced, Bethany and CSS’s,
objection to be?

A. I understood their objection to be to not be willing
to certify same-sex couples.

Q. What was the nature of that objection? Was it
secular, was it religious, was it something else?

A. As indicated by James Amato, it was based on
religion.

Q. And approximately when, to the best of your
recollection, was this outreach from a reporter?

A. It was on March 9th, and I subsequently spoke to
James Amato on the same day.

Q. So shortly after the call from the reporter?

A. Very shortly after the call from the reporter I called
James Amato and then we made a number of calls that
day.

Q. And is it on that call that James Amato told you
what you just related, that it was a religious objection?

A. He made it clear that based on their religious beliefs
that they would not do the certification process of the
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same-sex couple and they would not do home studies
for adoption for same-sex couples.

Q. And on Wednesday you said that after that call
[Page 4] you called other faith-based foster care
agencies?

A. Yes, that’s correct. I called a majority of our
providers.

Q. And would you have any reason at that point to
believe that a secular agency would have had an
objection to serving same-sex couples?

A. T did not, no.

Q. And so upon learning this — did you say March 9th,
March 10th?

A. Tt was March 9th.

Q. March 9th. What was your — what concerns did
this information raise for you as commissioner?

A. My concern is that there was a particular
community that was being excluded from allowing to
become foster parents. And I was concerned that this
was possibly in violation of their contract, and so
subsequently looked at working with our law
department to determine what challenges the position
that Catholic Social Services took in regard to their
ability to work with same-sex couples.

Q. And why is it concerning to you as commissioner if
a particular community is being excluded in some
way?

A. T think it’s significant in a number of factors. One,
as Philadelphia is responsible for serving all citizens,
1t sends a signal, a very strong signal to [Page 5] that
community that their rights are not protected and we
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don’t care about them. More importantly, when you
think about youth that are being served who might
identify as LGBTQU, they will become adults at some
time. So you are sending a signal to those youth that
while we might support you now, we won’t support
your rights as an adult.

Q. And you testified on Wednesday that you could not
take what I understand to be called an intake closure?

A. That is correct.
Q. Tell us again why you did that.

A. So I closed intake and I believe I also shared this on
Wednesday is that I have closed intake in other
circumstances for other providers as an opportunity to

get a better sense of the magnitude of the issue and
also to make sure that we stop any further damage
that might occur. And for me in this instance it was
making sure that we were not providing additional
children to be sent to Catholic Social Services or
Bethany at the time.

Q. And you said — you just used the word prevent any
further damage to occur. How, in your view, could
sending additional children create the possibility of
further damage?

[Page 6]

A. At the point in which 1 closed intake, it wasn’t clear
to me, but it became abundantly clear thereafter, that
the ability to comply with the full entirety of their
contract was uncertain. And so if you are not able to
comply with your contract, certainly it puts — you
know, it’s a concern for the city, it was a concern for
me to not make sure that more children could have
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been disrupted if we continued to send kids to Catholic
Social Services.

Q. And just so I fully understand, how could more —
how could children be disrupted? What are you looking
at and thinking about when you say that?

A. So if we — if Catholic Social Services could not
comply and they refused to enter into a full contract,
we would have to move all of the children who are
currently served by Catholic Social Services to another
provider. And so certainly a placement disruption is
not at all what the city wants to or intends to do, and
certainly not a position that we wanted to find
ourselves in.

Q. So you closed intake to make sure fewer children —
no additional children were added to that mix?

A. That’s correct.

Q. You mentioned having closed intake in other
Instances in the past.

[page 7]
A. Yes.

Q. How has that been handled administratively within
DHS? What do you do when you close intake?

A. Generally, information is brought to my attention
or I am made aware of directly. And I discuss those
matters with my executive team and make a
determination that it’s in the best interest to shut
intake. So we have done that for administrative
reasons, and we have done it for programmatic
reasons. And the duration of the intake closure is
really in place until the issue is remediated or taken
care of.
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Q. Does DHS permit exceptions when it closes intake?

A. Absolutely. In the case of Catholic Social Services
we have made a number of exceptions.

Q. In what context are exceptions considered?
A. So exceptions have been considered as it relates

To keeping siblings together, as well as in cases where
A child had recently resided with a foster parent and
could return back to a home that the child was familiar
with.

Q. And in the past instances of closing intake, have
similar exceptions been granted?

A. Absolutely. We just last week had an experience
where another organization that has their intake
[Page 8] currently closed also for administrative
reasons, the CRU made myself and Kimberly Ali
aware and asked for us to consider an exception, and
we subsequently did so.

Q. And the CRU you talked about yesterday is Central
Referral Unit?

A. That is correct.

Q. And the Central Referral Unit is responsible for
placements, is that correct?

A. They'’re responsible for helping determine the level
of care and subsequently helping to identify the best
placement for the youth that is presented to the CRU.

Q. And in past intake closures, has the Central
Referral Unit been involved in making exceptions for,
I believe you said, kinship and when there was a
relationship with a prior foster parent?

A. Yes. It’s very standard practice and I would
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just highlight that we are in constant communication
with the CRU. So there is — on any given day, there
are complicated high profile cases that come to the
attention of both deputy commissioner Ali and myself.
And so it’s pretty standard practice when they are
aware that there is a closure that they would bring
something to our attention. Sometimes there is an
issue of a court order or there’s something that comes
up that [Page 9] makes them recognize that an
exception should be considered, and particularly
where that is most significant is kin, because that has
been such a cultural norm for our department.

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, move to strike. That’s not
responsive to the question.

The Court: Overruled.

By Mr. Field:

Q. With respect to CSS, the intake closure you
referenced, does that still remain in place?

A. Yes.

Q. Why does that still remain in place?

A. Because we have not resolved the issue, and CSS
has indicated that they do not want to enter into a full
contract with the City, in which case I don’t want to
send additional children whose subsequent situation
could be disrupted.

Q. As DHS Commissioner, would it —is it — would DHS
offer Catholic Social Services the same full contract it
is offering the other foster care agencies?

A. Yes.

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, speculation.
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The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: Yes, and we have.
By Mr. Field: [Page 10]

Q. And has DHS offered Catholic Social Services an
alternative?

A. Yes, we have.
Q. And what is that alternative?

A. We offered a limited contract to ensure that they
could continue to search the children who are
currently placed in foster care without sending in
additional referrals. It was good to hear Mr. Amato
state that they would consider entering into a limited
Contract.

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, move to strike the narrative.
The Court: Overruled.
By Mr. Field:

Q. Have you been in situations in the past in which
providers are closing or for some other reason unable
to continue long-term providing services?

A. Yes. Unfortunately in my tenure I have had to
experience that a few times.

Q. And in those experiences, what have you done to

work with providers to ensure the best interest of the
children?

A. So in a number of experiences we have actually
negotiated a contract in — understanding that they
were going to have to close, but understanding also
that we [Page 11] needed the staffing and we needed
the ability to assure quality services and the safety of
children. And so we negotiated the staffing levels and
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the contracted amounts. In one particular case we had
an individual, And I know this gets very much into
jargon around our contracts, but we pay a lot of the
placement services in what we call a per diem. So
that’s like a set amount of money per child per day.
And then we have the ability to do what is called a cost
reimbursement contract. In one instance when we
knew we were closing the program, we knew it was not
financially viable or in the best interest of the kids
from a programmatic standpoint, they were not going
to be able to keep staff, so we changed it from a per
diem contract to a cost reimbursement, and we
guaranteed them the ability to have a set amount of
staff. In one other instance we actually offered stay
bonuses for staff to make sure that we had the exact
staffing pattern we needed until closure.

Q. And do you have any reason to think you would not
engage in negotiations of this sort with Catholic Social
Services?

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, speculation.
The Witness: No.
By Mr. Field: [Page 12]

Q. Would you engage in negotiations of this sort with
the Catholic Social Services?

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, speculation.
The court: Overruled.

The Witness: Yes, that’s within my purview as the
commissioner, and I would negotiate those terms.

By Mr. Field:
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Q. Real briefly, you mentioned when you were first
contacted by a reporter two agencies, Catholic Social
Services and Bethany, I believe?

A. That is correct.

Q. What does Bethany do for DHS?

A. Foster care services.

Q. So it’s a similar contract?

A. Yes.

Q. And did you close intake with regard to Bethany?
A. Yes, I did.

Q. Does it remain closed?

A. As of today it remains closed, yes.

Q. And is it your expectation that Bethany will sign a
full contract for the coming year?

The witness: Yes.

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, speculation.
The Court: Overruled.

[Page 13]

The Witness: Yes. It's my expectation. In
communication it has been indicated that we will
likely enter into a full contract with Bethany.

By Mr. Field:

Q. And is it your understanding of the coming fiscal
year contract that it includes a clause that providers
not discriminate in the recruitment and certification
of foster parents?
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Mr. Rienzi: Objection, speculation, hearsay and best
evidence rule. The document speaks for itself.

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: Yes.

Mr. Field: May I have a moment, Your Honor?
The Court: Yes.

Mr. Field: Thank you.

(Brief pause in the proceeding.)

Mr. Field: That’s all I have at the moment, Your
Honor.

The Court: Okay. Cross-examine.
Mr. Field: Thank you.
The Witness: Thank you.

Mr. Rienzi: Your honor, can I take a very short recess
so that I can confer with my [Page 14] co-counsel and
look at my notes so I can do this as briefly as possible.

The Court: I will give you two minutes.

Mr. Rienzi: That’s all I need. Thank You, your honor.
(Brief pause in the proceeding.)

Cross-examination

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Good morning, Commissioner Figueroa.

A. Good morning.

Q. You have had a long career doing a variety of
different kinds of social justice work?

A. That is correct.
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Q. I believe you said yesterday you went to a Jesuit
college?

A.1did.

Q. And then you started your career in the Jesuit
Volunteer Corps?

A. Yes, that’s correct.
Q. What inspired you to do that?

A. Mostly my parents and a history — long tradition.
We have believed faith and social justice are good
tenets to ensure that those with less have the same
opportunities that we have been given.

Q. And those experiences probably gave you a good
[Page 15] understanding of what Catholic nonprofit
service groups are like?

A. Absolutely.

Q. You know that Catholic loses money doing foster
care?

A. No, I am not aware of that.

Q. Do you know that Catholic is a religious
organization?

A. T do know that.

Q. And as DHS Commissioner would you say that
Catholic has a strong commitment to service?

A. Yes.

Q. And for Catholic that commitment to service is part
of how they practice their religious beliefs?

A. I would not provide that expectation.
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Q. Do you think there’s a different reason?

A. There could be.

Q. You have no opinion either way as to whether they
do it for religious reasons?

A. I don’t know that it is for me to say.

Q. I'm asking, do you have an opinion?

A. No.

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.

The Court: Overruled.

[Page 16]

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You have been DHS Commissioner since when?
A. My tenure began in September of 2016.

Q. Do you have that job for a particular term of years?
A. No.

Q. You are an at-will employee?

A. I'm an exempt employee with the City of
Philadelphia.

Q. How many foster agencies are there in the City
right now?

A. There are 30 agencies in the city of Philadelphia.
Q. Does that include Catholic when you say that?
A. Tt does.

Q. And Bethany?

A. Yes.
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Q. So of those, how many provide home studies for
same-sex couples?

A. To my knowledge, all of them should.
Q. How many do?
A. All of them. Except for Catholic Social Services.

Q. So it is your testimony that 28 today provide home
studies for same-sex couples?

[Page 17]

A. Well, actually Bethany does because they have
certified a number of same-sex couples, so I would just
say Catholic.

Q. So today 29 agencies will do home studies for same-
sex couples?

A. From my knowledge.

Q. If Catholic closes their program, how many foster
agencies in the City will provide home studies to same-
sex couples?

A. The same —

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: The same number, I presume.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. And if Catholic is allowed to resume its past
practice, how many agencies in the City will provide
home studies for same-sex couples?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.
The Court: Overruled.
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The Witness: 29.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. So no matter happens in this case it is your
testimony there will be 29 agencies in the City that
[Page 18] provide home studies for same-sex couples,
correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: Yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. To your knowledge, DHS has received no
complaints against Catholic for operating according to
1ts religious beliefs, correct?

A. That 1s correct.

Q. To your knowledge, you have received no
complaints against Catholic for providing foster care
services according to its religious beliefs, correct?

A. None that I am — none that I can recall.

Q. To your knowledge, you have received no
complaints against Catholic for failing to perform a
home study for someone who wanted it, correct?

A. T can’t answer that unequivocally.

Q. But you are not aware of any as you sit here
today?

A. I am not aware of any, no.

Q. To your knowledge, not a single prospective LGBT
foster parent was unable to become a foster parent
because of Catholic’s religious exercise, correct?



JA 293
A. T can’t answer that.

[Page 19]
Q. You don’t know either way?
A. I can’t answer that.

Q. Are you aware of any who are unable to become a
foster parent because of Catholic?

A. T can’t answer that.

Q. You cannot answer because you are not aware of
any, correct?

A. I can’t answer that because I don’t know if anybody
was turned away.

Q. So far as DHS is aware, the number of foster
parents turned away by Catholic who wanted a home
study for an LGBT couple is zero, correct?

A. 1 can’t answer that.

Mr. Field: she just said she is unaware ff anybody was
turned away, Your Honor.

The Court: She answered several times.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You said you are responsible for about 1500
employees?
A. That is correct.

Q. To your knowledge, not one of them has told you
about any couple rejected by Catholic because of its
religious exercise?

A. Not that I can recall.
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Q. On your foster care website you tell prospective
[Page 20] parents to look for an agency that would be
a good fit for them, correct?

A. I don’t have it in front of me, so....

Mr. Rienzi: Permission to approach, Your Honor.
The Court: Yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I am handing you a document labeled Plaintiff’s
Exhibit 14. Do you recognize that document?

A. T do.
Q. What is that?

A. It’s the Philadelphia website. It’s the Philly.gov
website.

Q. And you are an employee of the City of
Philadelphia?

A.Tam.

Q. And DHS is part of the City of Philadelphia
Government?

A. That is correct.

Q. I would like you to look at the bottom of the second
page, please.

A. Second or third?

Q. Bottom of the second says: choose a foster care
agency. Do you see that?

A. Yes.
[Page 21]
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Q. And that says: DHS works with many state licensed
agencies to provide foster care. Browse the list of foster
agencies to find the best fit for you. You want to feel
confident and comfortable with the agency you choose.
This agency will be a big support to you during your
resource parent journey. Once you have found one that
you like, call them to find out how to begin the
certification process. Did I read that correctly so far?

A. You did, yes.
Q. Is all of that true to the best of your knowledge?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Okay. Why do you want foster parents to find an
agency that they will feel confident and comfortable
with?

A. Because it’s the choice of the family to determine
who they want to be served by.

Q. And why would you like them to be confident and
comfortable?

A. Because it is their decision.

Q. I am not asking whose decision it is. 'm asking why
would you — here it says you would like them to feel
confident and comfortable. Why?

A. Because they are deciding to become a foster [Page
22] parent, so they have to feel comfortable and
confident in their decision.

Q. You would like them to have a good fit with the
agency?

A. I'd like them to be comfortable with their decision.

Q. You would like them to have a good fit with the
agency?
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A. T would like them to be comfortable with their
decision.

Q. Would you like them to have a good fit with the
agency?

Mr. Field: Asked and answered, Your Honor.
Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, she has not answered.
The court: Overruled. She can answer.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Would you like them to have a good fit with the
agency?
A. Yes.

Q. Agencies are allowed to have different
requirements for certifying families, correct?

A. No.

Q. Would you read for me the last sentence of that
[Page 23] paragraph we were just looking at, please?

A. Oh, different requirements, specialties and
training.

Q. It says: each agency has slightly different
requirements, specialties and training programs,
correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Agencies are allowed to have different
requirements, correct?

A. They may only have special requirements as it
relates to medical and specialized behavioral health.

Q. It doesn’t say that on your website, does it?
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A. This is meant to provide general information and
does not go into individual regs of all of the
specializations.

Q. Is there someplace else that tells agencies that
those are the only different requirements they are
allowed to have?

A. Not that I can recall right now.

Q. I believe you testified yesterday and some this
morning that you are familiar with DHS’s contracts?

A. T am.

Q. And you are familiar with the contract under which
Catholic provides foster care services?

A.Tam.
[Page 24]

Q. Is it your responsibility to ensure that that contract
is enforced?

A. That is correct.

Q. And that agencies are complying with their
contractual obligations?

A. That’s correct.
Q. In fact, you signed the agreement?
A. T did sign the agreement.

Q. I believe you testified yesterday and again some
this morning about the reason you instituted a referral
freeze?

A. An intake closure.
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Q. Intake closure. Thank you. An intake closure. Did
you do that because you thought Catholic was in
violation of its contract?

A. I believe so, yes.

Q. What portion of the contract was Catholic in
violation of, in your opinion?

A. After discussing with our law department it was
clear the Fair Practices Ordinance as well as the
services provision of their contract.

Q. I have got two there. Fair Practices Ordinances?
A. Um-hum.

Q. And the other one you said was —

[Page 25]

A. Is services, the definition of services.

Q. Can you start with services and tell me how, as you
understand it, Catholic was in violation of the services
provision of the contract?

A. So the totality of the contract under services
requires that you train, recruit and certify foster care
homes. The inability to deliver a part of that service
would not allow you to do the entirety of your contract.

Q. Does the services provision say you must train,
recruit and certify all families?

Mr. Field: Objection, your honor. This Is an 80-page
contract and he is asking about a particular provision
within it.

The Court: Overruled. She can answer.

The Witness: Can you repeat your question.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Sure. Does the services part of the contract require
— strike that. Does the services part of the contract
tell agencies that they must recruit and certify all
families?

A. T don’t have it in front of me. I could not without —

Q. Sure. That’s understandable. I agree it’s [Page 26]
long. Give me a second, please.

Mr. Rienzi: Permission to approach, Your Honor.
The court: Yes.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I am handing the witness what has been labeled
Plaintiff’'s Exhibit 15. Can you tell me if you recognize
that, please?

A. T do recognize this.
Q. What is that document?

A. This is the conformed standard amendment
agreement for Catholic Social Services.

Q. Okay. And this is the agreement under which
Catholic provides foster care services?

A. Yes. In this particular contract there’s a number of
other placement services also in here so....

Q. And you signed this contract, correct?

A.1did. I believe my signature is on one of these pages.
Q. Can you direct —

A. Page 5.

Q. Terrific. Thank you. Can you direct me to the
services portion of the contract that you were telling
me you believe [Page 27] Catholic has violated?
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Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion.

The Witness: I would have to have a moment to be able
to go through this entire document to find the sections
I am referencing.

The Court: I don’t know that you can answer like that.

The Witness: Because services are referenced in
multiple parts of the contract. It’s not just in one area.
So there is the general provisions. There’s the scope of
services and there’s the definitions and terms as it
relates to services.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Okay. Is it your view that that contract requires
foster agencies to recruit and certify all couples?

A. Yes.
Q. Are agencies allowed to have targeted recruiting?

A. For specialized behavioral health and as well as for
medically fragile children.

Q. Beyond those two, is it a violation of the contract
that agencies have specialized recruiting?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal [Page 28]
conclusion.

The Court: What do you mean by specialized
recruiting?

Mr. Rienzi: Targeted recruiting to particular
communities.

Mr. Field: Same objection, your honor.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: Could you define what you mean.
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By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Must all agencies recruit everybody all the time or
are they allowed to target particular communities to
do their recruiting?

A. So they can have a focus on a cultural or particular
community, but they require — all foster care agencies
are required to serve all members of the City of
Philadelphia who present and are interested in
becoming a foster parent.

Q. So they are allowed to recruit in a targeted way, is
that true?

A. No.

Q. So Concilio targets its recruiting to the Latino
community, correct?

A. I would not confuse serving a particular community
with only targeting.

[Page 29]

Q. You don’t think Concilio’s recruiting is targeted to
the Hispanic community?

A. 1T know for a fact that Concilio serves all of
Philadelphia.

Q. That was not my question. My question is their
recruiting efforts are targeted to the Hispanic
community, are they not?

Mr. Field: Objection to the term “targeted,” your
honor.

The Court: what do you mean by “targeted”?

Mr. Rienzi: I mean do they go out to recruit in
particular communities? Do they set out to recruit
foster parents in Hispanic communities?
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The Court: I believe the answer was they go out, but
they are obliged to serve the entire community.

Mr. Rienzi: I don’t think she answered the first part as
to whether they do the recruiting in a targeted way,
which is what I am trying to get at.

The Court: Well, I think you need to rephrase your
question.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Concilio focuses its recruiting efforts in the
Hispanic community, doesn’t it?

[Page 30]
A. I don’t think I can answer the question.
Q. You don’t know either way?

A. T said earlier that targeted does not exclude the
entire community.

Q. You don’t know either way whether they target a
particular community, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection to the term “targeted,” your
honor.

The Court: again —
By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. Focus on a particular community.

The Court: She has answered the question as best as
she can using her terminology.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You said you also think Catholic violated the Fair
Practices Ordinance portion of the contract?

A. Yes, that is correct.
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Q. Why do you think that?

A. That — actually I am not an attorney so that was a
discussion that we had with our legal counsel in terms
of their conclusions as it relates to the representation
of not serving same-sex couples.

Mr. Field: Your honor, I just want to object to any
inquiry into privileged and confidential attorney/client
information.

[Page 31]
The Court: Yes.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you think foster care work 1s a public
accommodation?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion.
The Court: Yes. Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you think the Fair Practice Ordinance applies to
the work of the Department of Human Services doing
foster care work?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion.
The Court: Ask your question again.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you think the Fair Practices Ordinance applies
to the work of the Department of Human Services
doing foster care work.

The Court: And was there an objection?
Mr. Field: Calls for a legal conclusion, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.
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Mr. Rienzi: Your honor, the witness has testified that
she is in charge for the Department of ensuring that
they comply with the law.

[Page 32]

The Court: I understand that, but what she said was
she had to have a conversation with her counsel —
legal counsel in order to find out exactly what —

Mr. Rienzi: Understood.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Commissioner Figueroa, your discussion with the
legal counsel, which I am not going to ask the
substance of at all, but your discussion with legal
counsel was about whether Catholic had violated the
contract and specifically the fair practices ordinance
portion of the contract, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection. She’s already testified to the fact

The Court: Overruled.
The Witness: I'm sorry. Can you repeat your question.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. All T am trying to do is just be clear about what your
discussion with counsel was and I am not asking for
the substance of it. That was about whether Catholic
had violated the Fair Practice Ordinance portion of the
contract, correct?

A. No. My discussion with my law department was,
Here are the issues, and I am concerned about their
[Page 33] ability to comply with the entirety of their
contract.
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Q. And for my next question, I want you to leave that
discussion aside because I am not asking about that
discussion. I am asking you about your job as the
person in charge of DHS, and I am asking about your
job particularly as somebody who has testified that it
1s your responsibility to ensure that your agency
complies with state, federal and city law.

A. That is correct.

Q. Is it your opinion that DHS is governed by the Fair
Practices Ordinance when doing foster care work?

A. Could you restate your question.

Q. Is it your opinion that DHS, the agency you run, is
covered by the Fair Practices Ordinance when doing
foster care work?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion or information learned from counsel.

The Court: Overruled. If you can answer.

The Witness: I don’t feel I have legal training to
answer that question.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Have you ever trained your staff on compliance
with the Fair Practices Ordinance?

[Page 34]

A. As a Commissioner?
Q. Yes.

A. No, I have not.

Q. In your prior term at DHS have you ever trained
your staff on compliance with the Fair Practices
Ordinance?
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A. As a Deputy Commissioner, no.

Q. In any context at DHS have you ever trained staff
on that issue?

Mr. Field: You mean — Your Honor, can we just find
out whether he means her personally or her
department?

The Court: Her personally.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I will start with you personally.

A. I'm sorry. I am confused. Can you start over again.

Q. Sure. And I will back up. I apologize. What I am
trying to get a sense of is whether while you are at
DHS you all are acting like you are covered by the Fair
Practices Ordinance. So my question is — I will start
with now as Commissioner. As Commissioner, have
you done anything to make sure that people at DHS
follow the Fair Practices Ordinance when doing foster
care work?

[Page 35]
A. Not to my recollection.

Q. And in all of your time at DHS, now over the couple
of different stints that you have had, do you recall any
discussions with anybody about whether DHS was
covered by the Fair Practices Ordinance when doing
foster care work?

A. I answered that it was with our legal counsel.

Q. Yes. I want you to leave aside that discussion. Other
than that, are you aware of any other discussion about
whether DHS 1s covered by the Fair Practices
Ordinance when doing foster care work?
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A. T have not had a reason to.

Q. DHS sometimes considers race when making a
foster care placement?

A. No.

Q. DHS never considers a request from a parent to
foster a child of a particular race when placing
children?

A. That would be the parent’s choice and perspective
to give that request.

Q. And when DHS is meeting that parent’s choice, it
does consider race when making foster child
placements?

A. We can’t always offer the ability to provide the
consideration that has been presented by the parent.

Q. Understood, but sometimes you do, correct?
[Page 36]
A. No, I can’t answer that.

Q. You can’t answer it or you don’t do 1t? I will break
it apart. Are you saying that DHS never considers the
race of a child when making a placement?

A. I am saying that we consider the request of the
resource parent and that the other factor that we have
to consider is the best interest of the child. Whether
the behavior is — coincides with the environment in
the household, whether or not there can be no other
child in the home, whether or not the child is medically
fragile. So there are a lot of considerations and they
are all driven by safety.

Q. I am trying to get you to focus on race.
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A. Right. And I am telling you the priority of the
department —

Q. I understand that. I am asking —
A. —1s children’s safety.

Q. I understand that. But I am asking you a question
about whether the department ever considers race
when making a placement.

The Court: When you say “consider,” do you mean
that’s one of the factors or one of many factors?

By Mr. Rienzi:
[Page 37]

Q. Yes, just consider it as one of the factors. So you
consider race when making placements sometimes?

A. There’s no formalized way for us to do that.
Q. Do you do it?
A. I don’t know that I can answer that.

Q. You don’t know whether your department ever
considers race in making a foster child placement? Is
that your testimony?

Mr. Field: Asked and answered, Your Honor.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, with all due respect, it’s not
actually been answered. I am trying to get to the
answer.

The Court: Overruled.
The Witness: Can you repeat it.
By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Sure. Is it your testimony that the Department of
Human Services never considers race when making a
child placement?

A. I'm sorry. It sounds like you're using a double
negative. Can you ask it more directly.

Q. Sure. Does the Department of Human Services ever
consider race when making a foster care placement?

A. I think what I have answered before, as one of the
many factors that, yes.

[Page 38]

Q. So yes, it does, but there are other factors also
considered?

A. That’s correct.

Q. Have you ever had any discussions with anybody as
to whether you are violating Fair Practices Ordinance
to consider race in a public accommodation?

A. It has not come to my attention.

Mr. Field: Assumes facts not in the record, Your
Honor.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Does DHS sometimes consider disability when
making child placements in foster care?

A. Absolutely.

Q. Have you ever considered whether you are violating
the Fair Practices Ordinance if foster care is a public
accommodation?

A. We actually have specialized providers —
Mr. Field: Objection.
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The Witness: — that only work with the population
you have addressed.

The Court: Overruled.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. And that would be a violation of the Fair Practices
Ordinance if foster care were a public accommodation,
wouldn’t 1t?

[Page 39]

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion, your
honor.

The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You know that sometimes foster agencies
themselves consider race when making foster care
placements?

A. T can’t answer that. I don’t know.

Q. You don’t know whether any agencies consider race
when making placements?

A. T have never had that discussion —

Mr. Field: assumes facts not in the record regarding
placements, Your Honor.

Mr. Rienzi: It’s a question about whether it happens.

Mr. Field: The witness has not testified as to whether
foster care agencies provide placements.

The Court: She answered.
By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. Who at DHS would know that?
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The Court: Who?

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Who in DHS would know whether foster agencies
consider race in making placements?

The Court: What does that have to do [Page 40] with
this case?

Mr. Rienzi: Plenty, your honor. The claim is that foster
care 1s a public accommodation subject to the fair
practices ordinance. The Commissioner has just told
me that the department sometimes considers race
when making placements.

The Court: As one of many other factors.

Mr. Rienzi: Which would be a violation of the Fair
Practices Ordinance if they actually believed it.

The Court: That is your opinion.

Mr. Rienzi: Correct. And it’s actually also the Fair
Practices Ordinance, Your Honor. I am simply trying
to get a sense of how they run their foster care
program and whether they allow other considerations
that are not consistent with this apparently new view
that foster care is a public accommodation. So I am
trying to find out how the department handles other
things that if their story were actually correct would
be violations of the Fair Practices Ordinance.

The Court: Well, that is not — the fact that you
consider a public accommodation and what is required
by the Fair Practices Act is not what this case is based
on, the issue of race.

[Page 41]
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Mr. Rienzi: Your honor, she testified that the violation
— was violation of the Fair Practices Ordinance
because it’s their view that foster care is a public
accommodation covered by the Fair Practices
Ordinance.

The Court: She has not testified to that.

Mr. Rienzi: She has testified that that was one of the
two breaches of the Fair Practices Ordinance, is my
understanding.

Mr. Field: She testified regarding information
providing by her counsel, your honor.

The Court: That i1s correct. She has not testified to
that.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Ms. Figueroa, did you tell other people that Catholic
had violated the Fair Practices Ordinances part of that
contract?

Mr. Field: Your Honor, I just object to the extent that
the question requires —

The Court: Sustained. Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Commissioner Figueroa, I am not asking you to tell
me anything about any conversations you had with
your lawyers.

[Page 42]

Mr. Field: Or other City employees, Your Honor.
The Court: I sustained the objection.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Did you talk to anybody who does not work for the
City and tell them that you thought Catholic had
violated the Fair Practices Ordinance?

A. No.
Q. You didn’t tell that to Catholic?

A. In our — actually it was our legal counsel that spoke
to their legal counsel in the meeting. The direct
question came from Catholic Social Services counsel
and our counsel present responded.

Q. Have you ever instructed anybody at DHS to freeze
referrals at any agency over a violation of the Fair
Practices Ordinance?

A. Catholic Social Services.
Q. Other than Catholic Social Services?
A. No.

Q. Have you ever informed the 30 foster care agencies
in the City that you believe their provision of foster
care is governed by the Fair Practices Ordinance?

A. It’s in the contract.

Q. Other than the language in the contract, have you
ever informed the agencies in the city that you [Page
43] think they have obligations under the Fair
Practices Ordinance when doing foster care work?

A. We always remind individuals to meet the
standards in their contracts.

Q. I am saying other than the contract, have you ever
told agencies to do that?

A. Based on the nature of the contract discussions,
then I would say yes because they all sign their
contracts as I did.
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Q. I am just asking you, other than the contract, do
you ever tell them they must follow the Fair Practices
Ordinance?

A. Not that I recall.

Q. You are not aware of any trainings that your agency
has done to tell people that?

A. Not that I am aware of.

Q. So in all of your time at DHS the first time you ever
heard anybody say foster care was a public
accommodation under the Fair Practices Ordinance
was in this particular dispute, correct?

A. Again, that was in conversation with my counsel.

Q. And I am asking you since I know you also observed
nonprivileged conversations between your counsel and
Catholic. So I am not asking you to tell me anything
about what your lawyer told you. Prior to [Page 44]
March of 2018, you had never taken the position that
foster care work was a public accommodation under
the Fair Practices Ordinance, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection to the characterization of taking
a position, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You are not aware of DHS ever telling anyone that
foster care was a public accommodation prior to 2018,
correct?

A. We never needed to prior.

Q. That’s not my question. My question is whether you
are aware of anyone at DHS ever taking that position
prior to 20187
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Mr. Field: Objection to the scope of this, your honor.
She has only been the commissioner since the fall of
2016.

The Court: My understanding is it’s in the contract.

Mr. Rienzi: I understand that that is their claim, Your
Honor, and I'm simply saying if you are running a
large system, I am curious to know whether they said
it to anybody else.

The Court: When you say “said it to anybody else,” 1
mean the fact that it’s laid out in the [Page 45] contract

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, the words “Fair Practices
Ordinance” appear in the contract. We have a serious
dispute with the City as to whether that makes foster
care a public accommodation.

The Court: I can appreciate that. All I am saying is,
the fact that it 1s in the contract, I don’t know that it’s
necessary that it has to be said any other way.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, I think that’s a perfectly fair
position to take, and maybe Ms. Figueroa is going to
say that. But my question is just whether she 1s aware
of anyplace else that they have taken the position that
foster care 1s a public accommodation. She has been
there for many years. If the answer is no, then that’s
fine. I believe the answer was —

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Was your answer previously it has not come up
before? Was that your answer?

Mr. Field: Again, Your Honor, I just object because he
referred again to this characterization of taking the
position, which is a legal conclusion.
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By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You have worked at DHS for a total —
[Page 46]

A. Well, in my current capacity?

Q. Total.

A. Almost four years.

Q. Prior to 2018 you had never heard anybody at DHS
say that foster care work was a public accommodation,
correct?

A. I believe I answered this.

Q. I am asking for a yes or no answer. Prior to 2018,
you had never heard anybody call foster care a public
accommodation, correct?

Mr. Field: I object to the extent it calls for a privileged
communication, Your Honor.

The Court: Overruled. You may answer.

The Witness: I believe I answered that prior to this
incident it had not arose.

By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. So no, you had never heard that?
A. No.

Q. Okay. Thank you. I believe you testified on Tuesday
that you had heard and agreed with Ms. Ali’s
testimony, is that correct?

A. That 1s correct.

Q. And you know that Ms. Ali stated a — what she said
was a rule that if a qualified prospective foster [Page
47] family wants a home study performed by a
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particular foster agency, that agency must provide the
home study. Do you recall that?

Mr. Field: Objection. He is mischaracterizing Ms. Ali’s
testimony.

The Court: Overruled.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you recall Ms. Ali testifying about a rule that if
a qualified prospective foster family wants a home
study performed by a particular agency, that agency
must provide the home study?

A. T have —in terms of rules, is that the — was that the
language that Ms. Ali used?

The Court: I think she used policy.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Policy. I'm not — you can call it whatever you
like. I'm looking for —

A. T think language is important.

Q. I do too. Thank you. Did you hear Ms. Al testify
about that policy?

A. I was here, yes. I heard her testify on the policy.
Q. Do you agree with her testimony on that policy?

A. Yes, that parents choose which organization they
[Page 48] would like to work with.

Q. And that an agency must provide the home study if
a family wants the agency to provide the home study,
correct?

A. Yes.
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Q. You have never done any training for agencies
about that policy, have you?

A. In all sincerity, it is a huge department and a lot of
the child welfare operations are under Ms. Ali, So I
would not be able to answer the question.

Q. You are not aware of any training provided to the
agencies about that policy, correct?

A. I just answered that, again, I oversee a very large
department, and those duties and responsibilities, I
rely on the support of deputy commissioner Ali. So I'm
not in a position to be able to answer that.

Q. You certainly never instructed her to make sure
agencies are trained on that policy, correct?

A. What policy?

Q. The policy that foster agencies must provide home
studies to families who want them. You have not
Iinstructed her to make sure that agencies are trained
on that policy, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And you have done nothing to train your own [Page
49] staff on that policy, correct?

A. Are we referring to the policy of the home study?

Q. The policy that an agency must provide a home
study. You have never done anything to train your own
staff on that policy, correct?

A. No, because it is reflected in the contract.

Q. Other than your claim that it is in that contract,
have you ever seen this policy written down anyplace?

A. I'm sure it exists in a lot of different places. I don’t
know that I can say — you know, there’s reference to
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the website, et cetera. So I don’t know that I could
name other places in which that would appear.

Q. Okay. Do you know that it appears in other places
or are you just saying it might and you don’t know?

A. It might and I don’t know.

Mr. Rienzi: permission to approach, Your Honor.
The Court: yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I am handing the witness a copy of a document
labeled Plaintiff’s Exhibit 16. And I ask you if you
[Page 50] have seen that document before?

A. There’s a sticker over part of it, so I am assuming
that says the Department of Human Services.

Q. I will show you a copy without the exhibit sticker,
just so you can see that. Have you seen that before?

A. Yes, this is actually very dated.

Q. It still appears on your website, correct?
A. T don’t know.

Q. Dhs.phila.gov is your website?

A. That’s correct.

Q. Do you recognize this document?

A. T am familiar with this document.

Q. What is it?

A. It’s the foster parent handbook.

Q. And what is the foster parent handbook?

A. It’s a guide for prospective parents.
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Q. I would like you to turn to the pink sticky note,
which 1s on page 2, the frequently asked questions
page. Do you see the section saying: how do I become
a foster parent?

A. Yes.

Q. Can you just take a moment and — well, I would
like to direct your attention to the second sentence
there. It says: there are many foster care agencies in
[Page 51]

Q. Nothing in the how I — how do I become a foster
parent section says that foster parents have a right to
receive a home study from whatever agency they pick,
does it?

A. No, but I think it’s important to know that this is a
general guide to the overall process of foster parenting.

Q. Great. And that general guide does not say you have
a right to a home study from any agency you want,
does it?

A. Because it’s a general guide, it might not include all
the detail necessary.

Q. It does not include that statement, correct?
A. What statement?

Q. The statement that you have a right to a home
study from whatever agency you pick.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, I just object. The general guide
iIsa—
The Court: Overruled.

Mr. Field: — many-page document and he is asking
about the entirety of it.

Mr. Rienzi: I am not.
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By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I am asking about the “how do I become a foster
parent” section.

[Page 53]

A. I don’t know what else that — right now off the top
of my head in the 74-page document that might be
found besides page 2. Can you repeat the statement
you are asking me to confirm?

Q. The “how do I become a foster parent” section does
not say that you have a right to get a home study from
whatever agency you want, does it?

A. In this guide, it does not.

Q. Okay. It says: DHS does not license or approve
foster parents. Who does?

A. The Pennsylvania Department of Human Services.

Q. So Pennsylvania DHS is the one who licenses and
approves foster parents?

A. That’s correct.
Q. Do agencies play a role in that?

A. Based on the information that they provide is how
a parent becomes licensed and approved.

Q. Who do they provide that information to?

A. You are getting into the real technical operational
part, so I would have to rely on my Deputy
Commissioner to answer that.

Q. They don’t provide it to you, do they?
A. No. They have to go through the state process. Yep.
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Q. And you have nothing to do with that process, do
[Page 54] you?

A. No.

Q. Your office does not review home studies?

A. I can’t answer that.

Q. I'm sorry. You said you can’t answer that?

A. T don’t know.

Q. When agencies do home studies, they are not
acting on behalf of the City, are they?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: The City pays for the contract for them
to deliver the service. The licensing component is held
by the State. They can’t do the work unless they have
a contract with the City of Philadelphia.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. When agencies do home studies, they are not acting
on behalf of the City, are they?

The Court: She answered that question. When you say
on behalf of, it’s necessary for them to get a license,
but they can’t —

Mr. Rienzi: I am simply trying to figure out if this is
the city’s work that the agencies are doing or if it’s
somebody else’s work.

[Page 55]

Mr. Field: I believe she just answered that question,
Your Honor.

The Court: She did answer the question.
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Mr. Rienzi: Okay.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you still have the contract up there?
A. T do.

Q. Turn to page 86 of the contract, please.
A. T got it.

Q. Do you see section 9.17

A. T do.

Q. Can you read the first sentence of that section to
me, please?

A. Provider is an independent contractor and shall not
In any way for any purposes be deemed or intended to
be an employee or agent of the City.

Q. And that is correct as your understanding, right?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion, Your Honor.

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: That’s correct under Article 9, the
independent contractor indemnification litigation
cooperation.

By Mr. Rienzi:

[Page 56]

Q. Thank you.

Mr. Rienzi: Permission to approach, Your Honor.
The Court: Yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Handing the witness a document labeled Plaintiff’s
Exhibit 17. Commissioner Figueroa, actually if I can
just turn you back to the foster parent handbook for
one more second. It 1s the previous exhibit. In the
second paragraph there you see that the City is
referring people to the Pennsylvania State Foster
Parent Association?

A. Are we back to the original tab?
Q. I'm sorry. I am back to the foster parent handbook.
A. Yes. What page?

Q. Same page. Page 2, the frequently asked questions.
Do you see that DHS is referring people to the
Pennsylvania State Foster Parent Association?

A. Here in the middle?
Q. Second paragraph?
A. Yes. Yep.

Q. And DHS says that that entity can also give you
more information and assist you as you decide which
[Page 57] agency is the best match for you to work with
for your home study and license. Do you see that?

A. I'm sorry. Where are you reading from?
Q. The second paragraph on page 2?

A. Yes.

Q. It says that the Pennsylvania State —
A. Got it. Yes.

Q. — Foster Parent Association can also give you more
information and assist you as you decide which agency
is the best match for you to work with for your home
study and license. Do you see that?
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A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar with then the next document I
gave you, the resource parent manual?

A. T am actually not familiar with it.

Q. Okay. Are you aware that the Pennsylvania State
Foster Parent association changed its name to the
Pennsylvania State Resource Family Association?

A. No.

Q. I would like to direct your attention to page 7 of that
resource parent manual. It says: pequirements in
Pennsylvania to be a resource parent.

A. Yes.

Q. Are you familiar with the regulations that appear
on that page?

[Page 58]

A. I am familiar with them. I would not say I could cite
them.

Q. Those are the state regulations for an agency
approving a foster family, correct?

A. Yes, correct.

Q. And do you see under heading number 1 where it
says: note that these are minimum requirements and
individual agencies will vary their policies. Do you see
that?

A. T do see that.
Q. And that is correct, isn’t it?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion, Your Honor.
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The Court: Yes, overruled.

The Witness: And clarity — could you clarify the
Iinterpretation of “individual agency” for this line of
questioning?

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I understand them to be talking about foster care
agencies. And so the way I am looking at it is in
Exhibit 16 the City tells people to go to this foster care
agency.

A. I just asked that because we are also considered an
agency of the state. So it’s not clear to me that this is
talking exclusively about foster care agencies.

[Page 59]

Q. Okay. Do you see that it says these are minimum
requirements?

A. Yes, I do.
Q. What do you understand that to mean?
A. Less than what is required.

Q. Okay. And to this day, this is a document that the
Department of Human Services is sending potential
foster parents to, correct?

Mr. Field: Your Honor, this is not a Department of
Human Services document.

The Court: I believe she indicated that the resource,
the parent resource that you gave to her from the City
of Philadelphia was dated.

Mr. Rienzi: I understand that, Your Honor. It appears
on their website. And so I am asking a question about
1t because they are still referring people to this agency.
So I am simply trying to find out —
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By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Well, let me ask you. I will ask a different question.
Do you disagree with the language you see on page 7
that those requirements for resource parents are
minimums?

A. I don’t run this agency, so I can’t speak — I can’t
answer that.

[Page 60]

Q. Those are the requirements for certifying a foster
family, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion, Your Honor.

The Court: This is not her document.

Mr. Rienzi: I know it’s not her document. It’s the
document that the City sends to foster parents to look
at.

The Court: This is not her document. So she cannot tell
you whether or not these are the minimum — these
are the requirements to certify.

Mr. Rienzi: So fair enough. I am asking her if she
agrees with the document. She doesn’t have to tell me
what they meant. Does she agree?

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you agree, Commissioner Figueroa, to the
statement in the document that you are sending foster
parents to?

Mr. Field: T object to this in that the document is
printing portions of regulations and the witness has
already said she is only generally familiar with those
regulations.
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The Court: Can you state whether or not these are the
minimum requirements?

The Witness: These are not the [Page 61] regulations
in their entirety.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. And it’s your understanding of the way the foster
care system works that foster care agencies are
allowed to vary their policies for approval of resource
parents, isn’t it?

Mr. Field: Objection to the ambiguity in “agencies”
there, Your Honor.

The Court: Yes. Sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. It is your understanding that foster care agencies
that work with the city of Philadelphia are permitted
by state law to vary their policies for approval of foster
families, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion.

The Court: Overruled. Can you answer that question?

The Witness: I am not sure because irregardless we
have our existing contract that identifies what they
are required to meet.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. So is it your position that foster care agencies that
work with the city of Philadelphia are not allowed to
vary their requirements for becoming a foster parent?

[Page 62]
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The Court: What do you mean by “vary their
requirements”?

By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. There are requirements listed in state law, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And I apologize. You are aware that there are
requirements in state law for becoming a foster family,
correct?

A. I am aware, yes.

Q. And my question to you is, are agencies allowed to
vary and to add to those requirements?

A. I believe I have answered that. They are required
to follow the contract with the City of Philadelphia
irregardless of what this guide might stipulate.

Q. As I matter of state law, is it your understanding
that they are allowed to treat these as minimum
requirements?

Mr. Field: Objection to the legal conclusion.

The Court: Yes. Sustained. Sustained. I am not quite
sure where — what requirements we are talking
about.

By Mr. Rienzi:
[Page 63]

Q. No one from your agency has come to you to say we
are referring people to a manual that is telling them
the wrong thing, have they?

A. Not that has been brought to my level.
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Q. And no one has told that you that the City’s website
says anything wrong about being a foster parent
either, correct?

A. We have gotten feedback that the information is
dated.

Q. When?
A. We are in the process of redoing our entire website.
Q. When did you get that feedback?

A. We have gotten that from our staff and we have
gotten that from providers. And I cannot give you an
exact date, but I will tell you in the course of the two
years I have been a commissioner, that it’s regular
feedback that we get regarding our website.

Q. Is any of that feedback related to the language on
your website that says agencies can have slightly
different requirements?

A. I didn’t answer that question.
Q. You did or did not?
A. T did not.

Q. Okay. I am asking you if any of the feedback [Page
64] you have received relates to the sentence on the
city’s website that says each agency has slightly
different requirements.

A. What are you referencing now.

Q. Now I am back at the original website that we
looked at. It says: birth, marriage and life events on
the first page. And then it has this box?

A. Yes, thank you.
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Q. And you said you have received feedback that the
information on your website is dated. And I am simply
trying to find out whether any of that feedback relates
to the sentence on the web page that says each agency
has slightly different requirements, specialties, and
training programs.

A. Tt has been general feedback.

Q. No one has specifically told you that that
sentence on your website was wrong?

A. Not that particular sentence.

Q. And as you sit here today, you don’t have any
Iintention of changing that, do you?

A. I'm certainly going to —
Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.
The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Rienzi: Permission to approach, your [Page 65]
honor.

The Court: Yes.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Handing you a document labeled Plaintiff’'s Exhibit
18. And it’s the website from an organization called the
second chance.

A. A Second Chance.

Q. A Second Chance. Are you familiar with a Second
Chance?

A.Tam.
Q. What are they?
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A. They'’re a foster care provider agency and they also
do family group decision-making.

Q. What is family group decision-making?

A. It’'s basically a teaming process to help
determination of the progress on a case.

Q. I would like to direct your attention to the second
sentence in the box at the top of the page under
kinship cares. And it reads: as the only agency in the
country that exclusively delivers services to the entire
kinship triad, child, caregiver, and birth parents, its
approach is pure kinship. Do you see that?

A. I do.

Mr. Field: Your honor, I would object to [Page 66] the
question both on relevance and hearsay. This is not a
DHS document.

The Court: Well, overruled. I am not quite sure where
we are going but —

Mr. Rienzi: I will get there quickly, Your honor.
The Court: Okay.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. A second chance says on its website that it
exclusively does kin care, correct?

A. That’s their terminology, yes.

Q. Do you believe it would violate the public
accommodations law for second chance to exclusively
do kinship care?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Have you ever investigated a second chance for the
fact that it says it exclusively does kin care?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent that it assumes DHS
Iinvestigates on such subjects.

The Court: Overruled. She can answer.
The Witness: Can you repeat?

By Mr. Rienzi:

[Page 67]

Q. Have you ever investigated a second chance for the
claim on its website that it exclusively does kin care?

A. No, because they serve everybody we send to them.
Q. You didn’t cut off referrals to a Second Chance?

A. They accept everybody we send to them.

Q. You did not cut off referrals to a Second Chance?
A. No.

Q. For Second Chance you decided that what they
actually do is what matters, correct?

The Court: Sustained.
Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. For Second Chance you did not think that you
should cut off referrals simply based on their
statement on the website, correct?

A. Correct. As a marketing document, not a direct
response to a question asked.

Q. Is it your testimony that Second Chance currently
does nonkinship foster care?
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Mr. Field: Can you repeat the question, please,
counsel?

By Mr. Rienzi:
[Page 68]

Q. Is it your testimony that a Second Chance currently
does nonkinship foster care?

A. That’s not the words I use.
Q. Is that true?
A. Those are not the words I use.

Q. Is — does a Second Chance currently do nonkinship
foster care?

A. Yes.
Q. When did you find that out?

A. I don’t have — I don’t know that I can tell you a
date.

Q. Was it within the last month or further ago than
that?

A. Probably as long as I have known Second Chance.
Q. Which is how long?
A. In my capacity as Commissioner, two years.

Q. Was there a time when Second Chance only did
kinship care?

A. T don’t know.
Q. You never did any investigation to find that out?

The Court: Well, she never did any investigation of
kinship care.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. To find out whether Second Chance only focused
[Page 69] on kinship care?
Mr. Field: It has been answered, Your Honor.
The Court: It was. Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Other than your claim that it is in the contract, is
the policy that a foster care agency must provide a
home study to any couple that wants i1t written down
anyplace else?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor. That is not the
witness’s testimony regarding the contract.

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: The contract — by the nature of a
contract is you're bound to the services that you have
agreed to do on behalf of the City of Philadelphia. It
clearly indicates that services include training,
recruitment and certification of foster home.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. And the contract does not say to do it for all
families, does 1t?

A. I think we have already answered that, that it’s —
in this very long document I cannot speak to that
specific.

Q. We will let the contract speak for itself on [Page 70]
that point. Other than the contract, have you ever seen
this policy written anyplace else?

A. Just clarify, what do you mean policy as a specific
policy of who?
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Q. Your claimed policy that a foster agency must
provide the home study for any prospective family that
wants 1t?

A. Only as it is required through the contract.

Q. So no, you have not seen it written anyplace but the
contract, correct?

A. T don’t know.

Q. There is no place that you can name for me today
that that 1s written other than the contract, correct?

A. I can’t answer so I would have to say I don’t know.

Q. Okay. You don’t doubt the sincerity of Catholic’s
religious beliefs, do you?

A. No, I do not.

Q. And I believe you said earlier you don’t doubt that
they are in fact religious, do you?

A. No, I don’t doubt that at all.

Q. And you understand, I believe you testified
yesterday, that Catholic’s position about home studies
Is a religious decision, correct?

[Page 71]
A. Yes, in their view, yes.

Q. And you told Catholic that you would not make an
exception to allow Catholic to choose not to do certain
home studies, correct?

A. My position was that if you remove that individual
community and inserted African American or Latino,
it would not be even a question. So to me it was clearly
discriminatory in nature.

Q. Because to you it’s akin to racism?
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A. It’s discriminating against a particular community.

Q. I believe you said before that you have no evidence
that any actual gay couple ever asked Catholic to
perform the service, is that correct?

A. Could you rephrase that.

Q. You are not aware of any actual gay couple that
ever asked Catholic to perform a home study, correct?

A. T am not aware.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, I believe that mischaracterizes
the witness’s testimony.

The Court: No, I believe she testified to that already.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. But you still won’t make any exception for Catholic?
[Page 72]

A. That they can discriminate against one particular
community?

Q. That they can allow the other 28 or 29 agencies in
the City to do that home study. You will not allow
them an exception, correct?

A. I believe I have answered that. I would not allow
one organization to discriminate in the way that I
would not allow the other 28 to choose then to
discriminate against other communities. It’s certainly
a very dangerous place for the City to enter into to
allow discrimination of any community.

Q. You agree that transferring foster kids from their
homes 1s not in their best interest, correct?

A. T do agree with that.
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Q. You agree it would be traumatic to transfer kids
from their foster homes?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation, Your Honor.
The Court: Overruled. You may answer.

The Witness: That’s not always the case. So it’s not a
yes or no answer.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Your reason — strike that. You have already
testified earlier today and I believe on Tuesday that
you shut down intake at [Page 73] Catholic to protect
the best interest of children, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And the reason — your reason for doing that was
that you didn’t want to place children at Catholic who
might later have to be moved, correct?

A. That 1s correct, or add additional children that
would have to possibly be moved.

Q. Because moving children from Catholic could be
traumatic for them, correct?

A. As I stated earlier, it’s not a yes or no answer.

Q. Well then, I don’t understand your reason. I
thought your argument was I don’t want to put more
kids there, right? You said you didn’t want to put more
kids at Catholic, correct?

A. I think what I didn’t have a chance to say is that
each case is an individual situation. In generalization,
moving kids is not something that the city wants to
have to do as it relates to a disruption for a child.

Q. And the general reason for that general view that
you don’t want to move kids is what?



JA 339

A. Is that we want to make sure that we maintain the
best interest of the child.

[Page 74]

Q. And for some children it won’t be in their best
interest to be transferred from home to home, correct?

A. Well, we hope in the best interest that we actually
don’t have to move home to home. We believe very
strongly since 50 percent of the Catholic Social
Services are with kin, that kin would want to continue
to take care of their own kin and that they would
transfer to another agency. That’s certainly the
conversation we would have with the other foster
parents who are amazing and also expressed that their
general care — and everybody knows that foster
parents do this because they love the children, and
that would be a very difficult position to have to put a
foster parent, Because ultimately it will be the foster
parents who will have to decide whether or not they
want to move to another foster agency or if they are
willing to no longer have a child in their home.

Q. You heard some of them testify on Monday that
they may not choose to transfer to another agency,
correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, mischaracterizes prior
testimony.

The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Were you in the room when the foster mothers
[Page 75] testified on Monday?

A. I was.
Q. You heard them say that they do not want to
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transfer away from Catholic, correct?
A. I heard they were not sure.
Q. You didn’t hear them say that they don’t want to do
1t?
A. They all said that they were not sure. They could
not state at this time.
Q. They all stated that they did not want to, correct?
Mr. Field: Asked and answered, Your Honor.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. They said they were not sure what they would do if
Catholic was shut down, but you agree that they all
expressed a preference to remain with Catholic,
correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You said this morning that your reason for closing
intake was to protect the best interest of the children,
correct?

A. Yes, correct.
[Page 76]

Q. That was not your explanation for the freeze at the
time you instituted it, was it?

A. T don’t understand the question.

Q. That explanation as the reason for your freeze was
not the reason you gave at the time, was it?
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Mr. Field: Objection, gave to whom?

Mr. Rienzi: Anybody.

The Witness: I don’t know. That’s not true. I had
plenty of conversations internally regarding that
matter.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Who did you tell that it was in the best interest of
the children and that’s why you were doing the freeze?

A. My executive team.

Q. And who is on that team?

A. You want me to name all of them?

Q. How big 1s 1t?

A. It’s all of the deputies as well as the operational
directors. My team is about 15 people.

Q. For both of our good, I will say no thank you.

A. Okay.

Q. You authorized Commissioner Ali to send the e-
mail to CUA leadership on March 26 telling them
about the shutdown, correct?

[Page 77]
A. T did.

Q. And that e-mail did not tell CUA leadership that
the reason for the shutdown was the best interest of
the child, correct?

A. We never provide for the purposes of the providers
the reasons why we are closing intake for any
provider. It’s not fair to that provider to put out their
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personal business in regards to what is happening to
them.

Q. You didn’t tell Catholic that the reason for the
shutdown was the best interest of the children, did
you?

A. No. We explained that we had to investigate this
further.

Q. And you told them the reason for the shutdown was
the possibility that they would not do a home study for
same-sex couples, correct?

A. Violation of the Fair Practices Ordinance, yes.

Q. Do you understand that some foster mothers and
foster children would be harmed if Catholic is formed
to close — forced to close?

The Court: What do you mean by “harmed”?
Mr. Field: Objection to speculation, Your honor.
The Court: Sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:

[Page 78]

Q. Did you hear Ms. Simms-Busch testify about how
her children would lose the social worker they have
bonded with if catholic is forced to chose?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor, mischaracterizes
the witness’s testimony. She represented she would
not — she did not know what she would do if Catholic
was forced to close.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Did you hear Ms. Simms-Busch testify that her
children would lose the social worker who has a bond
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with her kids if Catholic is forced to close? Did you
hear that?

The Court: Overruled. You may answer.

The Witness: Just to clarify, you're talking about the
social worker versus the foster parent?

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Yes. For that question I am talking about the social
worker who Ms. Simms-Busch testified about, the
Catholic social worker.

A. So could you repeat? I just wanted to clarify you
were talking about the social worker.

Q. Sure. You heard Ms. Simms-Busch testify that her
children would lose the Catholic social worker who has
a bond with them if Catholic is forced to close?

[Page 79]
A. I did hear that, yes.

Q. You hear Ms. Paul testify about how she would lose
the ability to rely on the social workers she has trusted
for decades, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. You heard Ms. Paul testify about how her home is
available right now, correct?

A. T did hear that, yes.

Q. And you heard Ms. Fulton testify about her — how
her children may be transferred away from her if
Catholic closes, correct?

A. Only if she chooses to not transfer to another
agency.

Q. Which she said she might choose to do, correct?
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A. And she said she was not sure.

Q. But you heard her testify about how her children
might be transferred away from her if Catholic closes,
correct?

A. T heard that they might.

Q. And you heard how DHS in the past has been
unable to find a home for one of those children, correct?

A. No.

Q. You didn’t hear that?
A. I don’t recall that.
[Page 80]

Q. Okay.

A. I mean, if you have it and you would like me to see
the transcript.

Q. That’s fine. At a minimum, all of these foster
mothers would be forced to go to an agency that is not
their first choice if Catholic is closed, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. Don’t these women have a right to be at the foster
agency that is their first choice?

A. They have the right to be at the foster care agency
they choose.

Q. But if the City forces Catholic to shut down, these
women will not be allowed to be at the agency that
they testified is their first choice, correct?

A. If Catholic chooses not to enter into a full contract,
then yes, they’re going to have to find new homes.
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Q. And to your knowledge, the only reason that
Catholic would refuse to do that is because the City is
Insisting on its policy about doing home studies for
anyone who asks, correct?

A. The City is insisting that Catholic Social Services
comply with their contract.

Q. And the only piece of your view of the contract [Page
81] that you understand to be any problem for catholic
is your insistence that Catholic must provide a home
study for any couple who asks, correct?

A. Can you clarify my insistence?

Q. Sure. So what I am trying to get at is there is a
dispute between you and Catholic about what the
contract means, right?

A. I think there’s a dispute that is beyond just me as
an individual person.

Q. Just to be clear, between DHS and Catholic. I don’t
at all mean to personalize it and say it’s just you.
Other than the issue of doing home studies for every
single couple who asks, you are not aware of any other
reason that Catholic would not enter into a new
contract with you, are you?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor. He is asking about
Catholic’s reasons for doing something, Which the
Commissioner would not know.

The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Has Catholic stated any reason to you that it would
be unable to enter into a new contract other than
DHS’s insistence that it must do home studies for
everyone who asks?
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A. They have indicated they would not comply [Page
82] because they would not certify same-sex couples,
which 1s a portion of the service that is required to
deliver.

Q. I understand that’s your understanding of the
contract. And I am asking, has Catholic told you there
is anything else that would stop them from entering
into a new contract?

A. Other than complying? No.
Q. Other than that one issue?
A. Other than complying, no.

Q. No. I want — I don’t want the broad word “comply.”
I am asking you a specific question. Have they —

A. Well, if you can’t deliver an element of your contract
then —

Q. I understand your argument. I am asking you —
you have identified one specific problem Catholic has,
the home studies for same-sex couples?

A. It’s a pretty big problem.

Q. I am asking you to tell me if there are any other
problems that Catholic has stated that would stop
them from entering into the contract with you?

Mr. Field: Your Honor, he is asking about whether or
not things would stop Catholic from entering into a
contract.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, I am asking [Page 83] about
negotiations that they have had, and I simply want to
narrow the field and be clear. I think her testimony is
that the only issue that Catholic has raised is this one
issue. And I would just like confirmation that it is not
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anything else, that — it’s a reasonable question about
discussions she has had.

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: That was up until yesterday. There has
been testimony provided that was new information to
us that has certainly caused some concern.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I am asking you about Catholic’s negotiations with
you. Has Catholic told you there is anything else that
would stop them from entering into that contract other
than —

A. And I am answering yes, because yesterday they
indicated a new requirement that they have with a
foster parent that we were completely unaware of
until it was provided in testimony by James Amato
yesterday.

Q. You were unaware that Catholic — strike that.
Mr. Rienzi: Permission to approach, Your Honor.
The Court: Yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:

[Page 84]

Q. I am going to hand you a document labeled Exhibit
2, which 1s — it was an attachment to a brief the city
filed, which is a copy of your declaration. I just ask you
to look at that and tell me if you have seen it before.

A. T have.

Q. And that’s your declaration?
A. Tt is.

Q. And you signed it?
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A.1did.

Q. Can you turn to page 6, please. In paragraph 28 you
say that you decided to suspend referrals and you say:
I did this because CSS told us it could not comply with
its contract. Do you see that?

A. 1 do.

Q. CSS never used the words “could not comply with
1ts contract,” did 1t?

A. This is my declaration, so my interpretation of —

Q. That’s what I wanted to be clear on. When you say
could not comply with its contract, that’s your
Interpretation, correct?

A. That in consultation with our legal counsel.

Q. That’s fine. But you are not telling the Court that
CSS said it can’t comply with its contract, [Page 85]
correct?

A. Well, they said they won’t deliver a service, so if you
can’t deliver part of your contract, I don’t know how
else to define that.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, I object to this line of
questioning. This affidavit paragraph does not
contradict any of her prior testimony.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, I am not asking her if it does.
I am simply trying to figure out what she meant and
get clarity that when she said CSS told us it could not
comply with its contract, that in fact that’s an
interpretation. That is not what CSS actually said.

The Court: It’s not the words that they used.

Mr. Rienzi: Yes. That’s what I am just trying to get
clarity on.
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Mr. Field: It was asked and answered, Your Honor.

The Court: I think she has answered.
Mr. Rienzi: Yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Right now, intakes are frozen?

Mr. Field: Objection to the characterization of “frozen.”
[Page 86]

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I'm sorry. What is the right phrase?
A. Intake is closed.

Q. Intake is closed right now, correct?
A. That’s correct.

Q. Which is easier for the Central Referral Unit,
making a placement to one of Catholic’s homes when
intake is closed or when intake is not closed?

A. It has not had an impact.

Q. I'm sorry?

A. It has not had an impact.

Q. Are you sure of that? It has had no impact?

A. It has not impacted our congregate care or the use
of our child care room. So yes, I am sure of that.

Q. How do you know that?

A. Well, availability of — well, I know that through
data.

Q. How do you know that? What data tells you that?
A. I'look at weekly data.
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Q. And that weekly data tells that you the closure of
intake has had no effect on congregate care?

A. That’s correct.
Q. What do you look at in the data to know that?

A. Look at the number of youth that are in congregate
care and where they are located.

[Page 87]
Q. How do you know that there has been no impact
from the closure of intake?

A. Because the number has remained the same or
reduced.

Q. There’s a lot of variables that go into that number,
aren’t there?

A. Yes. And I have a pretty amazing performance and
technology team that actually have really great
detailed data on this.

Q. Terrific. How many kids are in congregate care
right now?

A. I don’t want to — so we have dependent and
delinquent. And so we are talking about just
dependency. We have somewhere around 715, 17.

Q. Okay. And about how many of those in congregate
care could be living with foster families?

A. I could not say because not all children that are in
congregate care are appropriate for foster care
placement.

Q. But some of them are, correct?
A. Tt could be.



JA 351

Q. You've stated publicly that about 250 of them could
be in family homes, haven’t you?

A. 1 stated that we would want to work to increase the
amount.

[Page 88]

Mr. Rienzi: Permission to approach, Your Honor.
The Court: Yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. I am handing the witness a document labeled
Exhibit 19. Ms. Figueroa, I would ask you if you are
familiar with that document.

A. T am familiar with that document.

Q. You read it around the time it came out?
A. I am sure I read it closely.

Q. What is it?

A. It’s a story in regard to our foster care recruitment
effort, which I believe initiated this whole process.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, I just object to this Exhibit. It’s
a newspaper article. It’s not authored by the document
and published by — looks like Philly.com.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, newspaper articles are self-
authenticating under Rule 902. And I am simply
looking to ask the witness a question about a quote
that she gave in the article.

Mr. Field: The quotes from the article would still be
hearsay, Your Honor.

[Page 89]
The Court: Overruled.
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By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Ms. Figueroa, if you would turn to page 3 of that
printout. Do you see a box around some language in
the article?

A. Mm-hmm.
Q. Can you read that language aloud, please?

Mr. Field: Counsel, can I just ask whether the box is
in the original publication.

Mr. Rienzi: The box is something I put to indicate —
Mr. Field: Thank you. Sorry about that.

Mr. Rienzi: I put the box on it to indicate the language
I wanted to direct the witness to. The box is essentially
— consider it highlighting, please.

Mr. Field: So this is not the original article.

The Court: To the extent he placed the box around —
Mr. Rienzi: The box was placed on the original article.
The Court: — The sentence.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Commissioner Figueroa, can you read the language
[Page 90] in the box.

A. In Philadelphia about 700 children are in group
home placements. Of those Figueroa said about 250
could be living with families while 450 more need to
stay in staffed facilities due to physical or emotional
needs.

Q. Do you recall talking to that reporter?
A. T do.
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Q. And you didn’t have any reason to be untruthful to
that reporter, did you?

A. No.

Q. Is that an accurate discussion — description of
what you said to the reporter?

A. Correct, yeah.

Q. So you would say that of the approximately 700
children in group homes approximately 250 could be
living with families, correct?

A. I think that the operative is “could,” as it requires a
court process.

Q. I believe you said you have done some recruiting
recently, 1s that right?

A. Yes, we have.
Q. And you’ve got about 75 new families sign up?
A. Actually, I just ran the data and it’s well over 200.

Q. Terrific. And are some of those families [Page 91]
already taking care of kids?

A. No.
Q. Why not?

A. Because they are new recruits, they've just been
newly certified.

Q. So none of those families are taking care of kids,
correct?

A. T don’t know exactly right now that number, but
those are — as of today we had well over 200 new
recruited families.
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Q. Terrific. But they are new. And so it takes a little
while before they can start taking care of kids?

A. No. Once they are certified and they've completed
the process and have been licensed, they are prepared
to take home.

Q. Do you know how many of them have been licensed?

A. I don’t know. I can’t answer that right now, and I
would highlight though, availability does not
necessarily mean appropriate placement.

Q. How many of those 250 kids have moved out of
congregate care?

A. I don’t understand your question.

Q. You said you told the reporter that about 250 could
be living with families, correct?

A. That is correct.
[Page 92]

Q. I am asking how many of them are still in
congregate care?

A. T also explained that it’s a court process.

Q. I heard that part. I'm asking how many are still
living in congregate care?

A. I said I don’t have the exact number off the top of
my head today.

Q. Do you have a rough number?

A. I believe I gave it to you.

Q. What is the number you gave?

A. 1 said somewhere around 700, 715.
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Q. That’s the same number actually that you told the
journalist in March, isn’t it?

A. That is correct.
Q. So the number has not changed?
A. The numbers have not changed.

Q. And you are aware that there are at least a couple
of dozen places available with families through
Catholic social services right now?

A. According to their testimony, yes.

Q. Do you have any reason to think that number is
wrong?

A. I mean, I have not verified the numbers, so I would
hope that what they are saying is accurate.

Q. So if intake was not closed, some of those 250 [Page
93] kids could have been placed at Catholic, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation, your honor.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. The reason you recruited more foster families is
that you wanted to reduce the number of kids in
congregate care, correct?

A. I stated that to reduce the older population of —
older youth population as well as youth who identify
as LGBTQ who wanted to be in affirming homes. So
we were targeting particular areas.

Q. One of the particular areas you targeted is reducing
the number of kids in congregate homes, isn’t it?

A. That’s older youth, yes.
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Q. I just want a clear answer if I can.

The Court: She said yes.
Mr. Rienzi: Yes. Okay. Thank you.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. But the number of kids in congregate care actually
has not changed since March, correct?

A. T would just highlight that we run a very
complicated system, and so it’s not widgets. It’s not one
for one. Kids are abused every day. They are [Page 94]
neglected every day. They end up in our placement, in
our care, because their families can’t care for them. We
are incredibly fortunate that we have foster care
agencies, but it’s not a one to one. So to assume that
because there is availability will reduce the congregate
care 1s an overexaggeration of the complication of our
work.

Q. I understand that it’s complicated, and I very much
understand that those kids have been abused and been
through terrible times. I am trying to get clarity on
your previous statements that you want to reduce the
number of kids in congregate care, your previous
statement that 250 could be living with families, and
your statement that there is no impact at all from not
sending any kids to the, say, 25 or so families that are
available in Catholic Social Services. Can you explain
to me how we can connect those dots and make it make
sense?

A. The only dot I could connect is that if we come back
here in three months I'm hoping that all these certified
homes, that we will greatly reduce that number. But
the numbers that I am presenting are the numbers
that the system is dealing with today.
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Q. And those numbers again are the same as they were
in March?

[Page 95]

A. They have not increased since the closure. So our
need for Catholic Social Services availability certainly
has not impacted the congregate care number.

Q. There are real kids who could be in those homes
right now, aren’t there?

A. T can’t say that without a judicial decision.

Q. You can’t say either way whether there are real kids
who are in congregate homes who could be at Catholic
right now?

Mr. Field: Calls for speculation, Your Honor.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. The reason for your drive was to get families who
could take kids, some of whom are in congregate care,
correct?

Mr. Field: Asked and answered, Your Honor.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You don’t know either way whether the availability
of those beds in homes with Catholic would help
children?

Mr. Field: Calls for speculation, Your Honor.
[Page 96]
The Court: Sustained.
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Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, the entire case 1s about her
prediction of the best interests of children.

Mr. Field: Mischaracterizes the entire case, Your
Honor.

The Court: Sustained. Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. When there are not enough foster home for kids,
children suffer?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Too few foster homes can result in children being
moved around?

Mr. Field: Can you repeat the question, counselor?
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Too few foster homes can result in children being
moved around?

Mr. Field: Calls for speculation, Your Honor.
The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, she runs this system, and I
am trying to figure out the relationship [Page 97]
between the number of homes and the impact on
children. I am simply trying to get her to tell me what
the impact is of too few foster homes. I will try again.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you know anything about the impact of not
having enough foster homes?

A. No. I mean, I don’t understand the question.
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Q. You don’t understand anything about the
relationship between the number of foster homes
available and the well-being of the children in your
care? You don’t know about a relationship between
those two things?

The Court: That wasn’t your question.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you know anything about the relationship
between the number of foster homes and the well-
being of the children in your care?

A. Yes.
Q. And what is that relationship?

A. That we would like to have homes available for
children who are in our care.

Q. More foster homes is better for the kids in your care,
correct?

A. More appropriate foster homes are available for
kids in our care that is in our best interest, yes.

[Page 98]

Q. And you don’t have any reason to think that the

homes certified through Catholic are inappropriate, do
You?

A. No.

Q. Between 2016 and 2017 the State actually put DHS
on a provisional license, didn’t 1t?

A. It was prior to my arrival. So we — I believe June
of 2017, I am not sure of the exact date, so it was under
a — within less than a year of my tenure that we
received a full license.
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Q. So when you came in, that was something that
needed your attention, wasn’t it?

A. Yes. I actually took the job having worked in a
nonprofit predominantly because I felt I could make a
significant difference, and the agency was going
through a difficult time.

Q. And one of the reasons it was on a provisional
license was that the state found multiple failures to
apply with applicable state regulations, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor. The witness said she
was not with the agency at that time.

The Court: Sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Part of the reason you took the job was to fix this
problem, wasn’t it, Ms. Figueroa?

[Page 99]

A. It was.

Q. So are you familiar with the scope of the problem
that led to the provisional license?

A. T am familiar with the issues that the state
presented, yes.

Q. And one of those issues was the State saying that
there were multiple failures to comply with applicable
state regulations, correct?

A. T believe that mischaracterizes the licensing
process.

Q. The State told you when it gave you a provisional
license that DHS had failed to comply with State
regulations, didn’t it?
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A. It cites specific regulations, yes.

Q. And one of the failures was allowing children to
sleep overnight too long in the DHS facility without
adequate and timely placement, correct?

A. That 1s correct.

Q. Having more foster homes would help you deal with
that problem, wouldn’t it?

A. We got our license back because we reduced the
utilization of the child care room.

Q. You still use it sometimes though, huh?

A. In the event of an emergency when a child arrives
at 2 o’clock in the morning.

[Page 100]

Q. You also use it sometimes when a child doesn’t
arrive in the middle of the night, don’t you?

A. We — the unfortunate times is there is a
tremendous complexity. There’s usually a lot of
intellectual disability or significant violent behaviors
where the child can’t be in a home, and most foster
parents won’t accept children at that hour who have
significant sexual acting out, fire starters, cutters or
have violent tendencies. Those are children that
generally do not end up in a foster home. So just to be
clear, the children who are generally spending
overnight are not kids who end up going into a general
foster care placement.

Q. You keep saying generally. Some of those children
do end up in foster care placement, correct?

A. Some do, yes.
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Q. And having more homes would make it less likely
that you would have to have children sleeping in the
DHS office, wouldn’t 1t?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.

The Witness: Not necessarily.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. But it might, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for [Page 101] speculation.
The Court: Sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. It’s priority for DHS to recruit LGBTQ foster
parents, correct?

A. Affirming homes.

Q. So one of them is to recruit LGBTQ affirming
homes, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You also have a priority of recruiting more LGBTQ
foster parents, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. You have worked with the Mayor’s Office of LGBT
Affairs on some of that recruitment?

A. Along with other providers, yes.

Q. And so recruiting events can be aimed at particular
segments of the population?

A. At all segments, yes.

Q. They can also be aimed at particular segments,
correct?
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A. Yes.

Q. Agencies are not obligated to recruit everyone all
the time, are they?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor. That testimony is
not regarding agencies at the moment.

[Page 102]

The Court: Sustained. I think we have been through
this already.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Are you familiar with the Mayor’s Office of LGBT
Affairs?

A.Tam.

Q. You follow that office on Twitter?

A. T do.

Q. It’s an office of the City government?
A. Tt is.

Q. That office exists to help people of particular sexual
orientations?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor, to the extent the
witness 1s aware of the office’s purpose.

Mr. Rienzi: Yes. I am asking the question.
The Court: If you know.

The Witness: I don’t have the definition of their
mission statement on there, but that sounds about
right.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. I believe you said when you did your investigation
— and I'm moving back up so I can situate you. This
morning you started your testimony by talking about
your investigation after hearing from the Philly [Page
103] Inquirer reporter. Do you remember that?

A. 1 do.

Q. When you did that investigation, you only contacted
faith-based foster care agencies, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. You did not contact any nonreligious foster care
agencies, correct?

A. Actually, I did speak with one other nonfaith based
foster care agency.

Q. Which one was that?
A. Northeast Treatment Center.
Q. Why did you contact Northeast Treatment Center?

A. T have a good relationship with the CEO and
wanted to ask about their practices.

Q. Did you talk about Catholic’s practices?
A. No.

Q. As to all of the other nonreligious foster care
agencies in the city, you did not call them to ask them
their policy about LGBT couple applicants, correct?

A. No.

Q. Have you ever called nonreligious agencies to ask
them whether they perform home studies for everyone
who asked them?

A. Aside from Northeast Treatment Center, no.
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Q. Have you ever called nonreligious agencies to [Page
104] tell them they must important perform home
studies for everyone who asks them?

A. No.

Q. Have you ever called nonreligious agencies to ask if
they ever refer home studies to another agency?

A. No.

Q. You had a meeting with James Amato in or around
March 15th, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. Where did that meeting take place?

A. In Deputy Commissioner Ali’s conference room.
Q. That’s a government office?

A. Ttis.

Q. And who attended for the City at that meeting?

A. It was myself, Deputy Commissioner Ali, our
attorney was present, and Jim Black, James Amato,
as well as counsel for the Archdiocese attended.

Q. Did you take notes?

A. T don’t recall.

Q. Do you recall if anyone else did?
A. I believe our legal counsel did.

Q. At that meeting you told Catholic that times have
changed, didn’t you?
A. T did.

Q. And you told them that it’s not 100 years ago [Page
105] anymore, didn’t you?
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A. Catholic Social Services indicated that they had
been doing this service for 100 years. And I explained
that women didn’t have the rights and African
Americans didn’t have the rights, and I probably
would not be sitting in the room if it was 100 years ago.

Q. You explained to them that it was not 100 years ago
anymore, correct?

Mr. Field: Asked and answered.

The Witness: I indicated, yes, things have changed
since 100 years ago.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You told Catholic that they should listen to Pope
Francis, did you not?

A. I said it would be great if we followed the teachings
of Pope Francis, the voice of the Catholic Church.

Q. You told Catholic that they should not listen to
Archbishop Chaput on this issue, correct?

A. I don’t believe those were my words.

Q. So on one hand you said it would be great if we
would listen to Pope Francis, correct?

A. Um-hum.

Q. Was there anyone on the other side you were saying
they should listen to Pope Francis instead of?

[Page 106]

A. I stated the first part of that, that, you know, it
would be great if we listened to the teachings and the
words of our current Pope Francis.

Q. And you said that they should not listen to the
Archdiocese on this issue, correct?
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A. I answered this. I don’t recall what I said
specifically.

Q. Okay. So you know you said we should listen to
Pope Francis, but you don’t recall saying anything
about who would be listening to Pope Francis —

Mr. Field: Asked and answered.

The Witness: I don’t recall saying the Archbishop.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you recall saying the Archdiocese?

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: No.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you recall saying anyone else in distinction with
Pope Francis?

A. No.

Q. You told them that the home study issue was
getting attention at the highest levels of City
government, didn’t you?

A. T did.
[Page 107]

Q. Okay. And you were referring in part to the Mayor
when you said that, correct?

A. And my chain of command, yes.

Q. So when you said that, you were referring to
yourself as the highest levels of City government?

A. Certainly the Managing Director’s Office. So in the
City Charter I report in to the Managing Director’s
Office and subsequently the Mayor.
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Q. You had discussed this issue with the Mayor before
your meeting with Catholic, correct?

A. Briefly.
Q. What did you say?

A. I said that I am working to address the issues.
There 1s a number of children, and that we will brief
him once we have made decisions about moving
forward.

Q. What did the Mayor say?

Mr. Field: Objection, assumes facts not in the record.
The Court: Sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Did the Mayor answer you?

Mr. Field: Objection, assumes facts not in record.

Mr. Rienzi: It’s simply a question, Your Honor. She
said what she told the Mayor. I am asking [Page 108]
what the Mayor said back.

Mr. Field: Objection, hearsay.
The Court: Sustained.
Mr. Rienzi: The City is a defendant,

Your Honor. The Mayor is the Mayor of the City. It’s
an admission, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Field: Objection as well to the extent there was
counsel present.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Did you know the Mayor’s views by the time you sat
down to meet with Catholic?

A. No.

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.
The Court: She has answered.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Did you discuss cutting off intake with the Mayor’s
Office?

A. No.
Q. The Mayor is your boss?

A. He 1s the head of the City. My direct boss is Eva
Gladstein.

Q. Who is Eva Gladstein’s boss?
A. Mike Diberadinis.

[Page 109]

Q. Who is his boss?

A. The Mayor.

Q. Who appointed you?

A. The Mayor.

Q. Do you consider yourself part of the Mayor’s
administration?

A. 1 do.
Q. You know the Mayor’s views about the Archdiocese?
A. T do now.

Q. When did you learn the Mayor’s views about the
Archdiocese?
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A. Through this litigation.

Q. You know that he does not like the Archdiocese very
much, correct?

A. I understand what has been presented, yes.

Q. Do you doubt the truthfulness of what has been
presented?

The Court: In regard to —
Mr. Rienzi: The Mayor’s views on the Archdiocese.

The Witness: I'm sorry. Can you repeat what you are
asking me.

By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. When you said you know what has been presented.

[Page 110] And I guess I am asking, do you doubt the
truthfulness of what has been presented? It’s a little
difficult because you’re saying you know what’s been
presented — I will ask you this. When you say I know
what’s been presented, what are you referring to?

A. I'm referring to the exhibits that you guys provided
in this submission.

Q. Okay.

Mr. Rienzi: Permission to approach, Your Honor.
The Court: Yes.

The Witness: The date of my wedding anniversary.

Mr. Field: Multiple points, but I would like to start
with an offer of proof on this.

Mr. Rienzi: Sure. She’s appointed by the Mayor. She is
a member of the Mayor’s administration. I think her
boss’s views on the religious entity that is at issue here
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are highly relevant to the religious discrimination
claim.

Mr. Field: Your Honor —
Mr. Rienzi: I'd like to finish, please.
Mr. Field: Yes.

Mr. Rienzi: She follows Mayor Kenney on Twitter and
I am showing some of his public statements [Page 111]
on twitter about the Archdiocese and about the Pope,
who she told the Archdiocese in a government building
who they should listen to. It’s highly relevant, Your
Honor.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, this statement i1s from 14th of
November 2014. The witness testified she learned
about this material through plaintiff’s filing in this
litigation. I am not clear how it’s relevant to the
timeline of the questions that counsel is asking her.

The Court: I'm going to sustain the objection.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Ms. Figueroa, what do you know about the Mayor’s
views about the Archdiocese, other than what you
have learned in this case?

A. None.

Q. Nothing. So until this case you had no idea of the
Mayor’s views about the Catholic Church?

A. That’s correct.

Q. You follow Mayor Kenney on Twitter?

A. I follow a lot of people on Twitter, yes.

Q. And you follow Mayor Kenney on Twitter?
A. T do.
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Q. When you see at the top of that document it says
[Page 112] Jim Kenney, at Jim S. Kenney—

Mr. Field: Your Honor, this document is not in the
record. I've already objected to it.

The Court: And I sustained the objection.

Mr. Rienzi: And I'm just asking her to tell me if she
recognizes the Twitter handle as one that she follows.

The Witness: I've followed the mayor since he became
mayor, so I would not have been privy to this one.

By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. When did you get on Twitter?

Mr. Field: Objection to the relevance of this entire line
of questioning, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, I would like to make an offer
of proof about the documents from the mayor’s Twitter
account. I understand that you rejected that. I would

just like to make an offer so that it is in the record.
May I do that?

The Court: Yes.

Mr. Rienzi: My offer of proof is as follows, Your Honor.
I would like to question the witness about several
statements her boss, the mayor, [Page 113] has made
about the Archdiocese and the Catholic Church. And
there are just several tweets that I propose to ask the
witness about. The first one 1s from November 14th,
2014 saying: The Arch don’t care about people. It’s
about image and money. Pope Francis needs to kick
some a-s-s here.
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The second one is a tweet from the mayor from June
25th, 2012 that says: I could care less about the people
at the Archdiocese.

The next one is a tweet from July 6th, 2016 saying
that: Archbishop Chaput’s, quote, actions are not
Christian.

And our argument about the relevance of those
documents, Your Honor, is simply that this is a case
about religious discrimination. These are statements
from the witness’s boss. And several cases quite
recently, actually, including some that may get cited
by the Supreme Court this morning, have taken
judicial notice of and allowed introduction of tweets
from executives, Office of the President of the United
States. And I would just point the Court to
International Refugee Assistance Project versus
Trump, in the 4th Circuit, 883 F.3rd 233;
Commonwealth v. Bradsheer 1in Pennsylvania
Superior Court 2016 WL 7495120; and Hawaii v.
Trump, which for all I know has [Page 114] been
decided by the Supreme Court this morning. Our
argument 1s that in a religious discrimination case
about religious discrimination by the city against the
Archdiocese, that the witness’s boss’s views on the
Archdiocese are highly relevant.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, I renew my objection of these
documents that were addressed at sidebar yesterday.
I would like to try to introduce them and the
periodization of my prior objection does not change.
These all predate the decision at issue and the witness
has already testified that she was not aware of this
information at that time.

The Court: So the objection is sustained.
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By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You testified yesterday that part of your job is
complying with state mandates, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And one of those state mandates is Pennsylvania’s
Religious Freedom Protection Act, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. And you know you have obligations under that law,
correct?

A. T do.

[Page 115]

Q. What are your obligations under that law?
A. I don’t know that off the top of my head so....

Q. Okay. What does the department do to ensure that
it complies with that law?

A. T am not sure. I don’t know.

Q. Do you understand that under state law you can
only burden someone’s religious exercise if you have a
compellingly important reason?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor. She already said she
was not aware of her obligations under that law.

Mr. Rienzi: I don’t believe that’s what she said.
The Court: Overruled.

Mr. Rienzi: I believe she said she is aware.
The Court: Overruled.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Are you aware that under the Religious Freedom
Protection Act DHS can only burden someone’s
religious exercise if they have a compellingly
1mportant reason?

A. Do I understand 1s the question?
Q. Do you understand that that’s your obligation?
A. I understand that, yes.

Q. Have you done anything to ensure your compliance
[Page 116] with that obligation?

A. T am not sure that I understand the question.

Q. As you run your department, do you do anything to
make sure that you don’t burden people’s religious
exercise?

A. Yeah, I am not sure I know how to answer that
question.

Q. Can you name anything that your department does
to ensure that it doesn’t burden people’s religious
exercise?

A. Sure. We don’t pray before our meetings.
Q. Okay. What else?

A. We don’t have any religious artifacts in our offices.
We don’t require our staff to sign a pastoral reference
to work at the department. I think those are some
general examples of what the city would not do as a
city employee.

Q. You know that your boss, the mayor, has taken a
public position that he does not like religious freedom
laws, like the Religious Freedom Protection Act?

A. I don’t know that personally.
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Q. You don’t know anything about his views on
religious liberty laws?

A. I have answered that based on what you have
presented here, but not what you are asking.

[Page 117]

Q. The mayor never told you that enforcing the
Religious Freedom Protection Act is a priority of his
administration?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor. What is the
relevance of this line of questioning?

The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Field: Move to strike.

The Court: Well, she has not answered.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You have asserted that you have an interest in
complying with the city’s Fair Practices Ordinance,
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And you testified yesterday that you are responsible
for meeting federal mandates related to child welfare
work, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. You received federal TANF funding—that’s
temporary aid to needy families funding—for your
foster care program, correct?

A. That is correct.

Q. DHS has to make statements to the federal
government about its compliance with TANF
regulations to receive that money, correct?
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A. That is correct.

[Page 118]

Q. When was the last one you filed?

A. I have no idea. My finance team does that.

Q. Do you know who signs that?

Mr. Field: Objection to relevance, Your Honor.

Mr. Rienzi: I will get to that in a second, Your Honor.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: They are prepared by the finance
department, and I sign the TANF document that gets
submitted.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. And you don’t know when the last one you signed
was?

A. I don’t recall the date.
Q. Do you remember roughly?

A. No.

Q. Do you remember if it was before or after closing
intake at Catholic?

A. That I definitely don’t know.

Q. Okay. Are you aware that under federal funding
requirements you have an obligation not to interfere
with a religious organization’s definition, practice or
expression of its religious beliefs?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it [Page 119] calls
for a legal conclusion.

The Court: Overruled. She can answer.
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The Witness: To the extent the Department of Human
Services—so we are a state licensed county
administered so the county administration can
indicate its delivered child welfare services, so while
there’s federal funding and state funding, it is a county
run system.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You make certifications to the federal government
about your compliance with TANF regulations,
correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. That includes certifying that you follow federal law
associated with those finds, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And are you aware that one of the federal laws
associated with receiving those funds, which you
certify that you follow, requires you to allow religious
groups to retain independence in the definition,
practice and expression of their religious beliefs?

A. Yes.

Q. But you don’t know whether you have made that
certification since the intake closure at Catholic?

A.Idon’t. They happen quarterly, so I don’t [Page 120]
recall when the last—and it’s not on a regular
standing schedule.

Q. When you signed the last one, did you do any
analysis of whether you had violated it by closing
intake at Catholic?

Mr. Field: Objection, assumes facts not in record.

The Court: Yes, sustained.
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By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. Have you thought about whether you violated your

TANF funding requirements to the federal
government by closing intake at Catholic?

A. Have I had a thought about it?
Q. Have you ever thought about that?
A. T can’t say that I have thought about that.

Q. Okay. And I suppose you have not figured out what
you are going to say the next time you have to make
that certification?

A. Well, certainly—

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for speculation.
The Court: Sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you know what the consequences are of making
false statements to the federal government in the
[Page 121] context of federal funding?

A. Not off the top of my head.

Q. Do you know that your agency could lose its federal
funding if it makes false statements to the federal
government about 1its compliance with TANF
regulations?

A. That sounds probably about right.

Q. You understand you do have an obligation to obey
federal law?

A. T do.

Q. Would you agree with me that it’s a compellingly
1important interest of yours to obey federal law?
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The Court: Compelling?

Mr. Rienzi: Compelling.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. How about, would you agree with me you have a
really important—

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion, Your
Honor.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Would you agree with me that you have a really
important interest—

Mr. Field: Asking for an offer of proof of this line of
questioning, Your Honor.

The Court: She says she has an interest.
[Page 122]

Mr. Rienzi: In following federal law? Did I get that
answer? I apologize.

The Court: She did.

The Witness: I did.

Mr. Rienzi: Terrific. Thank you.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Has DHS informed the federal government about
its intake freeze at Catholic?

A. No. We informed the state.

Q. But you have not informed the federal Department

of Health and Human Services who administers your
TANF funding?
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A. The state actually works with the feds in regards to
our TANF funding.

Q. Do you know if the state has informed the federal
government about—

A. T don’t.
Q.—your intake closure?

A.Idon’t.

Mr. Rienzi: If T can just have a brief minute, Your
Honor.

The Court: Yes.
(Pause.)

The Court: Counsel, how long will you be? We need to
take a break.

[Page 123]

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, can we take a very short
break however long you want, and I will be ready by
the time you say we should go.

The Court: We will take a five minute recess.
Mr. Rienzi: Thank you, Your Honor.

The Clerk: All rise.

(Break taken.)

The Court: You may be seated. Good afternoon,
Counsel. You can continue.

Mr. Rienzi: Thank you, Your Honor.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Ms. Figueroa, earlier you said that you thought
Catholic violated the contract and you referred to the
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Fair Practices Ordinance portion of the contract. Do
you recall that?

A. They didn’t comply with the contract.

Q. Yes. And you said one of the portions you believe
they did not comply with is the Fair Practices
Ordinance part of the contract, is that correct?

A. Yes, that’s right.

Q. Can I direct your attention—

Mr. Rienzi: May I approach, Your Honor?
The Court: Yes.

By Mr. Rienzi:

[Page 124]

Q. I just don’t know what exhibit number the contract
1s. So page 97 of Exhibit 15, please. I would
particularly like to direct your attention to Paragraph
15.1.

A. Yes.

Q. And just ask, is that the provision you had in mind
when you testified earlier?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion.

The Court: Overruled.
The Witness: I'm sorry.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Is 15.1 the provision you had in mind earlier when
you said Catholic had violated the Fair Practices
portion of the contract?
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Mr. Field: Objection. It mischaracterizes the witness’s
testimony. I don’t believe she said she had a specific
provision in mind, Your Honor.

The Court: Well, the question 1is, is that the provision?

The Witness: 15.1 references the Fair Practices
ordinance.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Is that the provision you had in mind when you
[Page 125] said that you thought they violated the Fair
Practices portion of the contract?

A. This is one reference to the nondiscrimination fair
practice.

Q. You don’t know either way whether this is the
provision you had in mind?

A. I think we visited the fact that this is a very long
document and so without going into every single page
where else it’s referenced I cannot cite right now.

Q. But you don’t know any other one that you were
thinking of before?

A. That’s not what I said.

Q. I'm sorry. I am just trying to get a sense of what you
were thinking of when you told me that they violated
the Fair Practices portion of the contract.

A. That’s the Fair Practice Ordinance itself, and I also
referenced to the services portion of their contract and
the definition of services.

Q. Nothing else that you can think of?
A. As it relates to what?
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Q. As it relates to your claim that Catholic violated the
contract.

A. I don’t think that’s actually what I said. I said
that—if we are talking about intake closure or in
terms of the making of this decision. Could you be
[Page 126] more clear?

Q. We are talking about your claim earlier that
Catholic violated the contract.

A. I didn’t use the term. I said that they were—
inability to comply, and I said that it was clear that
they could be violating.

Q. So you are not sure whether you think Catholic has
violated this contract yet?

A. Well, they have issued statements clearly their
position.

Q. But it’s possible they have not violated the contract
yet?

Mr. Field: Objection to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Is your testimony that they have violated it or that
they might violate the contract?

A. Are you asking my opinion as of right now or are
you asking you me my opinion as it relates to closing
intake?

Q. As it relates to closing intake. Was your opinion
that they had violated the contract or might violate the
contract?
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A. When I closed intake it was that they may have
[Page 127] violated their contract.

Q. And have you come to the view or have you come to
a view as to whether the failure to do home studies for
same-sex couples that you cited earlier is a violation of
the contract?

Mr. Field: Objection, to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you have a view today as to whether Catholic’s
position on not doing home studies for same-sex
couples 1s a violation—

Mr. Field: Objection, to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, she signed this contract. I am
just asking her whether she thinks it has been violated
or might be violated. Those are two very different
things, and she is the signer of the contract.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, he can ask her about her view
of home studies and Catholic’s obligation, but he’s
asking for a legal determination under the contract,
which speaks for itself.

The Court: Sustained.
[Page 128]
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Does DHS have a position about whether Catholic
has violated this contract in regards to home studies
for same-sex parents?
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Mr. Field: Same objection, Your Honor.

The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you understand under this contract that the
Fair Practices Ordinance only applies if foster care is
a public accommodation?

Mr. Field: Objection, to the extent it calls for a legal
conclusion, Your Honor.

The Court: Yes, sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you understand that the direct prohibition of
discrimination, 15.1, only applies to race, color,
religion and national origin?

Mr. Field: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion, Your
Honor.

The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, if I may argue the point for a
moment.

The Court: No.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Ms. Figueroa, you testified earlier that the CRU
[Page 129] referral process—strike that. You testified
earlier, I believe, that there has been no impact on the
CRU referral process from the closure of intake, 1s that
correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, mischaracterizes the witness’s
testimony.

The Court: Overruled. She can answer.
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The Witness: I don’t believe that’s what I said.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Has the intake closure made it more difficult for
CRU to place children with families through Catholic?

A. No.

Q. And your reason for saying no is that you have set
up a process by which people can ask DHS to make
exceptions, is that correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, Your Honor. If I can just ask for
a clarification if counsel is talking about Catholic CUA
or Catholic Social Services.

Mr. Rienzi: Catholic Social Services.

The Court: Okay. You may answer.

The Witness: Can you repeat the question.
By Mr. Rienzi:

[Page 130]

Q. Sure. You have closed intake at Catholic Social
Services, correct?

A. Foster care.

Q. Foster care intake at Catholic Social Services,
correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And I believe your testimony is that there has been
no impact on the ability of the CRU to place children
in families working with Catholic, is that correct?

A. No. I don’t understand the last part of your
question.
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Q. The closure of intake makes it harder to place
children in families through Catholic, correct?

A. The closure of intake makes it harder for CRU?
Q. Yes.

A. No.

Q. Why do you say no?

A. Because we have not seen an impact in our number
of availability or the impact it’s had on congregate care
or the use of the child care room.

Q. When you've placed children at Catholic during the
closure of intake, that has not been through the
normal CRU referral process, has it?

Mr. Field: Objection to the [Page 131] characterization
of the normal process, Your Honor.

The Court: Overruled.
The Witness: Repeat the question.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. When you have placed children in families through
Catholic during the intake closure, that has not
occurred through the usual CRU referral process,
correct?

A. Do you mean in terms of having a waiver or an
exception related to special cases?

Q. I would like you to compare what it was like before
the intake closure to what it is like now.

A. I am not sure what you are asking me to compare.

Q. Before the intake closure did you or Ms. Ali need to
be consulted every time a child would be placed with
Catholic?
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A. We're consulted every time there is a congregate
care placement, yes.

Q. Did you and Ms. Ali need to be consulted every time
there was a placement with Catholic before intake
closure?

A. Not every time.

Q. After the intake closure you or Ms. Ali must be
contacted every time there is a placement with
Catholic, correct?

[Page 132]

A. That’s correct, along with other providers that have
their intake closed.

Q. Who else has their intake closed?

A. Can we publicly say that, since there’s — I mean,
that’s not something we—I am just asking.

Q. I don’t know the answer to that. I am happy to —
Mr. Field: Your Honor, can we have a minute?

Mr. Rienzi: Let me ask a more general question to see
if I can—

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You have already mentioned Bethany as having an
intake closure, which I believe is a publicly known fact,
correct?

A. That’s correct, and there 1s, I believe, at least two to
three other organizations right now that have their
intake closed.

Q. Thank you. You spoke before about a waiver or
exceptions policy, correct?

A. Practice, yes.
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Q. Okay. Is there any written policy that governs how
that practice works?

A. No.

[Page 133]

Q. How does that process work?

A. Practice or process—practice?

Q. How does your waiver or exceptions practice work?

A. We right now are generally notified directly by
the—either the on-call director if it’s during the day. If
it’s a staff member the CRU elevates it through—to
my e-mail as well as to Commissioner Ali.

Q. But you don’t have any written policy that governs
how you decide whether to make an exception?

A. There are a number of things that we do in practice
that we don’t have a specific policy for.

Q. And this is one of them. You do not have a written
policy on this.

A. That’s correct, yes.

Q. You just make individualized assessments of what
1s the right thing to do in a particular circumstance. Is
that fair?

A. It’s fair to say that we treat each child individually,
yes.

Q. And for this exceptions process you make
individualized assessments, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. You have never communicated your waiver policy
to—strike that.
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[Page 134]

You have never communicated your waiver policy in
writing to the various CUA’s, correct?

A. There was an e-mail sent by Ms. Ali informing them
regarding the insurance that CRU had to do all of the
placements.

Q. And—TI'm sorry. Is your testimony that that e-mail
informed them—and I don’t mean to make you guess.
Would you like me to get the e-mail?

A. No. You guys entered it into evidence yesterday
with the e-mail that was sent from Stacy Boyd for the
direction of Ms. Ali to the CUA leadership.

Q. Right. We are talking about the same e-mail. At a
certain point if you need to see it, let me know. I don’t
want to—it’s not quizzing your memory.

A. Sure.

Q. That e-mail said nothing about an exceptions
policy, correct?

A. I think—actually, if we are going to talk specifically
about the e-mail, I would like a copy.

Q. Sure. This has been previously marked as an
exhibit. I don’t know the number.

Mr. Field: It’s Exhibit 3.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. And Ms. Figueroa, is this the e-mail that you and I
were talking about a moment ago?

[Page 135]
A. This is, yes.
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Q. This e-mail does not inform CUA leadership about
the availability of exceptions, correct?

A. It says if you have questions about a case, please
contact me by phone or e-mail.

Q. It doesn’t say any exceptions will be granted,
correct?

A. It says if you have a question—

Q. I agree.

A.—about a case.

Q. It does not say exceptions will be granted, correct?
A. No, it does not say that.

Q. It does not inform them on what basis you might
make an exception, correct?

A. No, it does not.

Q. And you have no way of knowing whether your
office is actually being notified of all the situations in
which, for example, there could be a sibling placement,
correct?

A. I am not sure if that’s accurate. There’s a lot of
communication that happens verbally with our CUA’s
through both the director and supervisory meetings.
So we talk about placement disruptions pretty
significantly with our CUA’s.

[Page 136]

Q. As you sit here under oath, you don’t know either
way whether your office gets told about all of the
possible sibling placements, correct? You just don’t
know?

A. True.
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Q. And you don’t know if you find out about all of the
situations where there is a prior foster care parent as
with Doe Child Number 1, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection, to the extent that it characterizes
Doe Child Number 1 placement.

The Court: I am going to sustain the objection.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You said earlier that you had offered Catholic the
ability to enter into the same full contract. Is that
what you said?

A. I said we offer them opportunity to enter into a full
contract.

Q. It’s not the same full contract that they have
previously entered into?

A. For the same services?
Q. Yes. In other words, you would be changing—
A. Tt i1s for the same services.

Q. I am going to hand you a document which has
previously been marked as Plaintiff’'s Exhibit 13. And
[Page 137] that’s a letter from the law department,
who are your lawyers in this case, correct?

A. Yes. This is the letter prior to sending the Award
letter. So this 1s dated in regards to the line of
questions you are asking me.

Q. I would like to turn to page 2 of that document,
please. In the third full paragraph from the top, the
last sentence of that paragraph reads: we believe our
current contract with CSS is quite clear that this is all
right.

A. Did you say second or third paragraph?
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Q. Third paragraph from the top, second page, third
paragraph from the top. The paragraph begins “please
also note.”

A. Sorry, that’s page 3.
Q. I apologize. Sorry about that.

A. Go ahead. Sorry.

Q. The last sentence of the third paragraph reads: We
believe our current contract with CSS is quite clear
that this is all right, but please be advised that any
further contracts with CSS will be explicit in this
regard. Do you see that?

A. I do.

Q. And any future contract that you enter into with
CSS you have told CSS you plan to have a more
explicit [Page 138] discrimination policy in that
contract, correct?

A. The clarity regarding the policy will be made
available to all contracted providers, not just CSS.

Q. And when you said Bethany is going to enter into a
new contract, that new contract is not the same as
their old contract, 1s 1t?

A. It 1s the same contract with explicit language
defining the expectations.

Q. So it’s the same, but with different language on the
key issue, correct?

Mr. Field: Objection to the reference “key issue,” Your
Honor.

The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:



JA 395

Q. It’s the same with different language that is being
changed in order to more directly address the question
of home studies for same-sex foster couples, correct?

A. Can you repeat that?

Q. Sure. I am trying to figure out the contract that you
were saying before that DHS would give Catholic is
the same full contract they had before or is a changed
contract on the nondiscrimination issue?

A. T don’t have the contract in front of me, but just to
repeat what was shared with Catholic Social [Page
139] Services, it would be explicit in regard, in terms
to what 1s required.

Q. The current contract is not explicit, correct?
A. T believe right, it means providing further clarity.

Q. In the past you have frequently let agencies
continue for months after the expiration of a contract,
1s that correct?

A. When there is a renewal expected and it’s been
cleared by both the provider and the city that the
expectation is to move forward in compliance with that
contract, yes.

Q. And in those situations sometimes you operate for
months under the old contract?

A. That 1s correct.

Mr. Field: That calls for a legal conclusion, Your
Honor.

The Court: Overruled.
By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. You talked earlier about possibly changing contract
terms to shift from per diem to cost reimbursement.
Do you recall that testimony?

A. That was an example what we did with a provider
that was closing, yes.

Q. In that circumstance you are not doing any new
[Page 140] referrals, is that correct?

A. That’s correct.

Mr. Rienzi: My last question and I want to make one
proffer, one last document, Your Honor.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. My last question, though, is, I believe we talked
before about whether you spoke with the mayor. And
I just want to be clear. Have you had any
conversations with anyone in the mayor’s office about
whether this conflict with the archdiocese is politically
useful?

Mr. Field: Objection to the scope of the question, Your
Honor.

The Court: Yes, sustained.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, my one proffer. There is one
additional Mayor Kenney tweet that I just want to
make the proffer on. I understand that it will almost
certainly be covered by your prior ruling. May I just
make the offer out loud?

The Court: Yes.

Mr. Rienzi: It’s a April 9, 2015 tweet by Mayor Kenney
at Jim F. Kenney. It says: love this, hashtag
Philadelphia council, invite all affected by RFRA laws



JA 397
to city of brotherly love, ranked the number one
hashtag LGBT friendly by HRC.
[Page 141]

And my argument would simply be this, i1s Ms.
Figueroa’s boss demonstrating that he does not like
religious freedom laws very much.

The Court: Okay, if that’s your argument.

Mr. Rienzi: I have put it in the record, and I am done.
Thank you very much, Ms. Figueroa.

The Court: Okay. Any redirect?
Mr. Field: Just a few questions, Your Honor.
Redirect examination by Mr. Field:

Q. Commissioner Figueroa, I will try and be brief.
When you started your testimony two days ago now,
you talked about the Jesuit—you worked for the Jesuit
volunteer corps in your faith. Just to clarify for the
record, if you are comfortable, would you mind
specifying your religious faith?

A. Sure. I am Catholic. I have been born and raised
Catholic and I practice as a Catholic and Jesuits are
an order, a denomination of priesthood.

Q. Thank you.

If you could turn for a moment to the exhibit that has
been entered as P 13. Counsel was just [Page 142]
showing it to you. This is the letter —

A. This one, yes. It was not marked. I'm sorry, this
one?

Q. Yes.
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Mr. Field: And I believe, counsel, this was entered as
P 13 from yesterday?
Mr. Rienzi: I believe so.
Mr. Field: Thank you.
By Mr. Field:

Q. I will represent it is Exhibit P 13. It’s a letter dated
May 7th to Mark Rienzi, counsel here, from Valerie
Robinson, chair of corporate and tax group. Is Ms.
Robinson one of your counsel with the city?

A. Yes.

Q. And were you consulted in and involved in this
letter?

A. Yes. The law department prepared this letter.

Q. Yes. Thank you. If you can turn back to the second
page that Mr. Rienzi had you reading from.

A. The second or the third?
Q. Third page, excuse me.
A. Just making sure.

Q. There are no numbers on this one. And the
paragraph that is from the—the fourth from the
bottom that starts: family equality is both a legal
[Page 143] requirement and an important city policy
and value that must be embodied in our contractual
relationships.

A. Um-hum.

Q. Can you read me what it says, the last portion of
that paragraph that starts “on a related note.”

A. On a related note, contrary to the discussion in your
letter regarding DHS’s practices concerning siblings,
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because the best interests of the children in our care
are paramount, we did recently grant an exception to
cessation of CSS’s referrals in that instance to assure
that siblings were placed together, and we expect the
best interest of children will remain paramount
throughout any transition.

Q. As DHS Commissioner in all of the communications
you are involved in and responsible for, do you have
any reason to think there has ever been any lack of
clarity about your department’s granting exceptions in
the cases of kinship and siblings?

A. No. I think we have been pretty clear.

Q. Thank you. Just one last issue. Earlier in your
cross-exam testimony you mentioned hearing new
testimony on Tuesday for the—about an issue for the
first time that caused you some concern. What was
that testimony?

A. The testimony was by James Amato, who indicated
[Page 144] that there has to be a pastoral reference
provided in order to become a foster parent with
Catholic Social Services.

Q. And what concern did that cause you?

A. It’s a very specific church practice that has to come
from a pastor or a religious leader and clearly creates
another barrier that is not a requirement to become a
foster parent.

Q. And did you hear Mr. Amato testify that it didn’t—
1t was not required to only be a Catholic church, but
could be any of a variety of forms of religious leader?

A. T did, but I also heard that what I interpreted as
easiest would probably have a significant challenge
being able to become a foster parent through CSS,
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since there would be no opportunity to gain a pastoral
reference.

Q. And did that cause you concern about the city’s
contracting with Catholic Social Services?

A. Tt does.

Mr. Field: Thank you. No further questions, Your
Honor.

The Court: Okay. Any other questions?
Mr. Rienzi: Very briefly.

Recross Examination

[Page 145]

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Ms. Figueroa, as Commissioner of DHS you are not
aware of a single actual person who has said they were
unable to be certified by Catholic because of a pastoral
letter requirement, is that correct?

A. No, I have not. I didn’t know until yesterday.

Q. Did you discuss the matter with others? Did you
discuss the matter with others at DHS?

A. No. I was not allowed to talk to them. I was under
oath.

Q. You have got good lawyers.

A. T do.

Mr. Rienzi: Nothing further, Your Honor.
The Court: Okay. Any other questions?

Mr. Field: Not for this witness, Your Honor.
The Court: Thank you.
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The Witness: Thank you, judge.

The Court: Your next witness.
Ms. Cortes: Your Honor, could we ask for lunch briefly.
The Court: You can’t eat.

Ms. Cortes: At this time, Your Honor. Also to be
perfectly honest, Your Honor, our next proposed
witness 1s not currently right here. I think [Page 146]
we assumed that there was going to be a lunch break
at this time. So I would just ask. I did alert Mr. Rienzi
of our next witness. I understand that he has an
objection. I don’t know if Your Honor wants to address
that now or after lunch or whatever Your Honor’s
preference is.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, can I just briefly state. I think
there’s actually a good reason to have a brief
discussion now, if you are willing.

The Court: Okay.

Mr. Rienzi: My understanding from counsel is that the
next witness will be a Mr. Frank Cervone, who is not
a witness for whom they submitted a declaration in
any of their moving papers and whom I am told is
somebody that wishes to qualify as an expert,
somebody who 1s not disclosed to us previously, who is
supposed to be an expert who we don’t have any of the
expert materials on. I think it’s frankly improper to go
forward with the witness in that circumstance. And so
I would ask Your Honor if you are willing to rule now,
I just don’t think they should be introducing new
witnesses who have not been part of the pleadings
previously.

Ms. Cortes: Your Honor, Mr. Cervone was to be an
affiant in the proposed—in the intervenor’s [Page 147]
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papers. He 1s being represented by Ms. Mary
Catherine Roper for the ACLU. So he did have notice.
He is part of that—of those papers, Your Honor. I did
provide counsel with Mr. Cervone’s resume. There is
no requirement under the federal rules that require us
to provide them with such notice. We also did not have
a notice of all of their witnesses for today, Your Honor.
If counsel would like to interview Mr. Cervone ahead
of time with Ms. Roper present there is no issue for our
side or for Ms. Roper.

His proposed testimony would be very relevant to
these proceedings. He has been a child advocate in—
specifically for the city and county of Philadelphia for
the past 40 years. We have heard a lot of testimony—
or at least opposing counsel has tried to elicit a lot of
testimony that it’s only one side that is going to be
harmed by Your Honor not granting this TRO. Mr.
Cervone would provide Your Honor with the
testimony, the very relevant testimony from his
experience as a child advocate, as to what would occur
if Your Honor does grant the TRO and to the
devastating effect on the children and specifically the
LGBTQ children and also the LGBTQ same-sex
couples and his experience within the foster system as
a child advocate.

And even if Your Honor does not qualify [Page 148]
him as an expert, I would propose to Your Honor that
he would still be allowed to provide opinion testimony
on that front. And again, we would allow Mr. Rienzi
and his entire team to question him ahead of time and
even to continue the voir dire in open court before Your
Honor until Your Honor is satisfied that he is an
actual expert in this field.
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Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, I simply say that the time for
introducing Mr. Cervone’s testimony would have been
when they presented their arguments, their legal
arguments in their briefs. And introducing the idea of
an expert testifying in the middle of the day today and
proposing that I take his deposition over lunch seems
like an unfair practice and exceedingly difficult for
anybody to do. You will have a chance to hear from Mr.
Cervone once you decide whether or not he should be
able to intervene. He is one of the council of
intervenors, apparently. So that motion is before Your
Honor. Our opposition is due next week. You have
accepted their brief—his brief and his writings as an
amicus already. I really do not think it’s fair to go
down this path.

Ms. Cortes: Your Honor, Mr. Rienzi can address that
part as to—it’s my understanding Mr. [Page 149]
Cervone can clarify for Your Honor that he will
actually withdraw as counsel, given that he would be
allowed to testify today as a witness. So he would
withdraw as counsel and Ms. Roper would continue
along with the representation. Is that correct, Ms.
Roper?

Ms. Roper: That is correct, Your Honor. And obviously
as we have been participating as intervenors, we
might well have called him or someone similar to
testify. But since we are not here to do that, I think
the city wanted to do that. Again, this is not our fight.
I just am here to clear up any questions about his
relationship with respect to the intervenors.

Ms. Cortes: And Your Honor, to Mr. Rienzi’s point as
not being able to depose him, we are on Your Honor’s

TRO schedule. They are the ones that have filed the
TRO/preliminary injunction. So we are all on an
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expedited schedule. We would have all loved to have
had the time to depose all of their witnesses, but we
are all under this schedule. So none of us were able to
do that.

The Court: Okay. I am going to permit the witness to
testify. I am going to recess until 1:30. And if you call
him and have him report back, so [Page 150] that he
could be made available to counsel so that we can
proceed at 1:30.

Ms. Cortes: Your Honor, he had a meeting with his
staff starting at 12:30. He believed it would last a half
hour. I have asked him to return to court as quickly as
he possibly can so he will be available to counsel for
the plaintiffs.

The Court: Very well. Okay. We will recess until 1:30.
All counsel: Thank you, Your Honor.

(All rise.)

(Lunch break taken.)

The Court: Good afternoon. You may be seated. Are we
ready to proceed?

Ms. Cortes: Yes, Your Honor.
Mr. Rienzi: Yes, Your Honor.
The Court: Call your witness.

Ms. Cortes: Defendants call Frank Cervone to the
stand.

The Clerk: Please remain standing and raise your
right hand.

(Witness sworn.)
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The Clerk: Can you state and spell your name for the
record, please?

The Witness: Frank Cervone, C-E-R-V as [Page 151]
in Victor, O-N-E.

The Court: Good afternoon.

The Witness: Good afternoon.

Ms. Cortes: May I proceed, Your Honor?
The Court: Yes.

Direct examination—qualifications

By Ms. Cortes:

Q. Good afternoon, Mr. Cervone. Can you please tell
her honor where you went to school?

A. College?

Q. You can start with college and you can work your
way up.

A. University of Pennsylvania for undergrad,
Villanova Law School, and LaSalle University for a
master’s degree in theology.

Q. Can you tell her honor what i1s it that you did
immediately after law school?

A. Career-wise?
Q. Yes.

A. So I served for a year as a staff attorney at Delaware
County Legal Assistance Association, a legal aid
program, working with law students as an adjunct
clinical professor from Villanova. I then moved on to
Saint Gabriel’s system, which is a residential — a
program for residential treatment and day treatment
[Page 152] programs for delinquent boys run by the
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Catholic Social Services, the Archdiocese of
Philadelphia, where I was a teacher and a lawyer and
a Christian brother, a member of the religious
community.

Q. And then just going back to your experience as an
adjunct professor at Villanova, can you tell her honor
exactly what it is you did as an adjunct professor
there?

A. So we ran a—the Delaware County Legal
Assistance essentially had a contract of some sort with
Villanova Law School. These are in somewhat the
early days of clinical education and so the law school
outsourced the administration of their -clinical
program to this legal aid office. And so my job was to
supervise law students in domestic violence cases and
child support cases in state court in Delaware County
In media.

Q. And then you mentioned working at Saint
Gabriel’s?

A. Correct.

Q. What is it that you did after your time at Saint
Gabriel’s career-wise?

A. So I did—in 1989 I left Saint Gabe’s and went back
to Delaware County—Delaware County Legal
Assistance in essentially the same role as a clinical
[Page 153] instructor for a year. And then was hired
as general counsel of the support center for child
advocates in April of 1990.

Q. And are you still there today?

A. T am. In November of 1992 I was elected — I was
elected. I was selected by the board of directors to be
the executive director of child advocates. And I have
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continued in the role of executive director since
November of ‘92.

Q. And this might seem like an obvious question, but
can you tell her honor what it is—what does it mean
to be a child advocate?

A. So child advocate is a term of art used almost
exclusively in our work in Philadelphia County. Most
jurisdictions use the phrase guardian ad litem, and it
is essentially to serve as a lawyer for a child, court-
appointed lawyer for a child in a child protection
proceeding, which in Pennsylvania is known as a
dependency court case in the juvenile courts. Our
office represents children in child welfare proceedings
and related proceedings in Philadelphia’s Court of
Common Pleas.

Q. And before we go into the specifics as to what you
would do as a child advocate, can you tell her honor
sort of who are the players in the dependency court
[Page 154] system in Philadelphia?

A. A classic, we think of a triad of child, parent and
state as the three parties to a proceeding. And so the
child or sibling group is a party of interest in that
proceeding. Those proceedings are typically initiated
by a county children and youth agency. Here in
Philadelphia it’s the Department of Human Services
and the Department of Human Services is represented
by lawyers from the city law department. And then
there are one or two parents in the proceeding. They
typically have separate counsel, and thus we have
child, parent, state as the three kind of main actors or
parties. There are a variety of provider agencies who
come before the court typically not as party, but in
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either a witness role or otherwise come to the attention
of the court.

Q. And when you mentioned parents, can you break
that down, do you mean biological parents, foster
parents, can you just please clarify for her honor what
you meant by parents?

A. So the nature of a dependency proceeding is to
intervene with regard to the parent/child relationship,
the legal relationship. So mostly we are talking about
birth parents, mothers and fathers. On occasion there
1s some other adult caregiver who has a legal [Page
155] relationship with the child and thus they get
standing in that dependency proceeding, so that could
be a grandparent, it could be a stranger who has been
providing care for the child or maybe who has been
recognized by some other court as having custody.
Those are all the folks that have a legal relationship
with the child. Well, of course, we also interact with
caregivers who are interposed by some provider
agency such as we have been discussing here from a
foster care agency or the like. And those folks might be
strangers to the child before they come to know the
child or they might be a relative of the child, what we
call kinship relationship.

Q. And just for clarity, how long have you been a child
advocate?

A. One might say since I have been working at the
support center for child advocates since 1990, in this
formal sense of guardian ad litem in court cases. I feel
like my other answer to that question often is my
whole life. This is what I feel like [—I am about. It is
become my personal mission, my sense of self-identity
is to be an advocate for children.
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Q. And in your preparing to go to court and in your role
as a child advocate, can you explain to her honor what
1s it that you have to do to prepare and make sure
[Page 156] that you fulfill those duties?

A. So the model that I use in my own cases is the model
of our office, what we think of as a service model. And
we think of our task as to represent the whole child. A
child is referred to me and my — I don’t have an
individual law practice outside of the office. So when I
use “we,” I'm talking about both my own practice and
that of my colleagues who are in our office. So our
practice 1involves responding to the presenting
problem that brought a child to the attention of our
office and to the attention of the courts. That
presenting problem might, for example, be an incident
of child sexual abuse or physical abuse or severe
neglect, which incident was then brought to the court,
for example, by the Department of Human Services in
a petition. That case is essentially petitioned to court
and we are appointed by the court to serve as counsel
and guardian ad litem for the child.

We work hard to understand the events, background
related to the presenting problem. And then as well to
understand the—all of the collateral issues that might
be involved in a child’s life. One might think, for
example, in a child sex abuse case that that child
needs therapy and needs access to therapy, needs
transportation to the therapist, needs a report [Page
157] from the therapist. We need to know whether she
1s making progress. She needs to be in school. She
needs to be in the right school. And so we are going to
engage her school community, counselors mostly.

In the main we are going to interact with the case
managers on the case. Here in Philadelphia they work
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for CUA’s, Community Umbrella Agencies, we interact
with the CUA worker on the case. We might work with
some of the parts of Philadelphia DHS that we have
heard about over the past few days, like the Central
Referral Unit, contract administration, the
commissioner’s office or otherwise to deal with
problems that emerge with regard to that child.

Q. Can you tell her honor how—this might be difficult,
but can you estimate for her honor about how many
children you have served as a child advocate for in
your—as your time—during your tenure?

A. So I don’t have an individual practice—I'm sorry,
caseload these days. For many years of my service as
director I actually had a subset of kids who were
assigned to me in the main. Now I serve as one of the
rotating staff attorneys that cover cases. Any time you
are in court on behalf of a child, you are representing
that child. Our office is appointed to represent the
child, not individual attorneys. So I am [Page 158] not
personally appointed to represent very many kids. You
know, it happens, in discrete moments.

The agency represents these days about 1,100 kids a
year. So in one sense I feel responsible and as
representative I represent all 1,100 of those kids. I
certainly don’t know them all. I was in court yesterday
and had three kids who I represented, two who were
adopted and one who is in foster care. On Friday I had
seven kids who I represented in four proceedings. So I
would say that I have personally engaged probably
several thousand children, either individual
representation over my career, and certainly half of
the agency I believe our number is somewhere in the
order of 8,000 kids during my time. Very rough
estimate.
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Q. And I guess in both your personal and as
representative of your—of this support center for child
advocates, can you tell her honor about how many of
these children have self-identified as LGBTQ youth?

A. For the last about ten years we have maintained a
specialty practice in which we assign designated staff
to work with youth who have self-identified. And so
along the way we have had occasion to keep count at
least of those who have identified—self-identified. And
that number we think 1s somewhere between 25 and
50 children a year who have explicitly self-identified.
[Page 159] Certainly there are some number of
additional youth—pardon me—who have not yet come
out to themselves or to us or to others. And, you know,
one might imagine there may be another several dozen
children on our caseload at any one moment who are
questioning their identity.

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, move to strike as speculation.
The Court: Overruled.
By Ms. Cortes:

Q. And Mr. Cervone, you said you designate staff
specifically for these youths. Why is that?

A. Our service model includes assignment of each child
to a staff member as responsible for that case. And our
service model we have not mentioned includes
working with volunteer lawyers from the legal
community. We think of ourselves as the volunteer
legal service for abused and neglected children. So
that when a lawyer from the community wants to do
their pro bono work for abused kids, they come to us.
So in part in order to facilitate that volunteer model,
each child i1s assigned to a child advocate social



JA 412

worker, probably 90 percent or more of our kids are
assigned to a child advocate social worker. Eight to ten
percent are assigned to a staff attorney for primary
responsibility. And, you [Page 160] know, the purpose
of those several assignments is so that there is a
discrete case manager who knows about the case and
who has—is essentially the collector of knowledge and
documents and the protagonist for purposes of
advocacy.

Q. Now, I just want to go back to your general
experience in child advocacy. Have you written or
published any articles regarding child advocacy?

A. I've published probably dozen of pieces, law review
articles, op-eds, newsletter pieces, articles 1in
professional publications, the ABA Litigation
magazine—I'm sorry, whatever their professional
journal is, the section on litigation of the ABA. So I do
a lot of writing, probably publish three or four or five
pieces a year for, in a sense, general circulation.

Q. And besides your regular support testimony, have
you been asked to testify regarding matters of child
advocacy?

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, just get clarity if you are talking
about this case or—

Ms. Cortes: I will rephrase, Your Honor.
The Court: Yes.

By Ms. Cortes:

Q. Mr. Cervone, have you been asked to testify
regarding child advocacy besides in this particular
[Page 161] case?



JA 413

A. Yes. So Tuesday morning I testified before the
general assembly—Pennsylvania General Assembly
House, Child and Youth Committee in support of the
creation of the office of the children’s advocate,
essentially an ombudsman function. That’s the third
time I have testified on that subject in the last 15
years. In July of last year, July of ‘17, I testified before
the Interbranch Commission. I previously thought it
was the interrelations commission but it was the
Pennsylvania Interbranch Commission on Gender and
Racial Bias on the subject of the experience of LGBT
youth in the child welfare system.

Q. And let me just stop you right there. Can you tell
her honor what you testified to? Can you tell us more
about the subject of that testimony?

A. The subject of that testimony?
Q. Yes.

A. Of that event?

Q. Yes.

A. Yeah. So our office was invited to speak to the
Interbranch Commission on this question of the
experience of gay and lesbian youth in the child
welfare system and how the systems might serve those
children better, and so —

Q. I'm sorry to interrupt. When you say the systems,
can you please explain to her honor what exactly is
meant by that?

A. Yes. So the Interbranch Commission, as I
understand it, is a kind of jointly-created, essentially
research arm to make recommendations to the several
branches of state government. And so it 1s somehow
commissioned by both resolution of the General
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Assembly, the legislature, and appointment from the
Pennsylvania Supreme Court. To be honest, I don’t
know if the executive branch has any appointments in
the Interbranch, you know, structure.

Q. And can you tell before—I'm sorry, before I
interrupted you to explain what the systems were,
could you tell her honor what is it—more specifically
what it is you testified regarding that—

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, hearsay.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: The members invited us to speak about
1t and what we spoke about. I went with a colleague, a
specialist, a woman who—a master social worker who
had responsibility for this particular caseload for the
last five years. And we shared — in part we shared the
stories and experience of essentially discrimination,
abuse, oppression and bullying that many [Page 163]
of our clients have experienced during their time
either in foster care or in residential programs or with
their birth families. So we talk about, in a sense, the
experience of their problems. As well we talk about in
a sense, solutions.

So we spend some time actually teaching about, in a
sense, language that might be more appropriately
used to address issues of transgender identity. You
know, the kind of respect that has come to emerge in
the public arena these days around selected or
preferred pronouns, persons of transgender or bi-
racial identity—I'm sorry, bi-sexual 1identity,
occasionally have a desire to not be known in those
binary “he” “she” terms. So we explored some of that.
This 1s a new area for most people and it was a new
turf for this body and they invited us to share what we
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know from the experience of kids and what we have
seen there.

Q. And what were some of the examples of the
discrimination that you testified to regarding the
children?

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, hearsay.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: So one scenario that I recall in a way is
typical of the experience of kids is a young man, and I
think he identifies himself as male, [Page 164] who
was in care because he had been harassed by his own
birth family about his emerging sexual identity. I don’t
recall if there was physical abuse in that case. But it
would not be uncommon for gay kids to be both
physically and emotionally abused in their family of
origin. It’s one of the reasons in general that gay kids
come into child welfare for protection, because they are
not welcome at home.

Mr. Rienzi: Objection, Your Honor. Counsel has yet
proffered the witness as an expert. I don’t know if we
are there yet, but it sure seems like the witness 1is
venturing into generalities as opposed to any fact
testimony.

The Court: Do you have questions in regard to his
qualifications?

Mr. Rienzi: Absolutely, Your Honor.

The Court: Do you have any other questions in regard
to his qualifications?

Ms. Cortes: In regards to his qualifications, no, Your
Honor.
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Mr. Rienzi: May I ask, Your Honor, what the topic is
he is being proffered as an expert on?

Ms. Cortes: Your Honor, I think as Mr. Cervone has
testified thus far, he is being proffered as an expert
regarding child advocacy—well, more [Page 165]
specifically the problems faced by children within the
foster care system, and in particular the LGBTQ
youth, and also as to his conclusions and observations
as to the importance of a safe foster care system for
that LGBTQ youth.

The Court: Okay. You can ask questions, Counsel.
Mr. Rienzi: Thank you, Your Honor.
Cross-examination - Qualifications

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Mr. Cervone, you're an attorney?

A. Yes.

Q. You'’re an attorney in this case?

A. Not any longer.

Q. That’s not true, is it? You have not withdrawn from
the case, have you?

A. Well, in point of fact I have not entered my
appearance in the case in large part because I have not
figured out how to do so in the federal filing system. I
am on the papers and we anticipate my counsel
withdrawing me from those papers.

Q. But you have not withdrawn yet, correct?

A. Like I said, I have not entered myself, but we have
not effectively withdrawn.
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Q. You have participated as an advocate in these [Page
166] proceedings, have you not?

Ms. Cortes: Objection.
The Court: Overruled.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You have participated as an advocate in these
proceedings, have you not?

A. T am not sure I have.
Q. Your name is on a brief, sir, is it not?

A. Yes.

Q. That’'s—you are a lawyer, you understand that to
be participating as an advocate, correct?

A. In that sense, sure.

Q. And that brief has been accepted by the Court as an
amicus brief, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And there’s a pending motion with your name on it
for participation via intervention, is that correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And the motion is on behalf of child advocates,
which 1s the organization you are the executive
director of, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Have you ever participated as a testifying witness
in another case in which you have been an advocate?

[Page 167]
A. Yes, actually last month.
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Q. Where was that?

A. That was 1n the Court of Common Pleas in
Philadelphia County.

Q. Did you participate as an expert witness?
A. No.

Q. I heard the description from—counsel for the city is
not your lawyer, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. I heard the description from counsel for the city
about the topic on which you are an expert and I want
to make sure I understand it. So you are being
proffered as an expert on children and the impact on
LGBTQ youth in the foster care system, is that
correct?

A. Well, it’s their proffer. You know, I know what I
know. I am not sure. To be honest, I don’t think I can
comment on how they are proffering me.

Q. Your expertise is working with children, correct?
A. Representing children, working with children, yes.

Q. Your expertise is not representing and working
with parents, correct?

A. I certainly have a lot of experience in representing
parents. I have represented parents. Like [Page 168] I
said, I taught some people how to represent adults. I
have on more than a few occasions represented both
parents and adults in a variety of court proceedings in
my career, you know, mostly as comes about as — on
behalf of former clients, former client children of ours
who have grown up and they have something else in
their life.
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Q. Sure. We had a meeting in a room right outside
before this, sir?

A. Yes.

Q. And you recall in that meeting you told me that
your expertise is in dealing with the children’s side of
it, not the parent side of it. Do you recall telling me
that?

A. So I don’t think I would have put it that way.
Forgive me, I don’t again mean to avoid you. We are
children’s lawyers, I am a children’s lawyer. As an
office, we only represent kids. Because I have a law
license and because I am the boss, I get to represent
who I want. And so I try to respect the boundaries that
we have all agreed to as an office, but on occasion I
enter my appearance in some way or other on behalf
of adults.

Q. You don’t consider yourself an expert in the interest
of adults, do you?

[Page 169]
Ms. Cortes: Objection to the relevance.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: I do think—I think I have some
expertise. I teach people how to represent adults, sure.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. More than any other lawyer who represents adults?
Ms. Cortes: Objection.

The Court: Yes, sustained.

By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Other than sometimes representing adults, do you
have any other claim to expertise in the interest of
adults?

A. Well, so—yes.
Q. And what is that?

A. So the administrative office of Pennsylvania courts
invited me to co-lead a training series for parent and
children lawyers in Pennsylvania across the state,
along with a colleague from community legal services
in Philadelphia. We assembled a faculty of lawyers
and judges and I believe a social worker. And we
conducted essentially a road show of two full days of
CLE training in six cities over, you know, a
summertime three summers ago, I think, in which we
trained probably [Page 170] 80 percent of the lawyers
who serve parents and children in dependency
proceedings.

We regularly train—I and my colleagues regularly
train the court-appointed bar in Philadelphia County
who represent parents and children. We are the
designated CLE provider for the first judicial district
in order to qualify those lawyers to represent parents
in  dependency proceedings. I have published
extensively on the—really the nature and scope and
demands of representation for children. And lastly, I
am a scrivener of the standards of practice for lawyers
who represent children and parents in dependency
proceedings which standards have been approved by
the Pennsylvania State Children Child Study Team.

Q. You have a lot of experience training lawyers to
represent both adults and children, is that fair?

A. Yeah. We really feel like it’s all of a piece.
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Q. Do you have any experience in child psychology?

Ms. Cortes: Objection, vague.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you have any training in child psychology?
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: So during my master’s training, I had
several courses related to family dynamics. While they
were not in the psychology program [Page 171] at
LaSalle University, there were, I believe, all of those
courses were offered in the theology program, but
there was a course in family dynamics, there was
study of genealogy and—they call that
transgenerational influences. I would not in any way
hold myself out to be a psychologist, and my wife urges
me not to try to practice therapy.

Q. What principles and methods do you expect to be
applying in your testimony today?

Ms. Cortes: Objection, calls for a legal conclusion, Your
Honor.

Mr. Rienzi: The Daubert Standard under Rule 702
requires that he be applying reliable principles and
methods. I am simply asking what they are.

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: So as I said, I help write the standards
and practice for the representation of children. And I
imagine I would reference what many of us consider to
be best practice standards for the care of children, the
representation of children and service to children.
Certainly as well, my general knowledge and training
as a lawyer in this field for 30 years. Yeah.
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Q. Anything else? Any other principles and methods
[Page 172] you expect to be applying today?

A. Well, I am fairly knowledgeable about the canons of
ethics, the rules of juvenile court procedure, the
juvenile act and related bodies of law that pertain to
this area of practice. Certain bodies of law that
address responsibilities related to discrimination or
nondiscrimination in practice. As well, I have been the
administrator of a program of representation of, you
know, a nonprofit agency. And so I have some
background and expertise in nonprofit management.
In, you know—yeah.

Q. You said you worked as an attorney for Saint
Gabriel’s system for five years, is that correct?

A. Correct.

Q. Saint Gabriel’s system is part of Catholic Social
Services, a party to this case, correct?

A. Correct.

Q. And in fact, Saint Gabriel’s system is on the same
contract that’s at issue about foster care, correct?

Ms. Cortes: Your Honor, I don’t see how this is
relevant to this voir dire regarding Mr. Cervone.

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: I am not aware of the [Page 173] current
state of the contract.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. When you were at Saint Gabriel’s, did you
understand that there was a contract with the city
that covered both Saint Gabriel’s and foster care?
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A. Well, my recollection would have been that they
were separate contracts, but it’s been a long time.

Q. Okay.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, we object to the introduction
of Mr. Cervone as an expert. His participation violates
the witness advocate rule.

Whether he’d like to or not, he 1s an advocate in this
case. He has signed pleadings in this case, his name
appears on briefs in this case. He submitted a
declaration that says that the organization he leads,
child advocates, has an interest in this case. He is also
a former lawyer for one of the organizations that is on
the contract. And on top of that, I did not hear any
description of reliable principles and methods. I heard
a discussion of experience that he has, but did not hear
reliable principles and methods that under rule 702
and Daubert are going to be applied, so we would
object, Your Honor.

The Court: Your objection is overruled.

Mr. Rienzi: I assume, Your Honor, I will [Page 174] get
another chance to come up and cross-examine after the
direct examination is completed.

The Court: Cross-examine as to the substance of his
testimony.

Mr. Rienzi: Yes, thank you.
Direct examination

By Ms. Cortes:

Q. I think when we last spoke, Mr. Cervone, that you
were letting her honor know the basis of your
testimony regarding discrimination on the LGBTQ
youth.
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A. Yes.

Q. I was not sure if you had concluded your testimony
on that or —

A. You mean particularly regarding the prior
testimony?

Q. Correct.

A. Well, in point of fact, one of the reasons—yeah, so I
believe, and it has been my experience, that children—
LGBT youth come into our child welfare system in part
because how they are treated in their own families.
And sometimes they continue to have those bad
experiences when they are in the care of families who
the system engages, resource parents, child care
workers, and others.

Q. So based on that—based on that observation, [Page
175] how important then is it to have a foster care
system that has affirming values for LGBT youth?

A. Well, I think it’s absolutely essential that our client
children feel welcome and supported in their person
and in their identity, that they come to a system for
refuge from what is essentially oppression, from abuse
and neglect, often, as I said, typically targeted on their
1dentity and it is absolutely essential that they find in
all of us, in the child welfare system and all of its
practitioners a place of justice, a place of healing and
a place of safety. And in no uncertain terms that
means that homes must be welcoming to them. They
must be affirming to them, they must be places and
people and organizations that say yes to their
exploration of their own identity. In a sense, it goes
without saying that the young person is still exploring
himself or herself in their identity. That’s what we are
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all doing as young people, and it’s essential that that
young person have a safe place in which to do that.

Q. Now, were you here yesterday—well, it’s been
multiple days. I mean nobody was here yesterday. But
were you here—

The Court: I was here.
By Ms. Cortes:

Q. Were you here, Mr. Cervone, in Courtroom 16b a
[Page 176] few days ago when Mr. Amato testified?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you hear his testimony regarding CSS’s
practices on same-sex couples?

A. Yes.

Q. Did you have any reaction to that testimony?
Mr. Rienzi: Objection, vague.

The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: Yeah, I was pretty upset by it.

By Ms. Cortes:

Q. Why were you upset by that?

A. Well, you know, I heard—I believe it was his
reference to their mission as welcoming all and
valuing all. And then he proceeded to explain how
some people are not welcome and supported. It was
news to me that there is a bit of a litmus test for
qualification as a foster parent and resource parent in
the CSS system.

And that felt to me itself contrary to the spirit of the
child welfare system as a whole. It was—I really
crystalized in sitting in this room during that
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testimony this notion that I referenced earlier that
from the perspective of the child, the system needs to
be a welcoming system. And I thought Jim—I will call
him Jim, I have known him for a really long time and
I [Page 177] like him a lot as a person. I was surprised
that the system—that their system is so explicitly
unwelcoming of certain types of people.

Q. Did you have any reaction or did you have any
concerns regarding what Mr. Amato said as to its
effect on prospective foster parents that are LGBTQ or
In a same-sex union?

A. Yes, I think he is wrong. I think he, if I am to
characterize it, I thought he stated, at least implied,
that their practice would not work to dissuade
prospective resource parents from coming forward to
serve, that they clearly—they are fairly explicit that
they would dissuade them from coming to their
agency. He also obviously was rather explicit that if
one came forward, they would send that person or
couple to some other agency, not try to talk them out
of doing business, to be—fair enough. But in point of
fact, I believe that this practice may have the effect of
dissuading prospective resource families from serving
children at all. That if people believe that this is a
system that is allowed to discriminate, they will have
a crises 1n confidence about working in the system.

I feel like it’s a lot like when it is revealed that the
system is not performing well. And I am somebody who
sometimes helps to make those headlines [Page 178]
by revealing or helping to reveal when the system is
not performing well. And certainly I have heard that
folks have had a crisis of confidence, should I come to
work here, should I come to be involved with this
system that seems so chaotic. I feel like we have gotten



JA 427

beyond that in the present administration of the
system for the last bunch of years. But I think that’s
the type of effect and message that it will have to
prospective foster families, same-sex families, who will
say why should I come to a system that tolerates that
form of discrimination?

Ms. Cortes: Your Honor, I'm just going to have a
moment. May I have a moment to confer with counsel?

The Court: Yes.
(Brief pause in the proceeding.)

By Ms. Cortes:

Q. Mr. Cervone, you talked about the potential impact
on the LGBTQ youth that are currently in the foster
system. Do you have an opinion or do you think this
will affect all of the children in the foster care system?
“This” meaning CSS’s practice that we heard about
today—or not today, throughout this hearing?

Mr. Rienzi: Objection.

The Court: Do you understand the [Page 179]
question?

The Witness: Well, I think there are lots of possible
effects. I'm not sure where you would go with it but I
think there are effects across the spectrum, from my
perspective. So I think I understand the question.

The Court: Okay.
Mr. Rienzi: Objection.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: So I think that the—Ilet’s just start with
the loss of homes that Jim Amato referenced, and I
think it would be sad to lose those homes, but that the
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system will survive, that the number of homes that are
at issue long-term is—you know, thankfully it’s not
1,000 homes and it’s better than—or ten homes that
might be lost were CSS elected to get out of the
business, as Jim suggested. I think the system might
get many of those resource families will migrate over
to other agencies, some will not. That is what has
happened in every other, in a sense, closure of an
agency.

Agencies close for a variety of reasons. They go out of
business, they move on and the foster parents are left
to decide do they still want to foster. And we have seen
foster parents who are with Agency A [Page 180]
migrate over to Agency B. So I expect that the system
will handle that effect. I think the effect on children
presently in care is one that I am and our office is very
concerned about. We hope that these agencies and this
Court do not cause those kids to be turned out on the
street on June 30 when the current contract expires.
That would be very upsetting.

I thought Jim was pretty clear and noble in saying
that they don’t intend to turn any of those kids out. At
some point they may feel that—they may feel
differently from a business perspective, that they can
no longer run those homes or their agency. So we all
will have to work hard to mitigate those effects. You
know, the effect of the continued placement of kids in
homes in an agency that is allowed to, in a sense, put
out this message that same-sex couples are somehow
not to be valued or inappropriate, whatever word you
want to put as to the, in essence, the valuation of them.

As I referenced earlier in the qualifications section, I
think will give kids precisely the wrong message and
it would be an upsetting one. The kids who come to a
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system for justice now need a system that feels unjust.
It feels discriminatory and that will have a bad—that
will have a terrible effect on [Page 181] all the kids in
the system who come to understand it. We find kids
are pretty smart and thoughtful and they ask
questions like that and I expect that they will have
their own crisis in confidence about this system in
care.

Ms. Cortes: Thank you.
Cross-examination
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Mr. Cervone, you said that Catholic having to stop
foster care on June 30th would be a bad thing, is that
correct?

A. Tt would.

Q. And you said the number, it’s good that it’s not
1,000, but it’s not zero either, is 1t?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And you said some will transfer but you know that
some won’t end up transferring, correct?

A. T imagine so.

Q. And for some number of kids they will end up
having to switch homes, possibly foster parents they
are with, correct?

A. Well, yeah, I think as you heard this morning from
Ms. Figueroa, it’s a dynamic business, so kids are kind
of coming and going from these homes all the time. So,
you know, if they have 130—if they have 120 kids
[Page 182] today, a year from now just in the ordinary
course of things, easily half of those kids won’t even be
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in care, right? So some of this—it’s just the natural
attrition of kids going home. The general preference of
the system 1s for kids to go home. There’s a constant
pressure. It’s in federal law, it’s in state law, it’s in
everybody’s kind of awareness of it, we are trying to
get them at home.

So you said will some be turned onto the street or will
some be perhaps—Ilisten here, will some have to go
somewhere else? I suppose so. What that number will
be, we can’t know.

Q. But to your mind, are you saying that’s not that big
a deal?

A. Big a deal for every kid every time they are
changed, except when the change is for a good reason.
You know, it’s referenced all the time in the course of
the last three days, is it bad for kids to move. Well, not
if they are in a bad home, right? We start with the
premise that kids are removed from bad homes. Was
the move from their parent, who is abusive, bad? Well,
to the kid it might be, right, because kids, they love
even their abusers, right, for all those reasons that we
know.

Q. You have no reason to think that the homes they
[Page 183] would be moved away from while they are
currently at Catholic, that those are bad homes, do
you?

A. No. As I said before, the three people that you had
up here all seem entirely noble. I can’t—I don’t think
any of us could abstractly or remotely evaluate or
value the—in a sense, the bond, the well-being, how
those kids are doing in these several 120 homes. We
have to imagine that because they are regularly
reviewed and because the courts have approved them
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they are at least decent. But I can’t tell if it would be
a major loss or a minor one for this or that kid to lose
this or that foster home.

Q. So then do you also think Commissioner Figueroa
was wrong when she closed intake over concerns about

children having to eventually transfer away from
Catholic?

A. No.

Q. Her reason was that transferring would be bad. Do
you recall that?

Ms. Cortes: Objection.
The Court: Overruled.

The Witness: You asked about closing intake, not
transfer? It’s new kids versus current kids?

By Mr. Rienzi:
[Page 184]

Q. Commissioner Figueroa’s testimony this morning,
and I believe on Tuesday, was that she closed intake
because it would not be in the best interest of the
children to be placed in homes with Catholic when
they may eventually need to be transferred out of
homes.

A. Oh, yeah, yeah. That’s right, I remember that point.
I thought it was last night that she made that point,
but whenever she made it. So what she said—what I
came away understanding of that point, if I get this
right, is until we sort out this problem, we ought not
to put, in a sense—we should not have to put more
children into the problem.
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Q. Because it is a problem if they have to transfer
away when Catholic closes, correct?

A. It certainly might be a problem. As I said, every
transfer—you know, we start from the premise in child
welfare that permanency and stability are baseline
premises, so we want a kid to remain in a good place.
You are building relationships. You want the kid to
have a sense that when he leaves in the morning to go
to school, he does not to have think about that he 1s
coming back here tonight. That’s what we mean by
permanency in the short order. So yeah, it’s bad. We
try to avoid transfers.

Q. Terrific, thank you.
[Page 185]

You said before that you thought Catholic’s policy may
have an effect of dissuading some LGBTQ parents
from entering the system at all. In other words, not
just with Catholic, but elsewhere?

A. Yes.
Q. Is that correct, is that what you said?
A. Yes.

Q. You said “may” because you don’t actually really
know, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. And you also said you think it will have a terrible
effect on kids in the system. And you don’t actually
know that either, do you?

A. Well, so I have had a bunch of conversations with
kids over the years, you know, 15, 20, maybe 30, in
which kids have talked about—I have certainly
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observed them as well, in a sense, speaking to large
groups in kind of a lecture format. We sometimes have
kids train lawyers. We think it’'s—and it works, it’s
just a really neat dynamic. And they talk about the
experience of being discriminated against in the child
welfare system. And we ask them, well, what was your
experience in the child welfare system? They say, it
was bad. I was discriminated against. So they don’t
think about it just in terms of the bad actor who [Page
186] discriminated against them, they think about
their time in care and they think about the whole
system. They think of it, in a sense, all of a piece. So
that’s really what I was referencing and I think they
will see it as bad.

Q. And in those conversations, none of them
mentioned Catholic’s view that it would not do home
studies for LGBTQ couples, correct?

A. That’s correct.

Q. I heard you to be saying that your concern about the
effect on kids is that they will know that in the system
there’s an entity or an actor who is not affirming of
their sexual orientation, is that accurate? I don’t want
to put words in your mouth. I am just trying—that’s
correct?

A. Um-hum.

Q. As long as the Catholic Church maintains its
current teachings on sexuality, won’t kids know that
just by seeing the name Catholic?

A. They might.

Q. So do you think Catholic itself needs to be out of the
foster care business entirely, based on your argument?
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A. T really have no opinion on that. I would love for
them to stay in the business. I would love for them
[Page 187] to approach same-sex marriages
differently.

Q. You disagree with the Catholic Church’s religious
teachings on that?

Ms. Cortes: Objection to the relevance.
The Court: Sustained.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, his views on the Catholic
Church’s teachings about same-sex marriage, when he
is saying he thinks Catholic has the wrong view to
remain in the foster system.

The Court: He didn’t say that. What he said was he
would hope that they would change their view and
they would welcome same-sex parents.

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. If I can just pin that down. So you would hope that
the Catholics Church would change its views on same-
sex marriage, correct?

A. T am not one to believe that the Catholic Church is
a monolith, so I am reluctant to talk about the Catholic
Church and its teachings.

Q. How about the catechism?

Ms. Cortes: Objection.

The Court: Well, now we are really going far afield.
Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, with all due respect —
[Page 188]

The Court: Let’s just go to Catholic Social Services.
By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Do you think Catholic Social Services needs to
change its beliefs on sexuality and marriage?

A. T would love for them to.

Q. And you talked about kids’ experience in homes
that you said were not LGBT affirming, is that fair?

A. Say that again.

Q. Is that part of your experience that you were telling
us about?

A. Say that again.

Q. Earlier you testified about the experience of LGBT
kids in homes that were not affirming, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Is it your view that foster parents who subscribe to
the teachings of the Catholic Church and the
catechism are unfit to be foster parents because they
would not be LGBT affirming?

Ms. Cortes: Objection.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. Do you think there are religious views that in your
mind should disqualify people from being foster
parents?

[Page 189]

Ms. Cortes: Objection.
The Court: Sustained.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You said you worried about the message it would
send to LGBT kids if Catholic Social Services were



JA 436

permitted to continue acting according to its faith.
Have you thought about the impact on Catholic foster
parents and Catholic kids of the city excluding
Catholic Social Services from foster care?

Ms. Cortes: Objection, mischaracterizes his testimony
and it’s a compound question.

The Court: Yes, break it down, please.
By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. You testified earlier about the impact that allowing
Catholic to continue would have on LGBT kids,
correct?

A. Yes.

Q. And your view is that if the city allows Catholic to
continue operating according its religious beliefs, that
would be harmful for kids, correct?

Ms. Cortes: Objection, that mischaracterizes his
testimony.

The Court: Overruled. He can explain that answer.
The Witness: Yes.

[Page 190]

By Mr. Rienzi:

Q. And you said it may—to be fair, I don’t want to put
words in your mouth. You said it may, but you didn’t
actually know, correct?

A. Right.

Q. Have you thought about the impact that it would
have on Catholic kids for the city to exclude Catholic
Social Services from foster care?

The Court: Assuming that they are not LGBTQ?
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Mr. Rienzi: Either way, actually. I don’t mean to
specify. I just mean Catholic, I don’t mean to specify.

The Witness: Well, if we are talking about Catholic
kids—I have met a lot of Catholic kids in my life, I
can’t recall one that has the problem with same-sex
marriage that the church does, so I don’t think the
effect would be negative on Catholic kids if CSS
changed its practice.

By Mr. Rienzi:
Q. How about Catholic foster parents?

A. You know, I did not hear in your witnesses and I
don’t know how other Catholic foster parents come
down on the question of same-sex marriage. They—I
was actually interested in whether your witnesses
were going [Pagel191] to go there, and I think I heard
them say that they believe in the teachings of the
Catholic Church. And I came away thinking that was
a fairly generic statement. And as a Catholic myself, 1
believe in the teachings of the Catholic Church, too,
just not all of them, so—and that’s my experience with
Catholics in general, that we are a bit selective in our
followings of the teachings of the church. So I would
expect that foster parents would be similar.

Q. But some may not be, correct?
A. I would have to imagine, sure.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, if I can just have one quick
minute, please?

The Court: Yes.
(Brief pause in the proceeding.)
By Mr. Rienzi:
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Q. Mr. Cervone, you said you have known Catholic
Social Services for a long time?

A. Yes.

Q. What is your overall opinion of Catholic Social
Services?

A. Very positive.

Ms. Cortes: Objection as to relevance.
The Court: Overruled.

By Mr. Rienzi:

[Page 192]

Q. And you said you have known Mr. Amato for a long
time?

A. Yes.

Q. And I understand you disagree with some of the—
you didn’t like some of the things he said yesterday,
correct?

A. Yes.
Q. Do you think he is an honest guy?

A. Yes.

Q. And so you don’t think he is lying when he testifies,
correct?

A. I would never call Jim Amato a liar. I have no idea
how he feels about the issues he testified to.

Mr. Rienzi: Nothing further, Your Honor.
The Court: Okay. Any other questions?
Ms. Cortes: No, Your Honor.

The Court: Thank you.
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The Witness: Thank you, judge.

Ms. Cortes: And, Your Honor, with Mr. Cervone’s
testimony, the defendants would like to mark exhibits,
all the exhibits that the defendants have marked. I
believe it’s 1 through 6, but I will defer to the court
record on that, and we would also want to make sure
that Plaintiffs’ Exhibits 13 and 15 are marked and
moved into the record along with the affidavits of Ms.
[Page 193] Kimberly Ali and Commissioner Cynthia
Figueroa.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, we would object on the
declarations of their witnesses and we would simply
say—we are fine if we want to have a rule that says
both sides’ declarations of their witnesses come in.
That was what we were proposing yesterday, on
Tuesday, to get the declarations of all witnesses in, but
I don’t see how we could possibly have rule that says
the plaintiffs’ declarations get kept out, but the
defense declarations—

The Court: Well, I believe that the Court ruled that the
witness who was not here to testify, her affidavit could
be admitted. Now, if you wish to have—I don’t believe
that there was a request for the other affidavits to be
admitted of the other witnesses who testified.

Mr. Rienzi: I apologize, I may have been unclear at
some point about that, but to the extent we are doing
this now, I would certainly move that the declarations
of our other witnesses who testified can be admitted
into the record. They are properly before the Court. It’s
Rule 65, which allows declarations.

Mr. Field: Your Honor, if I might, we had understood
their requests and the Court’s ruling yesterday to be
that the affidavits of their witnesses [Page 194] who
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did testify were also admitted in addition to Doe Foster
Mother Number 1. If that was not the case, we would
not be making the motion as to the affidavits of our
witnesses who testified.

The Court: Okay. So the witnesses will be—the
affidavits will be permitted to be admitted.

Mr. Rienzi: To make sure I am clear because [—I think
we did not have —

Mr. Field: Testifying witnesses plus Doe Foster
Mother Number 1.

Mr. Rienzi: So I think I can withdraw my objection to
the Ali and Figueroa declarations, but then the Fulton,
Paul, Simms-Busch, Amato and Doe Mother 1
declarations, I think we have agreement they are all
in, along with Ali and Figueroa.

The Court: Well, not agreement as to Doe Mother 1.
Mr. Rienzi: Doe Mother 1 you permitted.
The Court: I permitted that.

Mr. Rienzi: So then yes, I withdraw my objection to
theirs, as long as we are clear on the understanding as
to all of our declarations.

The Court: Okay.

Ms. Cortes: That would be it, Your Honor. Then we
would rest.

[Page 195]

Your Honor, just to make the record clear, and I am
assuming no objection from Mr. Rienzi, we would also
move—I think I said this, but just to be abundantly
clear, I would mark and move to admit Plaintiff’s
Exhibit 13 and 15 into evidence.
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The Court: Yes, I believe that they were admitted
previously.

Mr. Rienzi: And, Your Honor, to the extent there was
any lack of clarity, I would also move to admit all of
the exhibits that we had in, obviously with the
exception of the tweets that we had the offer of proof
on earlier this morning.

The Court: Yes. The tweets—some of them were
marked, some of them were not marked, but they are
part of the record.

Mr. Rienzi: Thank you, Your Honor.

The Court: Okay. Before we proceed to closing, is there
anything further from the plaintiff?

Mr. Rienzi: Nothing on evidence, Your Honor. One
housekeeping detail I just wanted to be clear on. I
understand our deadline for responding to the motion
to intervene to be Friday, June 29th, and I am
calculating that based on when we actually receive the
brief. If you recall, there was an earlier filing that
essentially alerted everybody—and I appreciate [Page
196] it, alerted everybody that something would be
coming. And I just want to make sure the Court is not
thinking that our deadline runs from that earlier alert.
I assume we get the two weeks from when they
actually filed the moving papers.

Ms. Roper: No objection from the potential
Intervenors.

The Court: Okay. That’s 6/29?
Mr. Rienzi: That’s what I have, Your Honor.
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The Court: Before the Court hears closing arguments,
I believe that we have a request from the—at this
point the ACLU to address the court?

Ms. Roper: Yes, Your Honor, the ACLU and the parties
that represents as amici Philadelphia Family Pride.
But essentially, yes, Your Honor, an attorney from the
ACLU would argue.

The Court: The Court is inclined to permit it, but I
guess the question is at what point. I think it would be
appropriate to let the plaintiffs proceed, then hear
from the defense, the amici, and then any response
that counsel for plaintiffs wish to make.

Ms. Roper: It certainly suits us, Your Honor. We don’t
intend to repeat things the city has already said. We
will try to respect everybody’s time.

[Page 197]

The Court: Will Counsel need a few minutes before we
proceed?

Mr. Rienzi: I would love a few minutes before we start.
The Court: Okay, then we will take a few minutes.
Mr. Rienzi: Thank you very much.

Ms. Cortes: Thank you, Your Honor.

(Brief recess.)

The Court: Are we ready to proceed?

Mr. Rienzi: I am, Your Honor. Thank you, Your Honor.
As you know, we are here on Plaintiffs’ motion for a
temporary restraining order or a preliminary
injunction. As you have heard from the witnesses, the
situation is urgent. Right now there is ongoing harm.
There are beds that are empty from parents who work
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with Catholic Social Services to whom the city is
refusing to send children, not because the city thinks
those are bad homes, because the city is freezing
intake to those houses because of a separate fight.
Right now there are actually children in congregate
care and elsewhere whose lives would be improved if
they were placed in those homes, and they are not
being placed in those homes. We know about some of
them. We know some of their names. We know Doe
[Page 198] Child 1 because we found out about Doe
Child 1. There are a lot of kids whose names we don’t
know who could be in those homes. You heard Jim
Amato testify that typically they never have more
than four or five vacancies and now they are getting
up to 26. Well, I don’t know the names of those kids,
but those are real human beings, they belong in good
foster homes, there are loving homes available, and
because of the city’s violation of the law, they are not
allowed to be there.

You heard Mrs. Paul testify about the harm to her,
about the fact that this is her gift, this is what she does
for the world. She has done it for 133 children. She
wants to continue participating, the city will not send
children her way. You heard James Amato testify
about how the June 30th deadline will impact, how
layoffs will need to start soon without new referrals,
how the foster program will need to shut down within
a matter of months.

The city says it will accept a new contract, but it will
only accept a new contract that either A, involves
Catholic agreeing to violate its religious beliefs, which
1t simply cannot do. Or B, requires Catholic to proceed
with no referrals, which 1s suicide for the foster
agency. So the situation is dire, the harm is real, there
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are actual human beings [Page 199] who are and will
continue to suffer without relief.

Fortunately, state and federal law make the city’s
actions illegal and provide a firm basis for a temporary
restraining order or a preliminary injunction. Simply
put, the government is only allowed to force somebody
to violate their religious beliefs, which i1s precisely
what the city is trying to do. Governments are only
allowed to put somebody in that position if they have
a compelling government interest and they are using
the least restrictive means to pursue that interest.
And what the testimony made clear over and over
again 1s that the Government’s case is nowhere close
to those standards.

Let me start with the Religious Freedom Protection
Act. This is the Pennsylvania statute. It is parallel to
the federal RFRA statute that the Supreme Court has
recently interpreted in several cases. What the
Pennsylvania RFRA says is that the government
cannot impose a substantial burden on someone’s
sincere religious exercise unless it has a compelling
government interest, and the government has to
demonstrate that. The government must demonstrate
a compelling government interest and that it is using
the least restrictive means.

First, sincere religious exercise. I [Page 200] think
that might be the only thing or one of the few things
that there is no dispute in the courtroom in front of
Your Honor over the last three days. I don’t there is
any doubt that Catholic is engaged in a sincere
religious exercise. There are folks who disagree with
that exercise. There are folks who think they should
have a different view of their religious principles, but
I did not hear anyone to suggest that Catholic was
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acting on anything other than its sincere religious
beliefs.

Pennsylvania law gives four ways in which a
government action can impose a substantial burden,
and here every one of them is met. One alone would
do, but all four are met. The government’s action
constrains or 1inhibits conduct or its expression
mandated by a person’s sincerely-held religious
beliefs. That’s the case here. Catholic takes care of
children because of Jesus’ injunction to take care of
children and to take care of widows and orphans, in
the Bible. It’s obviously sincere religious belief.

Their beliefs about sex and marriage are also sincere
religious beliefs. There has been no claim that it is
anything other than a sincere belief that they are
acting on. Significantly curtails a person’s ability to
express adherence to the person’s religious [Page 201]
faith. Well, by forcing Catholic to certify the
relationships of same-sex couples, the government
would be curtailing Catholic’s ability to express
adherence to their religious faith. They would be
forcing them as a requirement to help kids to publicly
violate their religious beliefs.

And to be clear, Catholic is not saying, I need to go in
and tell everybody Couple A or Couple B is a bad
couple. Catholic is not rushing to say, let me go pass
judgment. Catholic is saying, please let me stand
aside. Please let me stand aside. I don’t want to have
to sit down and write evaluations of some couple’s life
that my church disagrees with. I don’t want to write
that. And so Catholic for years has just had the
position that if somebody comes and asks me, I am just
going to step aside, right.
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They are not going to say, no, you can’t be a foster
parent. They just want to say I have got religious
beliefs that don’t match with what you want to do, and
so I am not really the right person to write this up for
you. But guess what, there are 28 others in the city
who are happy to do it. Now, that’s utterly
hypothetical, Your Honor. It’s utterly hypothetical. We
talked about speculation a lot when people were
objecting to each other’s questions. The whole [Page
202] controversy is speculative because there is no
evidence of a single actual applicant ever. No evidence
of a single actual applicant ever who has asked
Catholic to do a home study for foster care and who
Catholic has referred away. There’s not one, because
it’s a hypothetical dispute. In that hypothetical
dispute, Catholic’s religious beliefs are clear and their
religious exercise would be clear. They would say, I
can’t do it. But it’s never happened.

It’s also a substantial burden if the government denies
a person the reasonable opportunity to engage in
activities which are fundamental to the person’s
religion. Well, taking care of orphans, fundamental,
fundamental to the Catholic Church’s religion. And it’s
work they were doing in the city long before the city
was doing the work in the city. The city has imposed a
regime that says, well, now you can only do it under
contract with me, and most of the time Catholic is
totally fine to do it through contract with the city. But
ultimately this was church work long before it was city
work. And what the city is saying now is well, you got
to violate a couple of your religious beliefs if you want
to still take care of the kids. That’s what they are
saying, and on Pennsylvania law, that’s a substantial
burden on religion. [Page 203]
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The fourth way you get a substantial burden compels
conduct or expression which violates a specific tenet of
a person’s faith. Again, the same thing, right. The
government is trying to force Catholic to certify things
that it just can’t certify to. And again, Catholic is not
rushing to say, I want to go condemn, they are saying
I want to stand aside. And if you let me stand aside, I
want to go take care of those kids which I have been
doing since long before the city did.

Under Pennsylvania law, the only way the city can get
away with imposing those burdens is if it has a
compelling government interest. Here you saw the
evidence, they can’t come close to meeting that burden.
They can’t come close to meeting it. Why not? A couple
of reasons. One, there is no proof that anyone has ever
been harmed. There’s no proof a single soul has ever
asked for the service. Absent proof of at least
somebody being harmed, right. Even the expert at the
end, Mr. Cervone. To his credit, very honest man, said
at the end, I am just—I am paraphrasing, but he said
I said may, I don’t really know. He said may. He does
not really know. The city does not really know.

When Ms. Ali was on the stand and it was asked, is
that a really important interest—or I think [Page 204]
first the word was compelling and then there may have
been an objection to it. But she was asked about the
strength of that interest, what’s the strength of your
Iinterest in making sure every agency does the home
studies? Her answer was not, it’'s supremely
important. Her answer was, it’s an interest like any
other interest that we have. That was her answer, it’s
in the transcript from Monday afternoon or Tuesday.
It was not, this is a supremely important interest.
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And here is how you also know that it’s not a
supremely important interest, no witness could name
any place where it was ever written down before, right.
And this 1s a theme that runs throughout the
government’s case. Their whole contract argument
depends on foster care being a public accommodation.
Being a public accommodation, therefore the Fair
Practice Ordinance covers it. Well, they have been
running a foster care system for years. But there is no
indication anyplace that they have ever taken the
position that what they were running is a public
accommodation, no indication that they ever told the
agencies it was a public accommodation. There’s just
nothing.

If it were a public accommodation, you could not do all
the things that the state law requires [Page 205] you
to do, like look into somebody’s mental stability, look
into somebody’s existing family relationships, right.
Imagine a world where you could do those things—
well, here 1s how you know it’s not a public
accommodation. You can’t do those things before
selling somebody a cup of coffee or a ticket on the train,
right. You can’t say, well, you are not coming in here
because I think you have a mental disability. You can’t
say, you can’t come in here because I have evaluated
your existing family relationships and I don’t think
they are that great, right. You can’t do that in a real
public accommodation.

Foster care i1s not a public accommodation, never has
been. It’s a made-up theory for this case that no one
can point to any document anyplace referencing before
this case. It’s a newly minted theory for this case, but
it does not work. Because by definition foster care is
not about everybody who lines up and wants it gets it.
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It’s about looking after the interest of children. And
the law has allowed for years, for many years, different
agencies with different specialties and different
requirements. State law does not say, these are the
only requirements and you may do no more. That is
not what it says. State law says that you get to
consider these things. It says [Page 206] you also can
consider an applicant’s ability to work with the
agency. And it certainly does not say you may add no
more, right.

And the city’s own webpage, which maybe they want
to change now because they realize that 1it’s
inconsistent with their theory here. The city’s own
webpage says that different agencies can have
different requirements. The city’s webpage refers
foster—the city’s foster parent handbook refers them
to that state association. That state association says
these are minimum requirements. Everything that
predates this controversy says that agencies are
allowed to have their own requirements and that’s
fine. It’s a judgment-call type of situation, not a public
accommodation. Not everybody gets one. In real public
accommodations, you can’t consider the race of the
child or the racial wishes of a foster parent before
placing them, but they do. You can’t consider the
disability of somebody before letting them do
something, but they do. They have not done to shut
anybody down, they have not turned off intake to those
people because it’s not a public accommodation. It’s a
newly minted argument. It has no basis in the way
they have done anything.

If that were real, if it were actually a compelling
interest to enforce that, they would enforce [Page 207]
it on race and on disability, and they would have
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talked about it and applied it to themselves sometime
in the preceding years. They made it up for this case,
Your Honor, it’s not real.

The city also lacks a compelling interest because they
have no evidence that anybody has actually been
harmed. Again, they are claiming to rectify a harm.
There is no indication anybody has been harmed.
There i1s no indication that same-sex couples are
knocking on the door of the Catholic Church and
saying, hey, Catholic Church, I would like you to be
the one who comes in and evaluates my family
relationships, right. The city tells people, go look for
somebody who 1s a good fit, right, they say look for
somebody who is a good fit.

So far as we know, there have been not same-sex
couples who go to the Catholic Church and say, come
on into my house and tell me what you think of my
family relationships. That actually is not terribly
surprising, right. The Catholic Church has well-
known teachings on sexuality and marriage, and it’s
entirely likely that gay families do not look at the
Catholic Church and say, I would like you to come in
and evaluate my family life. And so people go to
agencies that are good fits for them. Religious
Catholics go to Catholic. [Page 208] there are—as
Commissioner Figueroa said, there are 28 agencies in
the city that provide home studies for LGBT couples.
Although she thinks that’s true, they actually never
checked with most of the secular agencies, but she
thinks that’s true.

There is no indication that there is a problem. There
1s no indication that a single soul has ever been denied
the ability to be a foster parent by Catholic’s religious
beliefs. And so in light of all of that, they simply don’t
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have a compelling government interest under state
law.

They certainly have not used the least restrictive
means available to pursue that interest. There are
other ways to let people become foster parents. There
are lots of agencies, right. I think it’s very telling the
testimony you heard over the LGBTQ foster parent
recruiting event in the mayor’s office of LGBT affairs.
The office of LGBT affairs is a part of city government
and it exists—it exists to serve LGBT people. And
there’s not a problem with that, there is nothing wrong
with that. Why? Because it’s not like people who are
not LGBT can’t go get government services. They can’t
get service from that office, but they can get service
from any other office and it’s fine. So the city does that
directly as the city, but [Page 209] the city is saying
that a network of contractors who are private entities,
who are not the city, some of whom are religious, they
have to serve everybody all the time, right, that’s the
claim. Catholic can only do this if it serves everybody
all the time.

And I don’t think it’s just that the city wants them to
do the home study, I assume the city wants them to do
the home study and insists—and insists that they say
that these couples relationships are good and this
would be a good place to raise children.

The Court: Now that’s speculative.

Mr. Rienzi: It is speculative, Your Honor. But I don’t
think it would do much good if what they were saying
was you have got to do the home study, but you are
free to say no. Maybe that’s their idea, but they sure
don’t have a compelling interest in that, right. If what
they are saying is you got to do the home study, but we
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don’t care what you say in the outcome and you are
allowed to say that I don’t think this is a good
relationship. They really could not possibly have a
compelling interest in that because that helps nobody.
That would really just be trying to force a religious
group to violate its beliefs with no benefit to anybody.
So I don’t think that’s what they mean, but I agree
with you, and to be clear, I don’t mean to [Page 210]
suggest there was evidence on that point.

The government has also violated the free exercise
clause. Under the free exercise clause, the government
can’t—well, the government faces strict scrutiny in
several different ways under the free exercise clause.
First, it’s rule that you must do every home study that
somebody asks you for is not a neutral and generally
applicable rule. Nobody can find any example of when
they have ever said it before this controversy. You
heard testimony from Jim Amato and from Toni
Simms-Busch about the many circumstances in which
foster agencies do send people to other agencies that
they think are better fits for them.

The claimed policy that you must do every home study
1s not neutral and it’s not generally applicable. In fact,
it has not been applied and it’s not religiously neutral
because it was invented—it was invented to deal with
the situation of two religious entities. That’s why it
was invented, that’s why no one can talk about any
reference to it any time other than 2018, because it did
not exist.

The city when it set out to examine the problem with
one exception there was added today after the fact, but
with one exception only inquired of religious groups.
They did not ask whether any of the [Page 211]
nonreligious agencies certified same-sex couples at all.
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And so there is one addition at the end of one group
called NET who happens to be friends with the
commissioner. The rest of the nonreligious groups
have never even been asked, right. So the government
only set out to ask the religious groups. And the
government has never told the nonreligious groups,
either tell me your policy on same-sex couples, right.
It would be interesting to know that. The city actually
does not even know it even today, can’t be that
compelling, right. But also, they have not asked them,
tell me whether you do a home study for everybody
who knocks on the door. They have not told them that
they must do that home study and they have not
inquired as to whether they are actually doing that
home study. This is not a neutral and generally
applicable law, this is a targeted—a targeted
investigation only asking about religious groups, not
applied to any of the nonreligious groups.

You heard also from both Jim Amato and from
Commissioner Figueroa about the direct religious
discussions that the government engaged in with
Catholic. Again, the government has no doubt that
Catholic is a religious enterprise. I don’t think they
have any real—their lawyer at one point said foster
care was a business. I don’t think from what you heard
[Page 212] from any of the witnesses, including the
city’s witnesses, that it’s plausible to say this is a
business. Catholic does it at a loss of about $3.8 million
a year.

But when talking about what Catholic should do,
Commissioner Figueroa said times have changed, it’s
not 100 years ago. You ought to listen to Pope Francis.
And there was a little bit of a tension between
Commissioner Figueroa’s testimony and Jim Amato’s.
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Mr. Amato testified that she also said you ought to
listen to Pope Francis instead of the archdiocese or
instead of the archbishop.

It’s a government official in a government building
telling a religious organization which religious leader
to listen to. That’s outrageous. That’s fairly
unprecedented. The government does not get to go to
the religious group and say, I am going to tell you
which religious leader you are going to listen to. And
if you don’t do it my way, we are going to take you out
of the foster care business. But that’s essentially what
the city is doing. They told us what set of religious
beliefs we ought to follow. The archdiocese just can’t
follow those, they disagree. They have a disagreement
about a lot of things, but the government should not
be telling people which religious [Page 213] beliefs to
follow, which religious leader to follow.

The government certainly should not have the opinion
that there are certain religious beliefs that you really
ought to let go of by now, you really ought to let go of
that one. The government has no business having an
opinion on that, and they certainly have no business
directly telling religious groups what religious beliefs
are okay and what are not okay. That is outright and
open religious discrimination from a government
official in a government office. They are not allowed to
do it.

So you have the investigation that starts with only
calling the religious, the investigation that continues,
with one exception, not checking with any of the
nonreligious either about this or any other referral
situation, and then you have the government telling
them they ought to get over their religious beliefs, they
ought to listen to a certain religious leader.
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The Court: Well, it’s not just a certain religious leader,
it’s the head of the Catholic Church.

Mr. Rienzi: Oh, it sure 1s, Your Honor. But the
government does not get to be the one who figures out
what Pope Francis means. But Archbishop Chaput has
a different view of what Pope Francis meant than the
Philly Inquirer does. I am not competent to [Page 214]
tell the answer to that either, but the government sure
is not competent to tell that, right, so “you ought to
listen to the pope” is not a neutral statement, right. I
think they have a pretty clear view of what they think
the pope means. And I don’t think the government has
got any business having a view on the subject. The
government has no competence and no authority to
have a view on that subject, certainly not to threaten
religious groups with it.

Compelled speech, Your Honor. Under—and just to
finish up on free exercise. Under any of these theories,
under the religious discrimination theory, under the
not-neutral and generally-applicable theory and under
the theory that there are individualized government
exemptions and individualized government
assessments. You get to strict scrutiny under the free
exercise clause. Any one of them will do, we have got
all of them. And under strict scrutiny again, the
government can only win if it could prove a compelling
government interest and least-restrictive means. It
can’t, it has not—from their own mouths they actually
said it 1s not that compelling, they have to lose.

There’s also a compelled speech claim. The
government wants to force Catholic to provide these
[Page 215] certifications. Catholic does not want to do
it. That 1s a clear case of compelled speech. The
government is not allowed to say to Catholic, you have
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to say the things I want you to say. But that’s what
they are trying to do. They are saying, if you want to
do foster care for these other families, you are going to
have to make these certifications and you are going to
have to express your opinions about these families and
their relationships. Catholic does not want to. Under
the First Amendment, they can’t be required to.

You heard a little bit of testimony from the city
claiming that recruitments and signing up of
families—I guess they said a couple of different things.
At times they said recruitment and signing up of
families 1s part of the contract. There is no indication
that they pay anything for that. There is no indication
that they check anything on that. Elsewhere they
seem to say it’s not DHS’s job, it’s somebody else’s job.

Certainly Catholic is not acting as the city and
certainly it is not spending money under the contract
when it just steps aside. So you might have an
argument about maybe there i1s overhead and
something else, but when Catholic just says, you know
what, I can’t do that, they are not spending the city’s
money, [Page 216] they are not operating as the city,
they are operating as themselves and they are
stepping aside. They are not taking actions under that
contract. They are choosing not to and they are
exercising a statutory and constitutional right to
choose not to do that.

The city does not deny and, in fact, has been crystal
clear that it is attempting to force Catholic to make
written certifications endorsing the relationships of
couples in same-sex marriage who apply for home
studies. That’s the only thing Catholic could do to
satisfy them here. They have to fill out those state
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criteria, and if they don’t, the city says you are out of
luck and you are out of foster care.

The city 1s right that when the city is contracting the
city gets a measure of discretion. But the city does not
get the discretion to force people to engage in
compelled speech and it does not get the discretion to
force people to violate their religious beliefs. Here,
they are doing both of them and they must lose.

The city acts like it will be big deal, and Mr. Cervone
at times acted like it would be a big deal if you
maintain the status quo. And by status quo, I mean
the status quo ante. So the status quo I am referring
to 1s the status quo before they cut off [Page 217]
referrals. So until early March is what I mean by the
status quo, because that’s what we are asking Your
Honor to put back in place, at least for a period of time
while we litigate the rest of the case.

The city acts like it would be a big deal to resume that
status quo. The reality 1s they operated under that
status quo for a long time and nobody had a problem.
There was no problem. There is not a single same-sex
foster parent applicant who has not been able to
become a foster parent, zero. And you heard Mr.
Amato’s testimony that actually single same-sex
people who apply to them get certified, right. It’s really
this narrow issue. As a religious matter, the church
can’t do the certification about the relationships.
That’s it. And the city’s solution is you are gone, you
are out of this work, and sure it’s bad if some kids get
transferred, sure it’s bad if some homes say empty,
sure it’s bad if some kids stay at places they shouldn’t
be, but we will eventually catch up and sort it out.
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But that’s not the law. The law in this country allows
for diversity. It allows for diversity. And so it allows a
world in which you have both gay foster parents and a
Catholic agency that has different beliefs about
religion and sex. And they don’t all have to agree on
everything all the time. I think one of the [Page 218§]
teachings of the Masterpiece case, which just came out
a couple of weeks ago, was precisely that we have to
find ways to actually live together in this society of
people who don’t all share the same beliefs. It’s a free
people. So in a free place we are not always going to
share the same beliefs. It can’t be the case that we get
to a point where there is one acceptable view on
marriage and then you can’t do any social work in the
city or you can’t do this social work unless you share
it.

In Masterpiece, the majority actually talked about the
situation of a church refusing to do a same-sex
wedding and they said that was the easy case, right.
They said the harder case, sellers of commercial
services, the business guy selling the cakes, even that
that guy won, but the easy case to them in their
opinion was the clergy who says, I can’t do the
wedding. Well, Catholic is precisely in that situation,
right. Catholic 1s like the clergy. They are part of the
Catholic Church and they are simply saying, look, I
can’t do things that openly and directly violate my
religious beliefs. I want to go take care of the kids in
the city as I have for decades, I can’t do this thing that
violates my religious belief. What Masterpiece said
about that is that that’s okay because people can [Page
219] accept that that is a religious exercise and
because it’s not standing in the way of people getting—
it’s not harming dignity or standing in the way of
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people getting services, because they can get services
elsewhere.

The same 1s try here. Marriages, like foster care, have
some relationship to the government, right. You need
a license from the government to get married. So it’s
not that it’s utterly unconnected to the government.
But what it is is that people can understand not every
church has to have the same views about sex and
morality. It’s kind of ridiculous to think that every
church is going to have identical views on those things,
and the government should not be in the position of
trying to crush one, trying to kick it out of the public
sphere because it has the wrong views. Teachings of
Obergefell and Masterpiece actually both point in the
direction of saying, we are allowed to have
disagreement and we have got to find ways to work
together. And here the logical way to work together is
to let Catholic keep taking care of kids, but not kick
them out of the sphere just because they have a
different set of religious beliefs. The city may wish that
they would move on from those beliefs. Mr. Cervone
may wish that they would move on from those beliefs,
but [Page 220] they are entitled to have them. State
and federal law let them have them.

With that, Your Honor, we suggest that—we very
much ask this Court to provide a temporary
restraining order or preliminary injunction and do to
so as quickly as possible. And if I could then reserve
the rest of my arguments for rebuttal afterward.
Thank you.

The Court: Okay. I will hear from the city.

Ms. Ewing: May it please the court, Catholic Social
Services asked for this hearing for the extraordinary
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relief of a temporary restraining order on the basis
that it would suffer immediate and irreparable harm
unless the city will be ordered to operate under an
expired contract or soon-expired contract or to enter
into a new full contract with CSS immediately. There
have been multiple days of testimony which have
demonstrated that there is no need for such
extraordinary relief in this case. None of the harms
that Catholic Social Services focused on, whether its
own loss of business, or its foster parents’ interest, or
its failed attempt to suggest that the city is not acting
in the best interest of children, satisfies the injunction
standard. Nor is CSS likely to succeed on the merits,
and both the city and the public interest [Page 221]
will suffer if this Court were to issue an injunction.

I am going to focus on the key evidence from this
week’s hearing and a few issues which were directly
raised by Catholic. Since this was an evidentiary
hearing and in the interest of brevity, the city relies on
our briefing for any merits arguments that I do not
discuss again today.

First, I want to talk about harm a little bit. Catholic
has presented no evidence of urgent or actual
irreparable harm that would merit an injunction. All
of their attempts to show harm have either failed or
they are irrelevant to a TRO, preliminary injunction
analysis. First, Catholic Social Services argued that
they won’t be able to provide foster care as part of its
religious mission without a contract which allows new
placements. But their own testimony about their other
foster care activities, such as congregate care, their
contracts with other counties to provide foster care,
and indeed their other contracts with the city all show
that Catholic Social Services will be able to exercise its
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charitable missions to be taking care of children, and
rebut their claim. And their harms to—that are in the
nature of business losses, such as whether they will
lose contracts so that they may have to downsize, these
types of harms are not considered irreparable in [Page
222] this circuit. And it is not critical. One of the sort
of things that we have—there has been a lot of
discussion whether they are a business, whether they
are not a business. They are a nonprofit cooperation
with employees and they engage in—and they enter
into contracts to perform services and are claiming
business harms.

Second, they tried to portray a foster care crisis,
although it is unclear how Catholic itself is harmed by
that allegation in a way that would warrant a TRO.
But even their claim there that this is some kind of
overall urgent foster care crisis was belied by the
testimony of—certainly by the DHS witnesses.
Similarly, there is no evidence of any crisis that has
resulted from DHS halting the intake to Catholic
Social Services. Their evidence is that there are some
open Catholic foster homes.

They have also tried to argue that the way that the
Department of Human Services has handled
exceptions to intake following the intake closure has
somehow harmed or threatened to harm children.
Again, the evidence that has been presented is that
DHS is looking at this issue from the prism of the best
interest of the children, that they have determined
that all current kids can remain with their families
until [Page 223] they leave the system, that if
necessary that foster families will be able to work with
other agencies as has been done in the past with many
other closures or losses of contracts for foster care. And
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the testimony from the three foster parents did not
rule this out. Not surprisingly, because you would
expect that they would want to stay if they have a bond
with the child, that that would be the determinative
factor. But the evidence is also that DH leadership has
and will allow intake exceptions for best interest
reasons. And these are reasons such as siblings
coming into care and going to the foster family that is
looking after other siblings in the family. Or if there is
a former foster parent involved where that would be a
good fit to go back. But there has been no evidence that
where—in any instance in which DHS leadership has
been asked for an exemption or it has been brought to
their attention that there is one of these cases that any
permission has been denied. It has always been
granted.

So finally, we have the testimony of Mr. Amato who
appeared to testify that DHS, you know, would
negotiate an interim transitional contact with the city
to—rather than walk away from—on June 30th with
no contract and close its foster homes. The city has
offered an interim agreement to CSS which will even
keep [Page 224] compensation rates the same as in the
current contract and will last—we have offered them
a one-year contract in order to allow the relationship
to wind down with—you know, in an orderly fashion.
That in itself removes any urgency which could
warrant any extraordinary relief from this Court.

Now, I would like to talk a little bit about the merits,
another prong of the TRO, preliminary injunction
analysis. There have been many arguments made in
this case which the city regards as either dwelling on
irrelevant points or to the extent they are irrelevant,
offering inadequate evidence to sustain them. I want
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to go through a few of those. For example, whether or
not Catholic Social Services is performing its foster
care work as a religious mission is not the point. This
1s not a case in which the city is coming in to interfere
with private charitable work. The fact that—it’s the
opposite, it’'s—Catholic Social Services has accepted a
contract from the City of Philadelphia to perform work
which the City of Philadelphia is charged with by the
commonwealth to take care of abused and neglected
children by providing them with foster care. And we
have delegated through contracts part of that
obligation, part of the providing of foster care to the 28
or 29 or 30 foster care [Page 225] agencies which have
entered into contracts with the city. You don’t have to
sign a contract. You can negotiate the contract, you
can walk away. If a provision is a deal breaker for one
side or the other, you have to walk away, one side or
the other.

So the first point is that you are not substantially
burdened if you agree to a provision in a contract. You
can’t then unilaterally change that obligation after the
contract has been in effect and say it does not apply to
me because I have this exception or for religious
reasons. That’s something that needs to be worked out
up front. These contracts are to provide public social
services. They are paid for with taxpayer dollars and
obviously you have seen, it’s an exhibit, it has many
terms. But one of the—certainly the city disagrees
with Catholic Social Services as to whether the
contract requires them to recruit and certify foster
parents. I think if you read the contract and as we
have explained in our briefs, it is part of their scope of
services. And we believe it is part of their scope of
services and part of the overall compensation
structure. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania sets
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the criteria for evaluating prospective foster families,
and none of these criteria are religious in nature.

Another provision of our contract is that [Page 226]—
and it’s clearly set forth in the contract, is that all
families must be treated equally under the—and with
no discrimination. I have heard all kinds of efforts to
minimize the references to the Fair Practices
Ordinance in the contract and I will get to that in a
second, but the nondiscrimination provisions in the
contract are put there for a reason. It is not something
that—you know, I have heard a lot of argument of well,
no one has ever tried to apply this, here is—we have
not called every one of our contractors to ask whether
they are complying with it. It’'s a provision of the
contract. We have a right to expect that when our
contractor sign a contract that they are doing what
they say they are going to do and have obliged
themselves to do unless we find out to the contrary.
And in this case, it was only when the Inquirer article
came out and in the aftermath of the Inquirer article
through inquiries, Catholic Social Services clearly
stated that it would not be able to comply with that
provision that was in the contract.

And so at that point, you know, we reached the
decision that the contract is coming to an end, and it
looks as if they are not going to be able to enter into a
new one and make the decision to sign when we both
know that this is very important and a deal [Page 227]
breaker to the city.

I want to go to the public accommodation argument
which I've heard a lot about, and I think this is mostly
another red herring and I will explain why. We don’t
have to parse the Fair Practices Ordinance and all of
its applications. Although we do take the position that
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recruiting and selecting and supporting foster parents
1s a service, and a service is included in the Fair
Practices Ordinance. And there is no exception in the
Fair Practices Ordinance for private businesses, so we
think that it does apply. But the new contracts that
will be—that have been extended to—the full
contracts to the agencies with which we are working
on full renewals, and the full contract consistently that
we would be offering to Catholic Social Services, as
there was testimony, clarify that the contract
obligation is not to discriminate against any of the
protected categories under the fair practices ordinance
for the length of the new contract. And so whether or
not, you know, just standing alone every definition of
the Fair Practices Ordinance is met, which we think it
is, but we have made it clear that in the upcoming
contract and in the contract going forward that there
can be no discrimination on the basis of sexual
orientation. [Page 228]

And I have also heard a lot about, you know, foster
care being—you know, whether foster care is a service
or not, I guess. The parts that are of concern to us are
refusals to deal and refusals to certify in a
nondiscriminatory way. These are the classic pieces of
an antidiscrimination law. And so the DHS witnesses
testified very clearly and extensively that it is the
choice of the foster parent to be—to choose the foster
service provider. They can receive information, but it
1s their ultimate choice. And the discrimination
problem comes into play when the foster care agency
refuses to deal with them. That is the same type—in
concept, the same type of discrimination of refusing to
sell somebody something, refusing to provide a service
for them, another kind of service. You are saying, you
needn’t apply here, we are not here for you. We think
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that is clearly covered by our antidiscrimination law
and policy. Again, to certify is to follow the state
certification requirements and to—which are directed
at whether or not a family is going to be able to be a
nurturing caretaker and to render a decision on that
basis.

I also heard a lot of cross examination that seem to be
attempting to establish secular exemptions. I would
just like to say that the only [Page 229] relevant
question under the exemption cases is whether DHS
recognized secular exemptions that undermine the
same purposes to the same degree as the religious
exemption that Catholic seeks. And the answer is that
the ones that Catholic tried to establish on cross dealt
with things like proximity or language or special
medical needs. Actually, as I said, Deputy
Commissioner Ali rejected all of these as being even
exemptions at all because she said it has to be the
applicants who choose. But all of those relate to
looking out for the best interest of children. None of
those reasons undermine our antidiscrimination laws
or policies. And thus cases such as Blackhawk and
Lighthouse, which we are assuming they are trying to
make an exemption argument under, don’t apply.

But the biggest failure on the merits that really needs
to be discussed is we maintain that the city—that CSS
was unable to demonstrate the substantial burden on
religious practice which they claim our contract
imposes. Jim Amato did testify that same-sex
marriage 1s against Catholic doctrine. But that
testimony does not in itself articulate a conflict
between that religious belief and the contract
obligation that we believed that Catholic was
performing not to discriminate and to evaluate all



JA 467

applicants [Page 230] equally. Because the contract
does not require Catholic or the Catholic Church to
recognize any marriage in order to certify foster
parents. So the mere fact of—that same-sex marriage
is against Catholic doctrine does not mean that CSS
can’t do its job of evaluating applicants fairly under
the state criteria. The Court does not have to blindly
accept that there is a conflict. It is entitled to examine
the contract and to see if there actually is a conflict
that would require CSS to require—to recognize same-
sex marriages. We submit you won'’t find that.

Mr. Amato also testified that certifying a same-sex
couple’s home would somehow be what he called I
believe a validation of the couple’s relationship. Again,
we maintain that the contract and the state
requirements don’t require CSS to validate or affirm
any relationship. The criteria are directed toward
assessing the applicant’s ability to nurture a child. So,
for example, if you have a couple and the relationship
1s that they are at each other’s throats constantly
during the home study, you might say this is not a
relationship that bodes well for them being a caretaker
of a child. But whether they are married or in a single
sex relationship does not have to be validated or
affirmed.

[Page 231]

And as a matter of law, I direct the Court to cases such
as the Harris Funeral Home case in the 6th Circuit
which expressly held that simply complying with an
antidiscrimination statute does not as a matter of law
require—is not the same thing as a validation or
endorsement. That case, by the way, also speaks to
another of Mr. Rienzi’s points which is whether or not
we are dealing with a compelling state interest and a
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narrowly-tailored means of addressing it. Our position
1s that we never get to that because the substantial
burden is not established. But if for any reason we ever
get to the strict scrutiny analysis, there are many
cases. The Harris Funeral Home is one. In another
context we have the Supreme Court’s decision in the
Roberts versus the Jaycees. They all recognize that
antidiscrimination statutes do further a compelling
governmental interest, an extremely important
compelling governmental interest. And I am not sure
which one of those cases uses this language. They both
agree that enforcement of an antidiscrimination
statute is the least restrictive means of furthering the
interest. One of the cases says that it’s the precise way
to further the governmental interest.

Going back to the substantial burden for a second, Mr.
Amato also stated that Catholic teaching [Page 232]
was—that what he called the lifestyle represented by
a same-sex couple was unacceptable in parenting,
presumably meaning Catholic would consider all
same-sex couples to be unfit to foster parent. But they
offered no evidence that a gay married couple could not
be excellent nurturing caretaker. That’s why nothing
like that is in the state criteria and that is what
empirical research shows is the case. The Department
of Human Services is entitled to rely upon such
research when it sets its contractual requirements for
how it wants this part of the job done, and the city is
entitled to outlaw discriminatory conduct which is
rooted in disapproval of the lifestyle of a protected
group.

So while CSS did not establish a substantial burden,
Mr. Amato’s testimony did clearly show that Catholic
was inserting purely religious criteria into the secular
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criteria established by the state. He testified that
Catholic would certify neither same-sex couples nor
unmarried heterosexual couples on religious grounds.
But then, which was—and I think you heard
testimony from the commissioner today, new to DHS
and the city on Tuesday afternoon he described yet
another religious requirement that CSS had
interposed into the certification process, that Catholic
would not certify a foster family unless the applicants
could [Page 233] produce a, quote, pastoral letter,
unquote, from a clergy member that attested that the
applicants actively participated in religious services.
This further complicates Catholic’s ability to comply
with the city’s contract in that, I think Article 15, that
same section that deals with the Fair Practices
Ordinance, there is actually an earlier sentence that
completely makes it clear that there can be no
discrimination on the basis of religion. But we now
have a new problem in addition to the problem which
brought us here which complicates the ability of
Catholic Social Services to comply with the city’s
contract. Neither the city nor its contractors can
1mpose a religious test or discriminate on the basis of
religion and deny certification solely because an
applicant can’t produce a letter attesting that he or she
1s a believer versus a nonbeliever, or it seemed from
the testimony they could be a believer but not an
active church-goer and would be unable to get that
letter. This raises new constitutional problems for the
city and for—potentially for CSS.

And lastly I heard Mr. Rienzi—he made an argument
that by—that we were compelling speech and thereby
violating first amendment speech rights of Catholic
Social Services in addition to the religious free exercise
and RFRA claims. But the key point with [Page 234]
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regard to compelled speech cases 1s that the
government can’t restrict speech that is outside of the
program that has been entered into. When the
restriction applies to the program activities
themselves, which the party has entered into
voluntarily, like a contract, that speech can be
regulated. We think it is clear here that the
certification process, the recruitment process is
squarely within the contract between the city and
Catholic, and that therefore the compelled speech line
of cases has no applicability.

Finally, I want to talk about the remaining issues with
respect to the issuance of an injunction, and all of
those militate against its issuance with regard to
public factors and the—what the effect of an injunction
would be. DHS is obligated to act in the best interest
of 6,000 or more children, 6,000 in foster care and
10,000 total for whom it has custodial responsibility.
And as the commissioner and Deputy Commissioner
Ali testified, that requires them—they have made the
decision that they need to keep intake closed unless or
until Catholic Social Services can sign a full contract,
that it cannot permit foster care agency contractors to
discriminate in ways that will depress badly-needed
diversity of foster care families and DHS’s resulting
ability to determine the [Page 235] best fit for each
child who comes into placement. As the testimony—as
I heard the testimony, I think the commissioner
testified children are not widgets. You don’t just one
comes in and you say, oh, there’s an open home, they
go in. They have particular needs and there is a
particular need within the city and in DHS to have as
many different kinds of foster care families and to
make them feel welcome so that the best fit for the
children can be made.
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DHS cannot permit its contractor agencies to send
messages that would harm potential applicants who
fear being stigmatized and humiliated, and these are
people who have been subject often to some
stigmatization and humiliation. They may well be
deterred and not want to go through that again.

Also there is a potential that it could harm—the
message would be that, you know, some applicants
need not apply. And the city should be able to enforce
its well-established antidiscrimination laws and
policies. The City of Philadelphia and the Fair
Practices Ordinance and associated policies have been
1n effect for decades. This is not something new.

So for this Court to order anything beyond what DHS
1s already doing, which is making placements with
Catholic when case-specific factors such [Page 236] as
sibling placements are in the best interest of those
children, would act to wundermine DHS’s
determinations and to harm the city’s decades-long
efforts to battle discrimination. This would
irreparably harm the city and is not in the public
interest. In addition, an injunction here would not
restore the status quo. The current contract, which
apparently Catholic Social Services wants to extend
over the expiration date, does actually not require us
to provide any intake or specific numbers of children
to any agency, to CSS. CSS is actually asking or
seeking to force the city to enter into—to either extend
a contract with terms that are not in there or to enter
into a new contract on terms which the city has
rejected as to any other contractor agency.

And finally, an injunction would put the city in the
position of knowingly providing foster care services
with religious criteria, including Catholic Social
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Services’ admitted now use of pastoral letters which
raise additional constitutional issues, so that even if
the claims which underlie their motion for preliminary
injunction and TRO would be ruled upon by this Court,
there are new issues which would cause us to be
unable to contract with them.

Give me a second, Your Honor. [Page 237]

Just one more—I noted during Mr. Rienzi’s argument
that he seemed to be arguing that there was no
problem if there were no complaints. The contract
obligation not to discriminate, Catholic Social Services
has told us it cannot comply with that. Discrimination
1s not okay based on the number or lack of number of
complaints.

But for all these reasons, because Catholic Social
Services has not been able to meet any of the prongs of
the injunction standard, the city respectfully requests
that its motion be denied. But I have one last request,
which is that because the city just became aware of
that pastoral letter requirement on Tuesday, it had
not been part of our prior briefing. If the Court feels it
would be helpful as to the additional problems which
we believe this requirement raises, we have prepared
a very short letter brief which we would be happy to
hand to the Court, if the Court desires.

The Court: Okay. You can hand it up.
Ms. Ewing: Thank you. Thank you, Your Honor.
The Court: Thank you.

Mr. Rienzi: Your Honor, is it me or is it the ACLU
next?

The Court: The ACLU is next.
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Mr. Rienzi: That’s what I thought.
Ms. Cooper: Good afternoon, Your Honor.
The Court: Good afternoon.

Ms. Cooper: And thank you for the opportunity to be
heard.

Plaintiffs are asking the Court to issue an
extraordinary ruling of law. They are asking the Court
to hold that an organization that enters into a contract
with the government to provide a government service
has a right to then alter that provision of—the
provision of that public service to conform to its
religious beliefs. Like many public child welfare
systems around the country, the city has chosen to
maximize children’s family placement options by
barring discrimination based on race, religion, sexual
orientation and other characteristics that have no
bearing on one’s ability to care for a child.

CSS’ religious beliefs do not entitle it to accept the city
contracts and taxpayer dollars to perform some child
welfare services on behalf of the city and then
commandeer the system to impose its own standards.
The potential consequences of such a ruling are pretty
staggering. Just think, what if there were an agency
that held a religious belief that children must be
subjected to corporal punishment that violates [Page
239] state child abuse laws. There are plenty of
religious faiths with beliefs about that. What if there
were a religious agency that had a religious objection
to providing medical treatment to children who are
mjured or sick. The implications of the legal ruling
that Plaintiffs are asking for cannot be confined to
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religious-based objections to same-sex couples,
because under the Establishment Clause, the
government and the courts cannot give preference to
some religious beliefs other others. You can’t say, this
religious belief we will defer to and approve, this
religious belief we are not going to give you the same
treatment.

The fact that Plaintiffs are asking the Court to order
the city to allow this kind of free rein by religiously-
affiliated contract agencies demonstrates a profound
misunderstanding of the right to free exercise of
religion. The right to free exercise protects against
government interference with religious institutions;
pursuit of their own interests. The Supreme Court
said that very clearly in the Kiryas Joel case. The right
to free exercise does not establish a right to have the
government create opportunities for you to exercise
your religion and then fund those opportunities.
Indeed, funding religious activities directly violates
the Establishment Clause, as I will [Page 240] discuss
in a few moments.

In the briefing, the plaintiffs rely on, I believe, Trinity
Lutheran, and that’s a case that 1s often
mischaracterized in this kind of discourse around
these 1issues. This case does not support the
extraordinary claim Plaintiffs make here. It
establishes for sure that the government could not
disqualify religious organizations from a public benefit
because of their religious identity. But even if a
government contract to perform a government service
could be considered a public benefit, which of course it
1s not, as some cases in our brief make clear, but even
assuming it were, the city has not denied CSS a
contract or referrals of children because it is Catholic
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or even because it holds religious beliefs. The city
suspended referrals because of CSS’ refusal to comply
with 1its nondiscrimination requirement. 7Trinity
Lutheran in no way suggests that a contract agency’s
religious beliefs give it the right to dictate how it
provides government-contracted services.

But also I want to address very briefly the speech
claim, and I just have a very small amount to add to
what the city had to say about that. But the Agency for
International Development case 1s very clear in
distinguishing between speech that is part of the [Page
241] scope of the contract, and when the government
leverages a contract to try to prohibit speech that an
entity engages in outside the scope of the contract.
Just because—I think if Philadelphia were to tell
Catholic Social Services that it could not engage in
speech 1in other domains, that would be a
constitutional problem and we would be standing with
them on that for sure. But the speech they are talking
about, providing home studies and certifications of
foster parents, that is precisely what the contract is
about.

Now, I don’t think we heard from the plaintiffs about
really the other major problem with their theory,
which is the Establishment Clause. The First
Amendment does have two parts, and the other—or at
least about religion, and the other part is the
establishment clause. And so not only does the city
have no legal obligation to permit its contract agencies
to impose religious eligibility criteria on prospective
foster parents, if it did so, the city itself would be
violating  the  Establishment  Clause. The
Establishment Clause prohibits the use of religious
eligibility criteria in the provision of government
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services, whether that service 1is provided by
government employees themselves, DHS employees,
or organizations contracted by the government to
perform that government function. [Page 242] The
Philadelphia Department of Human Services could
certainly not screen out prospective foster families
based on failure to meet a religious test. It could not
say only Christians or only Jews, cannot say no same-
sex couples because of our religious objection.
Therefore, the agency that hires and pays with
taxpayer dollars to perform this very service that is a
government function cannot do so either.

And the Supreme Court made crystal clear in the
Larkin case and the Kiryas Joel that the
Establishment Clause prohibits the government from
delegating a government function to a private entity
and then allowing that government function to be
performed using religious criteria.

In addition, there is the funding issue I touched on
earlier. The Supreme Court has made absolutely clear
in case after case that the Establishment Clause bars
the government funding of religious activity. Here,
allowing the use of religious criteria in the screening
of prospective foster parents, which is a government
function, again under contract with the state to
perform this government function, that is religious
activity. And I would just point to the Bowen uv.
Kendrick case where the Supreme Court recognized
that allowing religious-based discrimination [Page
243] by a government-funded service provider would
be one form of impermissibly advancing religion.

There is a third reason why allowing contract agencies
to use religious criteria in the foster licensing process
would violate the Establishment Clause, and that
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there 1s a line of Supreme Court cases that says that
when the government preferences religion to the
detriment of others, to the detriment of third parties,
that’s a violation of the Establishment Clause, and I
would point the Court to the Estate of Thornton as a
seminal case on that point. Here, accepting Plaintiff’s
position would cause significant harm to the children
in the child welfare system by depriving them of good
families and cause harm to the would-be families who
seek to care for them.

Plaintiffs will likely say this is a question of religious
accommodation, if they come back up again. And, you
know, there are lots of accommodation cases in the
Supreme Court and other courts. But this is not
religious accommodation. The cases like Amis and
Hosanna Tabor, those cases involve accommodating
religious organizations to get exemptions from
generally-applicable laws that apply to everybody in
their own private activities.

This is not about accommodation. This is [Page 244]
about a case—this is a case in which they are asking
for the government to delegate this government
function to this organization, and for the government
to then allow them to provide those government
services using religious criteria, and that is absolutely
what the Establishment Clause prohibits.

Turning back to the harms that would result, those
also go to the balance of equities, of course, and a
further reason why the requested TRO and PI should
be denied. And in fact, it i1s these very harms that
caused proposed intervenors of making to—to seek to
participate in this case. Allowing discrimination by
agencies that have religious objections to same-sex
couples would harm the at-risk children that the foster
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care system is meant to protect as well as the families
who would care for them, and these harms are very
much intertwined. Starting with the families, just to
sort of unpack it a little bit.

The families can be harmed in a variety of ways.
Starting with those who maybe go to—would go to
Catholic Social Services or any like-minded agencies if
the court were to rule in their favor. Those people
could be subject to discrimination, and the Supreme
Court in Heart of Atlanta and other cases has
recognized the degradation and the humiliation and
[Page 245] embarrassment that can come with
discrimination. This is a serious harm that the
Supreme Court has recognized. And that degradation,
the degradation of that kind of experience is not
lessened by the fact that the discrimination is done
politely or that it is called a, quote, referral. “We will
not serve your kind” is a degrading humiliating
experience that the city clearly has a compelling
Interest in wanting to prevent.

In addition, all prospective foster parents headed by a
same-sex couple would face the uncertainty about
whether they would face discrimination in the process,
making it more difficult, stressful. If the Court were to
accept Plaintiffs’ position and the LGBT community
were to learn that in Philadelphia, pursuing foster
parenting comes with the risk of exposure to lawful
discrimination against them. And a rule of law would
say, agencies are lawfully entitled to discriminate
against LGBT or people of same-sex couples, it is hard
to fathom how many people could be deterred from
subjecting themselves to that process, knowing that it
1s perfectly legal to discriminate against them in the
process.
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Finally on this topic, even if there were clarity about
which agencies discriminate and some couples were
well-enough informed to avoid the agencies [Page 246]
that would not accept them, that means that same-sex
couple families or prospective families headed by
same-sex couples get a reduced choice of agency
options. The plaintiffs talk a lot about 28 agencies
available, what 1s the big deal. There are 28 other
agencies available. Imagine a scheme in which you
had a system where say Christians get the choice of 30
agencies and everybody else gets 28, or white people
get 30 agencies, African Americans have to settle for
fewer options. That is a stigmatizing system for the
city to impose on its population.

Also, put aside the stigma, the reduced options would
mean that some families would not be able to work
with the agency among the existing agencies that
might be most appropriate for them. The plaintiffs
emphasized that—particularly the individual
plaintiffs, that the services of CSS are so outstanding
that they are not sure that they would continue
fostering if they could not work with CSS, even if that
meant ceasing to care for the children they obviously
love. Yet Plaintiffs’ position is that same-sex couples
should not be able to benefit from those services and
instead should have to accept agencies that are
completely unacceptable to individual Plaintiffs.

In addition, we heard testimony about how [Page 247]
different agencies have different expertise in terms of
the children that they care for. So if it happened to be
a faith-based agency objecting to same-sex couples
or—let’s put in any other substitute group, because of
course a ruling here would reply to any religious-based
objection to any group, so an agency that had a
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religious-based objection to interracial couples or to X,
Y, Z groups, same-sex couples. If that agency
happened to be one of the agencies that specializes in
medically needy children, I forget the particular
terminology, that would mean that a family in that
group, the interracial couple or the same-sex couple
who wanted to care for a medically needy child,
perhaps they are doctors or nurses, would not have the
option of working with that agency. So there was a lot
of talk of the children not being widgets and fungible,
which 1s absolutely—I agree with that. Also the
agencies are not necessarily fungible. So giving a
menu of options for heterosexual couples and a
reduced set of options for same-sex couples is harmful,
again for the stigma reason and for the practical
reason.

Turning to the interest of the children, turning away
qualified foster parents based on religious criteria
conflicts with the professional and accepted child
welfare practice standards that exist to protect [Page
248] children. And I would refer the Court to the Child
Welfare League of America standards of excellence
and adoption, I believe foster care practice as well.
Because each child’s needs are unique, meeting the
best interest of a particular child means having as
large and as diverse a pool of qualified licensed
families as possible to optimize that fit that we have
heard some discussion about between child and
family. Especially given the current need for more
qualified families for older youth and LGBT youth and
perhaps other groups, it is contrary to the interest of
Philadelphia foster children for the city’s contracting
agencies to refuse to accept qualified parents for
reasons that are unrelated on the best interest of the
children. And to refuse to place children with a class
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of families that may just include that family that is
best situated or perhaps the only family that is
available, ready, willing and able to meet the needs of
a particular child. If same-sex couples are turned away
by CSS and any other like-minded agencies, or
deterred from pursuing fostering altogether because
they know that agencies are permitted to discriminate
against them and they perhaps don’t want to take that
risk, children lose out on good families.

It 1s also important to recognize that — [Page 249] and
I touched on this earlier, that if CSS 1is entitled to
refuse to accept same-sex couples because of its
religious beliefs about marriage, then all faith-based
agencies will be able to turn away prospective families
who fail to conform to any of their religious beliefs.
Again, the Establishment Clause prohibits
preferencing some religious beliefs over others. So
some denominations don’t view marriages between
people of different faiths as a valid union. Some don’t
recognize second marriages after divorce. A religious-
affiliated agency might object to foster parents who
work on the Sabbath as defined by the agency, or who
eat pork or who allow their children to attend public
schools. And again, as we learned in the hearings this
week, that CSS itself has other religious-based
objections. No unmarried couples of any sexual
orientation and no one who is not a church-goer able
to secure a clergy letter. Requiring the city to allow
each foster care agency to implement its own religious
criteria for foster families could result in a patchwork
of such exclusions, creating even more barriers to
finding families for children who need them. So the
children’s interest in getting more families weighs
decidedly against granting the requested relief.
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But in addition, again as I touched on [Page 250]
earlier, it’s not agency certified. The risk of a ruling for
the plaintiffs not only compromises the city’s ability to
maximize family options for children, it also opens the
door to giving agencies carte blanche to impose on
children who are wards of the government a denial of
services, medical services, no school. Whatever their
religious belief might mean. Again corporal
punishment that—based on a biblical view that may
violate state child abuse laws, it would open up the
door to allowing an unlimited number of potential
harms to children.

I want to touch very briefly on what is felt to be
perhaps a suggestion by Plaintiffs’ counsel that the
city’s knowledge that CSS has religious beliefs about
marriage means that—or this is how I understood it,
anyway—means that the city was aware all along that
CSS put those religious beliefs above the professional
established child welfare standards of accepting all
qualified families to give children the best array of
placement options. There i1s no basis for this
assumption. There are numerous faith-based agencies
that hold religious beliefs about marriage and hold lots
of religious beliefs that may be relevant. But they
know that they put the child welfare professional
standards and the interest of children [Page 251] first.
Indeed, as we heard in this case, Bethany Christian
Services, which apparently has similar religious
beliefs about marriage as CSS, apparently is willing to
comply with the terms of the nondiscrimination
requirement.

I do want to say just a few words about Plaintiffs’
reliance on the Masterpiece Cakeshop case. To support
it, they argue that that supports its contention that
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the city’s enforcement of its nondiscrimination
requirement was based on hostility towards CSS’
religious beliefs. None of the evidence the plaintiffs
claim support this accusation creates any inference
that the city’s enforcement was based on antireligious
animus as opposed to a desire to ensure that all
prospective families are welcomed. They distort the
Masterpiece ruling beyond recognition. Just to give
some examples, there 1s simply nothing hostile to
religion about the statement that quote, we cannot use
taxpayer dollars to fund organizations that
discriminate against people because of their sexual
orientation or same-sex marriage status, it’s not right.
That was an example of a statement that they deemed
hostile to religion. If mere disagreement with
permitting government funding of discrimination
constitutes impermissible hostility towards religion,
[Page 252] that would preclude any enforcement of
nondiscrimination requirements against government
contractors who refuse to comply based on religious
objections. Masterpiece did not say this.

Nor does the city’s statement that quote, we would not
allow such discrimination against, for example,
Catholic couples or mixed race couples and we cannot
allow i1t with respect to same-sex couples either
constitute hostility towards religion. Masterpiece does
not mean that referencing other forms of
discrimination in the context of a discussion about
religiously-motivated sexual orientation
discrimination impermissibly shows hostility towards
religion. Indeed, the Masterpiece case itself, in that
case itself the Court cited Piggie Park, one of the most
famous race discrimination cases in the country, for
the proposition that religious objections generally,
quote, do not allow business owners and other actors
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in the economy and in society to deny protected
persons equal access to goods and services under a
neutral and generally-applicable public
accommodation clause. So uttering race
discrimination in the same breath as sexual
orientation discrimination or other forms of
discrimination does not amount to hostility towards
religion.

Interestingly, though, Plaintiffs’ [Page 253] protest of
this statement from the city as, quote, comparing CSS
religious beliefs to racist discrimination, close quote,
seems to be an acknowledgment, as I read it, that it
would be 1improper to allow religiously-affiliated
agencies to exclude prospective families based on a
religious objection to say interracial couples. Yet they
seem to be suggesting that their religious beliefs about
who should be foster parents deserves the city’s
approval and deference. But, of course, again, the
Establishment Clause does not allow that picking and
choosing.

And the comments from the mayor from several years
ago, you know, that that somehow you can dot that—
connect the dots to say that that demonstrates the
city’s decision in 2018 to enforce this contract
demonstrates  hostility towards CSS’s faith.
Masterpiece does not support that giant leap. In that
case they were talking about the adjudicative
statement from a member of the adjudicative body
that was charged with hearing a discrimination
complaint. The Court in no way suggested that had
Colorado officials ever expressed disagreement with
the leadership of the business owner’s faith
community that enforcement of state laws against the
business owner or any organizations affiliated with his
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faith would be forever [Page 254] assumed to be based
on hostility toward faith.

I just have a bit more, if the Court will indulge. I feel
compelled to discuss the plaintiffss use of the
“referrals” terminology. They seem to be attempting to
shoehorn this case into Lukumi to claim selective
enforcement by citing the fact that agencies may refer
families to other agencies that have special expertise.
These are not exemptions from the city’s
nondiscrimination requirement. They are comparing
apples to oranges. Using the nomenclature “referral”
does not make the refusal to accept same-sex couples
any less discriminatory. They are using smoke and
mirrors with this referral language to make
discrimination appear benevolent towards the families
discriminated against under their policy.

CSS is not simply advising prospective parents that
other agencies may be a better fit for them or may, you
know, give them a choice of other agencies. They are
refusing service to same-sex couples, period. I think if
an agency had a policy of refusing to accept interracial
couples or non-Christians, I think even Plaintiffs
would agree that this is discrimination even if the
agency referred those families to other agencies
politely and refused to serve them.

One last thing that was just mentioned in [Page 255]
the cross examination. Plaintiffs seem to be implying
that the city’s refusal to allow the use of the religious
eligibility criteria in its public child welfare system to
exclude same-sex couples violates federal law. That
was sort of how I was interpreting the line of cross.
And I just want to make clear that there is no federal
law or regulation that requires states to permit faith-
based agencies to dictate the terms of government
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services provided. Indeed, the federal statute that
requires equal treatment of faith-based service
providers that participate in providing services and
government programs. Specifically, I am going to read
the language from that because it makes quite clear
that it does not allow this or require it. It says here—
and this 1s 42 USC 290kk-1. Religious organizations
are eligible to be program participants on the same
basis as any other nonprofit private organization as
long as the programs are implemented consistent with
the Establishment Clause and the Free Exercise
Clause of the First Amendment to the United States
Constitution.

And this is—I want to call the Court’s attention to the
next line. Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to
restrict the ability of the federal government or a state
or local government in [Page 256] receiving funds
under such programs to apply to religious
organizations. The same eligibility conditions in
designated programs that are applied to any other
nonprofit private organization. In other words, when
religious organizations enter into government
contracts, the government is not required to tailor
their contract or their services to meet the religious
needs of the agency.

Again, I just want to—actually, you know what, I am
going to stop there because I have been speaking long
enough and just see if the court has any questions for
me.

The Court: I have no questions.
Ms. Cooper: Thank you.
The Court: Thank you.
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Mr. Rienzi: Let me start where the parties and the
amicus agree, kids are not widgets. That’s great, we
agree. Kids should be placed in homes that serve their
best interest. Everybody agrees. I think everybody
actually said a version of this one, as many different
kinds of foster families as possible is good for kids. We
agree. The question is, are you going to get there if you
have a government-imposed litmus test that says
people—organizations with certain religious beliefs
can’t participate in the [Page 257] system, right. So the
alternative—I thought it was fascinating, the ACLU is
talking about well, Catholic seems like a good agency.
We ought to make that available for everybody.

That’s not something that is on the table in the case.
What is on the table in the case is, are they going to
get shut down or not, right? So the ACLU’s requested
relief is not expand Catholic, that’s not something the
government can do. It is shut down Catholic because
Catholic should not be available to anybody, right. So
I thought Commissioner Figueroa actually said it best,
whether Catholic wins the case or doesn’t win the case,
there’s 28 agencies available in this city who will
certify same-sex families.

Counsel for the ACLU talked a lot about
establishment clause concerns, about what happens
when the government delegates its functions to a
religious entity. Here is why that argument misses the
mark in this case. Certifications of families for foster
care are not the city’s function to delegate. It’s just not
the city’s function. Commissioner Figueroa said that,
their documents say that. Their documents also make
clear that in no way is Catholic the agent of the city.
Those are the terms of the contract. So it’s not the
city’s function to delegate. [Page 258]
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And they can’t be violating the Establishment Clause
simply by allowing Catholic to do what Catholic has
done long before the city was involved in this line of
work, which is Catholic brings in families that
Catholic brings to the table and thinks are good to
bring to the table. If we want a world where we have
as many foster families as possible, another thing I
think everybody has said today, want as many foster
families as possible, well, different groups can reach
different communities better. And saying that we are
going to shut the door and we are going to say Catholic
can’t do it because Catholic doesn’t say they are in
favor of each and every family makes no sense. It’s
contrary to the interest that city says it is pursuing.

There was a reference to the Alliance for an Open
Society case, AOC v. Aid, which talked about how the
government is not permitted to require speech outside
of what it’s contracting for. When it’s paying for
something, the government is allowed to say, hey, I
paid you for that, say it my way. When it’s not paying
for something, they don’t get to use the fact that they
are paying you over here to make you engage in speech
over there.

That’s precisely what is going on here. [Page 259] they
don’t pay anybody a penny for home studies. And they
certainly don’t pay anybody a penny who steps aside
from home studies. You don’t draw a check from the
government when you say, actually I can’t do that one.
So they don’t pay a penny, it’s outside of what they are
paying for. AOC actually quite clearly dictates that the
plaintiffs have a valid compelled speech claim.

There were arguments about third party harms and
how the claim based on the Thornton case that where
there are third party harms the religious party has to
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lose because the Establishment Clause says so. Here
1s the easy way to know that that’s not right. Hosanna
Tabor v. EEOC, a nine-nothing decision from the
Supreme Court on both free exercise and
establishment clause grounds saying that the
government could not apply an otherwise valid
nondiscrimination law, discrimination against the
disabled. The government could not apply that
otherwise valid nondiscrimination law against a
church, a church school. Hobby Lobby also rejects the
argument that any burden on third parties creates an
establishment clause problem.

And if we needed anything fresher, we could just go
back to Masterpiece from five minutes ago, right, or
two weeks ago. Here is the Supreme Court, the seven
justices in the majority, and this is not when [Page
260] they are talking about—mnot when they are
talking about the commission, they are just talking
generally. When it comes to weddings, it can be
assumed that a member of the clergy who objects to
gay marriage on moral and religious grounds could not
be compelled to perform the ceremony without denial
of his or her right to the free exercise of religion. That
was the easy case according to seven justices earlier
this month. It’s just like this case. Marriage is both a
religious event and also a civil contract. You have to
get a government license to get married. The
government regulates marriage. In some ways it’s a
government function.

If the arguments from the ACLU and the city were
correct, then the Supreme Court has to be wrong,
because then you can’t have the government allowing
religious groups to have their different religious
beliefs on something like sex and marriage while still
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doing stuff that somehow involves the government.
Yet the Court said it was easy because it i1s easy.
Because our laws do not give the government the
ability to dictate the one and only correct answer to
complicated questions like sex and marriage. It’s a free
country, people have lots of different beliefs. The
Supreme Court repeatedly—they said it in [Page 261]
Obergefell, they said it again in Masterpiece, has made
clear that we need to be able to live together with a
diversity of different beliefs and that the government
can’t be in the position of punishing the quote unquote
wrong set of beliefs.

There was a lot of talk about the harm that would
occur, the stigma, I think was mentioned a few times,
the harm and the stigma that would occur if the
government were to allow Catholic to continue
operating according to its religious beliefs. First,
again, that’s not a winning constitutional argument,
says Masterpiece, right. If that were a winning
constitutional argument, seven justices could not say
that the church can say they won’t do gay weddings,
because then the government would be allowing a
stigma in a government function. That’s not what the
law 1s. It’s not what the law is.

But we heard a lot from the city over the past few days
about all of the exceptions they have granted, all the
kids who they have gone ahead and placed in families
through Catholic. And I would ask, if they have such a
compelling interest, if it’s such a compelling important
interest to not work with Catholic, well then, why are
they making all of these exceptions? And if the
exceptions are so harmful, if it’s so [Page 262] terrible
for people to live in a world where we don’t all agree
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about religion and sex and marriage, then how come
people have not suffered from those exceptions?

Answer, they have not suffered. They are actually not
harmful. People disagree. I strongly suspect that a lot
of these couples have deep disagreements with the
Catholic Church. And in America, that’'s okay. It’s
okay for the Catholics to say I disagree with the same-
sex couple over there and I think—you know, my
religion says you should do it differently. It’s okay for
a lot of other people, including Commissioner
Figueroa, to have deeply-held beliefs that the Catholic
Church i1s dead wrong. In a free country that’s fine.
And in a free country that should not be disqualifying
for either group and for either side to participate in the
public spirit, particularly to do something that
Catholic is proven to do very well, which is help kids.

You heard argument again about the harms that
would occur, and I would just remind the Court again,
there 1s no evidence that anyone has even asked for
the service. There is no evidence that anybody has—
under the Supreme Court’s case Brown uv.
Entertainment Merchants Association, the
government is not allowed to rely on ambiguous proof
to carry its compelling interest [Page 263] burden. It
actually needs to have real proof of actual harm.

And I was disappointed before when we suddenly had
a surprise expert witness, but the surprise expert
witness ended up, to his credit, quite truthfully saying,
I don’t know, it might be harmful. I think it’s harmful,
but I don’t really know. And under the law, the
government loses at that point. Under the law, they
have not carried their burden when the answer is, |
don’t know, I think so but I can’t prove it. That means
government loses.
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There was some discussion about the contract and the
public accommodations language in the contract. I
would point out again, the government simply
declined to brief the question of whether this is a
public accommodation. They seem to keep assuming it
1s a public accommodation in part because the words
“public accommodation” appear in the contract. I
would simply point out that that paragraph makes
clear that it’s about a lot of different things. It talks
about residential and real property. There’s another
paragraph later in section 15 that talks about not
giving the government goods that come from Northern
Ireland. That’s not because there is goods going on in
this contract. There is no goods going on in this [Page
264] contract. That’s because this boilerplate that
appears in a million city contracts, that’s why it’s this
thick, it does not prove that it's a public
accommodation. And again, I would just say the city’s
own actions and the way foster care is done prove
conclusively that is not a public accommodation, it was
never intended to be one. They just needed to come up
with an argument.

The city spoke about contract renewal and said, well,
this is just a matter of not renewing a contract. I would
simply point out the government does not get to stop
being the government because there is a contract
involved. The law is actually quite clear that people
contracting with the government still have their first
amendment rights. They have the same first
amendment rights that at-will employees of the
government have. That’s clear 3rd Circuit law. So the
government does not just get to say, well, it’'s a
contract, I don’t have to worry about respecting your
religion or I don’t have to worry about not forcing you
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to speak because it’s a contract. Because it’s a contract
1s not a first amendment defense.

The city, actually, as I understood it, was also arguing
that maybe Catholic is wrong about its religious
requirements. Maybe they are wrong when they think
that God does not want them to fill out the [Page 265]
paperwork and certify these couples. And I would
simply say it is not for the government, nor
respectfully for the Court, to decide what Catholic’s
religious exercise is. That is their sincere religious
exercise. There is no serious challenge to it in the
evidence. That’s their religious exercise. Maybe the
city thinks they are wrong, but the bottom line is their
sincere religious exercise is, I can’t sign the form, I
can’t do that thing. It is not for the city to come back
and try to redefine it and say, we think you are wrong.
That is just as inappropriate as the Pope Francis
discussion at DHS. That’s for the religious people to
decide, it’s not for the government to decide.

Let me end on the balance of harms issue that has
been discussed. It’s now really clear because now
when—I mean we have actually heard from the
Iintervenor on the witness stand, we have heard from
intervenor’s counsel, we've heard from the city, they
can’t find anybody who was harmed by the old system,
zero, they can’t find a soul. That old system so far as
we are aware and so far as the evidence shows, hurt
no one, not a single gay couple that couldn’t go be a
foster parent if they wanted to. Not a single gay couple
actually turned away by Catholic. There is just no
evidence of a soul who was harmed. And so as [Page
266] Commissioner Figueroa said, you have got the
same number of agencies available either way.
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So you have got this hypothetical claim that somebody
might be injured, although we don’t know who and we
have got no proof of it. But that’s the government’s
argument against the status quo. But in order to
vindicate that alleged interest, they are willing to do
real harm to real actual people, both the agency and
the parents and the kids. They acknowledge we have
some open Catholic homes. Well, that’s not just words,
right. Some open Catholic homes is beds and families
where foster kids should be sleeping right now. And
the government is not letting them sleep there.

You heard from Commissioner Figueroa that just like
they did in March, they have still have got 700 plus
kids in congregate care, and as she told that reporter,
about 250 of them could be living in families. That
number has not moved an inch in the past three
months. Do you think there is any serious world in
which the opening up of those 26 beds at Catholic
homes doesn’t move some real live kids to get into
foster homes? Of course it does.

The government talked about their exceptions policy.
And we heard some testimony. No one has closed on it
and I will not either, other than to [Page 267] make
this observation. We heard some testimony about Doe
Child Number 1, and if one thing is clear, I am sure,
Your Honor, is that it was a complicated mess. There’s
a complicated mess over that child. But that’s
Iinstructive, because that shows that when you are in
a world where you can’t just proceed normally and you
have to go get special exceptions from the top of the
top, right, from the top levels of city government, I
believe was the phrase. You have to go get exceptions
at the top. And when you don’t have a written policy
and you have not told everybody at the bottom, it’s
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ridiculous to assume that you are finding out about all
the kids who need to be placed in all the right places.
There 1s just no reason to assume that.

So the current situation that is going on right now
with the illegal freeze of intakes hurts real people, real
kids, real foster parents, real agencies. And that’s
harm that should be stopped. And the idea that out of
our desire to make sure that everyone gets to use the
agency they want, we are going to go to people who
have deliberately chosen Catholic, who love Catholic,
who have been with Catholic decades, and we are
going to say, sorry, you can’t have Catholic any more.
And we are going to take that away from real actual
people in order to vindicate the hypothetical [Page
268] situation that has not actually arisen yet that
somebody might show up to Catholic and ask for the
Catholic Church to come in and evaluate their family
life in this circumstance simply does not make any
sense. And I would end by pointing the Court to two
cases 1n our brief, Marks v. Jackson and Reilly v. City
of Harrisburg. What they both say i1s that the
irreparable harm and balance of harm showings,
that’s a sliding scales, I am sure Your Honor is aware
from the preliminary injunction factor analysis, but
that a strong showing on irreparable harm and
balance of harms can even lessen what a party needs
to do on success on the merits. For the reasons we have
said, we think actually success on the merits is quite
clear. We think what the government is doing violates
state and federal law, federal law, both first
amendment and related to their funding. So we think
the merits are actually quite straightforward, but if
you have any doubt, the harm alone should be able to
carry the day for the injunction. So with that, we
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would ask Your Honor to enter the injunction. Thank
you.

The Court: Okay, thank you. The Court holds the
matter under advisement. However, I would request
of the parties that they file findings of facts and
conclusions of law by the 28th of June. And the [Page
269] Court will issue its ruling shortly thereafter. Is
there anything further?

Mr. Rienzi: No, Your Honor.

Ms. Cortes: No, Your Honor.

The Court: Okay. Have a good evening.
(All rise.)
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

SHARONELL FULTON,
CECELIA PAUL, TONI

LYNN SIMMS-BUSCH,

and CATHOLIC SO-

CIAL SERVICES,

Plaintiffs,

. Civil Action
No. 18-2

CITY OF PHILADEL- O 8-2075

PHIA, DEPARTMENT Assigned to the

OF HUMAN SERVICES | Honorable Judge Tucker
FOR THE CITY OF
PHILADELPHIA, and
PHILADELPHIA COM-
MISSION ON HUMAN
RELATIONS,

Defendants.

DECLARATION OF DOE FOSTER MOTHER #1

1. I am over the age of 21 years old and capable of mak-
ing this declaration pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746. 1
have not been convicted of a felony or been convicted
of a crime of dishonesty. I have personal knowledge of
all of the contents of this declaration.

2.1 am a foster parent who works with Catholic Social
Services. I have fostered fourteen children over eight-
een years as a foster parent, and I have adopted two of
them. Some of the children I have cared for have had
significant special needs and learning disabilities. For
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example, more than one of the children I have cared
for was diagnosed with autism.

[Appx. 1003]

3. Catholic Social Services has provided me with sig-
nificant support and resources to help me care for the
needs of my foster children, and they also provided me
with additional help as I worked to meet the needs of
my autistic foster children. I have been able to call so-
cial workers at any hour and receive an answer from
someone I knew and trusted, and I have always relied
heavily on the social workers I interact with. These so-
cial workers have always demonstrated the highest
level of care and have shown great love and attention
to my children. Although I am not Catholic, I am a re-
ligious person and I appreciate the spiritual environ-
ment at Catholic Social Services and the way that
seems to motivate a dedication to children. My own re-
ligious beliefs inspire me to want to care for children
In need.

4.1 have never worked with another foster agency and
I am not certified to receive foster placements through
any other agency. I want to continue working with the
agency and social workers whom I trust.

5. I received a new foster son, Doe Foster Child #1, in
October of 2016. Doe Foster Child #1 is a young child,
but he is the age that other children have normally al-
ready started speaking in full sentences. However,
when Doe Foster Child #1 came to my home he never
spoke at all in the beginning. He also had great diffi-
culty eating, and he was very fearful of other normal
activities like taking a bath. Because he did not speak,
1t was also difficult to understand in the beginning
what Doe Foster Child #1 needed. After consultation
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with my Catholic Social Service social workers, and
with medical attention, Doe Foster Child #1 was diag-
nosed with autism. Because of Doe Foster Child #1’s
age, we do not know yet Doe Foster Child #1’s level on
the [Appx. 1004] autism spectrum. We began to take
Doe Foster Child #1 to receive therapy for autism, and

we also had more information about how to meet Doe
Foster Child #1’s needs.

6. In the months after coming to our family, Doe Foster
Child #1 began to show remarkable progress. He be-
gan to say some words, like “hi” and “bye,” he would
play happily in the bath, and he showed great affection
and attachment to our family members. Doe Foster
Child #1 is also the same age as my grandson who lives
with me. The two boys shared a room and developed a
deep bond. I would often find them playing together in
the backyard.

7. On one occasion, one of my adult children took Doe
Foster Child #1 to the dentist for an appointment. Doe
Foster Child #1 was so fearful and upset when he
thought he would be taken from our family. But when
he came back after the appointment he bolted out of
the car and into the house and held me tight as he hap-
pily and repeatedly said, “hi, hi.” T assured him that
this was his home, that he did not need to worry, that
I loved him, and everything was ok.

8. When I have adopted foster children in the past, one
of my adult children co-signed on the adoption. That
way if anything ever happened to me, I had peace of
mind knowing that my adopted child would still be
taken care of.

9. Within the last few months, Doe Foster Child #1’s
social worker asked if I wanted to adopt Doe Foster
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Child #1. He said that no other families were inter-
ested in adopting. I expressed interest in adopting, but
I explained that I needed to consult with my adult chil-
dren and figure out who would co-sign on Doe Foster
[Appx. 1005] Child #1’s adoption. Because of different
events going on in the lives of my adult children, I
knew that this would take some time.

10. Just a few weeks ago, Doe Foster Child #1 was re-
moved from my home to be placed with another foster
family who was immediately ready to adopt Doe Fos-
ter Child #1. I was heartbroken when this happened. I
thought that I would have more time and be able to
adopt Doe Foster Child #1 myself. When the social
worker with the CUA in charge of Doe Foster Child #1
came to pick him up to take him away, I kissed him
goodbye and told him how much I loved him. But every
time the social worker tried to lead Doe Foster Child
#1 out of our home, he would wriggle free and come
running back to hold me. Doe Foster Child #1 finally
had to be carried crying from our home. I watched from
the window in my house as my adult son helped carry
Doe Foster Child #1 out. While doing so, my son kept
assuring Doe Foster Child #1 that it would be ok, that
he would like his new family, and that we would al-
ways love him.

11. Very recently, the social worker with the CUA in
charge of Doe Foster Child #1 contacted me and let me
know that an emergency situation had arisen with the
foster family Doe Foster Child #1 was placed with, and
all the children in that home were being immediately

removed. He did not give me details, but he asked if I
would be willing to take Doe Foster Child #1 back. My
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immediate response was, “bring my son home.” The so-
cial worker said he needed to check with DHS and
would get back to me.

[Appx. 1006]

12. The social worker then followed up the same day
and informed me that DHS denied the request to place
Doe Foster Child #1 with me because I work with
Catholic Social Services. DHS apparently told the so-
cial worker that “Catholic Social Services is going
through a case right now and DHS is not approving
him to come back here.” I was devastated when I heard
this news. The social worker seemed upset as well. The
social worker said that the only option they had for
Doe Foster Child #1 was a temporary respite home,
but he would be moved from that home after a few
days while they searched for another home.

13. I repeatedly expressed my desire to Doe Foster
Child #1’s social worker that he bring Doe Foster Child
#1 back to my home. I also communicated this to my
social workers at Catholic Social Services. I also spoke
with my adult son, who told me he was prepared to co-
sign on Doe Foster Child #1’s adoption if we could get
him back. I communicated the fact that I was immedi-
ately prepared to adopt Doe Foster Child #1 to my so-
cial workers and Doe Foster Child #1’s social worker,
but the social workers still did not bring Doe Foster
Child #1 back home. My grandson frequently asks
when Doe Foster Child #1 will come back home.

14. Recently, the social worker informed me that Doe
Foster Child #1 was having difficulty associated with
normal bodily functions. The social worker asked if I
had any advice to help Doe Foster Child #1. It sounded
to me as though Doe Foster Child #1 was regressing,
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and that some of these problems were related to Doe
Foster Child #1’s earlier issues with eating properly. I
gave the social worker detailed instructions about how
to prepare Doe Foster Child #1’s food, what he liked to
eat, [Appx. 1007] and how to help him with other bod-
ily functions. But I also expressed again that the best
thing for Doe Foster Child #1 would be to come back to
our family. When Doe Foster Child #1 lived in our
home, he was thriving and he felt safe and loved.

15. I have learned that Doe Foster Child #1 has not
been receiving his regular and needed therapy for his
autism, because Doe Foster Child #1’s school called me
to ask why Doe Foster Child #1 had not been attending
his special classes and receiving therapy. The school
wondered if Doe Foster Child #1 was sick since he had
not been attending. I am worried about his physical
and emotional wellbeing right now. I also understand
that Doe Foster Child #1 has since been moved to an-
other temporary respite home, and that there is no
other permanent home available for Doe Foster Child
#1 right now. My understanding is that under normal
circumstances, Doe Foster Child #1 would have been
placed with me so that I could give him the love and
care he needs, and we could proceed with the adoption
process. DHS has not provided me with any reason—
other than its dispute with Catholic Social Services—
for refusing to let me care for Doe Foster Child #1, I
say prayers for his return throughout the day and look
at Doe Foster Child #1’s pictures every night. I fre-
quently call his social worker to see if I can do any-
thing to get Doe Foster Child #1 back. I cannot under-
stand why Doe Foster Child #1 is being kept from me.

[Appx. 1008]
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I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is
true and correct. Executed on June 6, 2018.

[s/Doe Foster Mother #1
Doe Foster Mother #1
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City of Philadelphia
Department of Human Services

Contract Number 16-20030-04
Original Contract Number 16-20030
290 - Placement Services

[PSC (SAA) 290 rev]
[Rev. Date: June2017]

CONFORMED
STANDARD AMENDMENT AGREEMENT

This STANDARD AMENDMENT AGREEMENT
(“Amendment Agreement”) is made as of September
20, 2017 and effective July 1, 2017 (the “Effective
Date”) by and between the City of Philadelphia (“the
City”), by and through its DEPARTMENT OF HU-
MAN SERVICES (“Department”), and CATHOLIC
SOCIAL SERVICES (“Provider”), a nonprofit corpora-
tion, with its principal place of business at 222
NORTH 17th STREET, PHILADELPHIA, PENNSYL.-
VANTIA 19103.

BACKGROUND

The City and Provider entered into a certain Contract,
Contract Number 16-200301 dated November 30,
2015, which includes the City of Philadelphia Profes-
sional Services Contract General Provisions for the
Department of Human Services (the “General Provi-
sions”), the Provider Agreement, Cross Agency Re-
sponse for Effective Services (“‘CARES”) Limited Li-
cense Agreement (when applicable), and any and all
attachments, exhibits and documents thereto (collec-
tively, the “Base Contract”), wherein Provider agreed
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to render various Services to the City in accordance
therewith; and

The City and Provider entered into an amendment to
the Base Contract, Contract Number 16 -20030-01, for
the period July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016; and

The City and Provider entered into an amendment to
the Base Contract, Contract Number 16-20030-02, for
the period July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016; and

The City and Provider entered into an amendment to
the Base Contract, Contract Number 16-20030-03, for
the period July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017; and

[Appx. 1019]

Hereinafter, the Base Contract and all prior amend-
ments, if any, shall be referred to as the “Base Con-
tract as Amended;” and

It is necessary to INCREASE the amount of compen-
sation payable under the Base Contract as Amended
by Nineteen Million, Four Hundred Thirty Thousand,
Nine Hundred Ninety-One Dollars and Twenty-Three
Cents ($19,430,991.23), in order for Provider to con-
tinue to render the Services and provide the Materials
specified in the Base Contract as Amended and this
Amendment Agreement; and

The City and Provider have agreed to amend certain
terms and conditions of the Base Contract as
Amended, as set forth herein; and

In consideration of the mutual obligations set forth
herein, and each intending to be legally bound, the
City and Provider covenant and agree as of the Effec-
tive Date as follows:
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ARTICLE I: AMENDMENTS TO THE CONTRACT

With the exception of the following amendments set
forth in this Amendment Agreement, and subject to
councilmanic appropriation of funds, the terms and
conditions of the Provider Agreement “as amended”
shall be and remain in full force and effect:

1.1 Incorporation of Background. The Background is
incorporated by reference herein.

1.2 Definitions. Capitalized terms not otherwise de-
fined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the
Base Contract as Amended.

1.3 Term. The term of the Base Contract as Amended
1s extended for an Additional Term commencing JULY
1, 2017 and expiring JUNE 30, 2018.

1.4 Compensation. As compensation for the Services
and Materials being provided under this Contract, the
City covenants and agrees to set the amount of com-
pensation payable to Provider for the current contract
term at_Nineteen Million, Four Hundred Thirty Thou-
sand, Nine [Appx. 1020] Hundred Ninety-One Dollars
and Twenty-Three Cents ($19,430,991.23). Notwith-
standing anything in the Contract to the contrary, in
no event shall the amount certified by the Finance De-
partment for Services and Materials under the Con-
tract, including this Amendment Agreement, exceed
Forty-Three Million, One Hundred Seventy-Eight
Thousand, Seven Dollars and Twenty-Three Cents
($43,178,007.23).

1.5 Services and Materials. Section 2.1 of the Provider
Agreement, is amended in accordance with the attach-
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ments listed below, which are attached to this Amend-
ment Agreement and incorporated herein by refer-
ence.

(a) S.A.A.-1: Service, Rate, Maximum Days/Units
(b) S.A.A.-2: Scope of Services

Section 2.1 of the Provider Agreement, is amended in
accordance with the Exhibits listed below, which are
available on the Provider Extranet and incorporated
herein by reference.

(¢) S.A.A.-3: Community Umbrella Agency Practice
Guidelines

(d) S.A.A.-4: Day Treatment Standards

(e) S.A.A.-5: Foster Family Care Standards

(f) S.A.A.-6: Group Home Standards

(2) S.A.A.-7: Institutional Care Standards

(h) S.A.A.-8: Re-Integration Standards

(1) S.A.A.-9: Specialized Behavioral Health Standards
(G) S.A.A.-10: Maternity Mother/Baby Standards

(k) S.A.A.-11: Medical Standards

() S.A.A.-12: Supervised Independent Living Stand-
ards

(m) S.A.A.-13: Streamlined Standards
(n) S.A.A.-14: CARES Limited License Agreement

(0) S.A.A.-15: Balanced and Restorative Justice Stand-
ards

[Appx. 1021]



JA 508

1.6 Additional Provisions. Other provisions, including,
without limitation, OEO participation commitments
and any exceptions or modifications to the General
Provisions of the Contract, are set forth in the follow-
ing clause(s) and incorporated herein by reference:

(a) DHS is increasing its administrative efficiency
through the use of electronic record keeping and data
sharing technology. As these updates occur, the De-
partment will continue to notify providers of these
technology requirement changes through written no-
tices. Failure to comply with any DHS technology re-
quirements (including, but not limited to the use of P-
Web and P-DRIVE) may result in a financial penalty
and/or a finding that an Event of Default has occurred.

1.7 Acknowledgment of General Provisions. Provider
specifically acknowledges that Provider has read and
understands the terms and conditions contained in the
General Provisions and acknowledges that by execut-
ing this Amendment Agreement, Provider shall be le-
gally bound by all of the terms of this Contract, includ-
ing, but not limited to, those set forth in the General
Provisions. The revised General Provisions are at-
tached to this document and are explicitly accepted by
the Provider.

1.8 Acknowledgment of Standards. Provider specifi-
cally acknowledges that Provider has read and under-
stands the terms and conditions contained in the ap-
plicable above referenced Performance and Service
Standards (“Standards”) formerly known as Service
Description and Contract Requirements, Service De-
scription, Performance Standards, Service Standards;
Procedural Manuals and/or Guides which are availa-
ble on the Provider Extranet at
(http://dhs.phila.gov/extranet/extrahome_pub.nsf/
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Content/ServiceStandards) which are incorporated to
this Amendment Agreement by reference. Provider
acknowledges that by executing this Amendment
Agreement, Provider shall be legally bound by all of
the terms of this Contract, including, but not limited
to, those set forth in the Standards currently pub-
lished on the Provider Extranet and any and all sub-
sequent amendments.

(SIGNATURE PAGE TO FOLLOW)
[Appx. 1022]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto, intend-
ing to be legally bound by all of the Contract Docu-
ments, have caused the Contract to be executed by
their respective duly authorized officers as of the date
in the heading of this Standard Amendment Agree-
ment.

APPROVED AS TO THE CITY OF PHILA-
FORM DELPHIA
%8%&%%‘]?{0 Through: The Depart-

’ ment of Human Services
CITY SOLICITOR

By: /s/ Cynthia Figueroa

Per: /s/ Crystal T. A9CS2EA6A1939B
Espanol

Name: Cynthia Figueroa
Title: Commissioner

7777TBBC1F E44C9
Name: Crystal T.

Espanol
Title: Assistant City

Solicitor

CATHOLIC SOCIAL
SERVICES

By: /s/ James Amato
6C6D46268B844FD
Name: James Amato
Title: Vice President
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By: /s/ Franz Fruehwald
D426312A44334D4
Name: Franz Fruehwald
Title: Chief Financial
Officer Assistant
Treasurer

[Appx. 1023]
City of Philadelphia Contract Routing Slip

External Negotiation/Encumbrance & Budget Verifi-
cation (Conformance Manager)

1. Review contract as signed by vendor and consult
with supervisor.

x Click the check box to attach additional documenta-
tion, if required.

2. Confirm Encumbrance; supervisor routes in ACIS to
Budget Verification.

3. Confirm Budget Verification completed in ACIS.
x Send to Law.
Approve as to Form (Attorney)

Click the check box to attach additional documenta-
tion, if required.

x Route in ACIS to Finance
Finance Certification

x Attach the Endorsement Sheet then route in ACIS
to Finance Review.

Finance Review

x Review then route in ACIS to Department Signs
Contract.
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Departmental Review (Conformance Manager)

x Route in ACIS to Conformance.
Conformance Review (Conformance Clerk)
x Conform Contract.

* * *
[Appx. 1031]

CITY OF PHILADELPHIA
DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN SERVICES

“We believe that a community-neighborhood approach
with clearly defined roles between county and provider
staff will positively impact safety, permanency, and
well-being.”

What are we working together to achieve?

o More children and youth maintained safely in their
own homes and communities.

o More children and youth achieving timely reunifi-
cation or other permanence.

o A reduction in the use of congregate care.

o Improved child, youth, and family functioning.

S.A.A.-2
Scope of Service:

For General, Kinship, and Teen Parent/Baby
Resource Home Care Providers

July 2017
[Appx. 1032]
Statement of Purpose:

This Scope of Service 1s made and entered into be-
tween Catholic Social Services (the Provider) and the
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Philadelphia Department of Human Services (DHS),
and sets forth the services for general, kinship, and
teen parent/baby resource home care.

Throughout this document, the term “Resource Par-
ent” refers to both kinship parents and non-relative
foster parents.

When a child or youth is placed through a Community
Umbrella Agency, CUA, the Provider offers ongoing
support and coaching to Resource Parents through
Provider Staff.! The Provider is required to work col-
laboratively with the CUA. Contracts between DHS
and all CUAs set forth services for resource home care
with case management responsibilities remaining
with the CUA. When the child or youth is receiving
case management services directly from DHS, the Pro-
vider must also deliver case management services to
the Resource Parent, parent or other reunification re-
source, and the child or youth and collaborate with the
assigned DHS Social Worker (DHS cases).

Department Overview:

The mission of the Department of Human Services
(DHS) i1s to provide and promote safety, permanency,
and well-being for children and youth at risk of abuse,
neglect and delinquency. DHS is organized in the fol-
lowing Divisions: Administration and Management,
Child Welfare Operations Division, Community Based
Prevention Services, Finance, Juvenile Justice Ser-
vices, and Performance Management and Technology.
DHS continues to implement the Improving Outcomes
for Children (IOC) model. The vision for IOC is to:

1 Provider Staff is responsible for recruiting and certifying foster
and kinship homes.
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o Maintain children and youth safely in their own
homes and community.

o Timely reunification or other permanency.

o Reduce use of congregate care.

o Improve children, youth, and family functioning.

As it relates to Resource Home care, the IOC frame-
work provides a single Case Manager to work with as-
signed families. The case management service is pro-
vided by Community Umbrella Agencies who are em-
bedded in the communities they serve.

For children and youth for whom the Provider contin-
ues to provide case management services, the case
management staff interact on a regular basis with
schools, medical, dental, and behavioral health provid-
ers; various community resources; and all service pro-
viders indicated on an Individual Service Plan (ISP) or
Family Service Plan (FSP). For youth funded and
placed by a CUA, the Provider interacts with external
resources as needed, collaborates and communicates
with the CUA, and continues to support the resource
caregivers.

Provider Organizational Overview:

Mission Statement: Catholic Social Services of the
Archdiocese of Philadelphia continues the work of Je-
sus by affirming, assisting and advocating for individ-
uals, families, and communities.

Vision and Values Statement: Catholic Social Services
Vision:
[Appx. 1033]

Catholic Social Services exists to transform lives and
bring about a just and compassionate society where
every individual is valued, families are healthy and
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strong, and communities are united in their commit-
ment to the good of all. We envision a world touched
by God’s mercy; where poverty and need are allevi-
ated, and all people share justly in the blessings of cre-
ation.

Catholic Social Services Values:

Compassion: genuine care and heartfelt concern for
those we serve

Dignity: respect for each person created in God’s im-
age, regardless of color, capacity, or age

Charity: generosity toward all people in response to
God’s goodness to us

Justice: defense of and advocacy for the rights of the
poor, vulnerable, and disadvantaged

Excellence: professional competence and responsible
stewardship of time and resources

Problems and Issues to be Addressed:

Ideally, children and youth should be with their own
families. When this is not possible, resource homes en-
sure that children and youth can be maintained safely
in their own community. All resource home procedures
and resources must be directed to supporting reunifi-
cation or other permanency options, and the overall
positive functioning of children, youth, and their fam-
ilies. Resource Parents must function as mentors to le-
gal families to support these goals. An increased focus
on recruiting resource caregivers who can manage ad-
olescents is required in order to reduce the use of con-
gregate care. There must also be a continued focus on
the need for resource homes for children who are 0-6
years of age. The specific Issue to be addressed by the
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Provider is to recruit, screen, train, and provide certi-
fied resource care homes for dependent children or
youth, some of whom will need support to address be-
havioral health, medical, and educational needs.
Homes for teens including pregnant teens and teen
parents (teen parent/baby placements) are a priority
in order to reduce the use of congregate care.

Program Objectives:

The program objectives are to provide trauma in-
formed and culturally competent placement resources
via trained resource caregivers. Resource caregivers
also serve as a mentor and support to the legal family.
Anticipated outcomes for resource home care services
are:

o To provide children with protection, care, and a
nurturing environment with certified Resource
Parents which can include extended family mem-
bers while a permanent plan can be established
within a set time frame.

o To focus on identifying strengths, developing pro-
tective capacities and building resiliency and adop-
tive coping skills.

o To facilitate participation in service delivery and/or
treatment provided by external resources so that
healthy partnerships can be created and goals on
the service plans can be archived.

o To provide opportunities to strengthen and develop
youth assets.

o To promote social competency skills.

o To ensure that youth is available for assigned court
related appearances.
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o To collaborate with the CUA case manager, DHS
and/or other team members in planning the transi-
tion into the next level of care which will ideally be
family reunification.

o To access medical, dental and behavioral health
services as needed.

o To provide support, including access to resources,
to achieve academic and vocational goals.

Program Overview:

Resource Home (Foster Care and Kinship Care): The
primary goal of Resource Home Care is to support the
safety, stability, permanency, and well-being needs of
the child or youth and legal family. Resource [Appx.
1034] Parents provide general care and supervision for
children and youth placed in their home. For CUA
cases, the Provider focus is on supporting the Resource
Parent while case management is provided by the
CUA. For cases in which DHS also provides case man-
agement, the Provider delivers case management ser-
vices and ongoing support to the parents and reunifi-
cation resource. Whether providing services for a DHS
case or a CUA case, the safety, stability, permanency,
and well-being needs of the child or youth and legal
family support includes developing a mentoring rela-
tionship with the legal family specifically in ways that
foster positive family relationships and reunification.
Resource caregivers are screened, trained, and certi-
fied by the Provider. In kinship care, the caregiver
may also be an extended family member, friend, pre-
vious Resource Parent, or other professional who in
the past has established a relationship with the child.

General level resource care, including kinship: Chil-
dren and youth identified for this service category
mostly demonstrate a moderate degree of behavioral,
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social, emotional, intellectual, and educational needs
or issues. Service needs are compounded by normal
placement adjustment issues. Routine care and super-
vision of the children and youth is manageable with
some ongoing training and support from the Provider.
Siblings are placed together whenever possible.

In addition:

o Youth may require access to special education, or
developmental or vocational services. This will be
specified in either the FSP or the SCP depending
on who is primarily responsible for case manage-
ment functions (DHS or CUA).

o The child’s or youth’s biological family requires
support and to maintain their emotional bond with
their children and to address identified safety Is-
sues and permanency goals.

o Children and youth may require therapy or other
therapeutic services provided by external resources
as specified in either the FSP or the SCP, depend-
ing on who is primarily responsible for case man-
agement functions (either DHS or CUA).

o Children and youth require routine health care or
may have minor health or medical needs for which
follow up care 1s to be provided.

o The Provider agency staff or Resource Parents, or
both participate in teaming meetings and develop-

ment of SCP (CUA cases).

Teen Parent/Baby Foster or Kinship Placement Ser-
vices: Teenage parents and their child who are 1denti-
fied for this service category demonstrate difficulty in
behavioral, social, emotional, or intellectual develop-
ment. The adolescent is not prepared to assume their
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current parental role. The child’s legal family is typi-
cally not equipped to adequately address the adoles-
cent needs.

This service includes:

o General care of healthy infants or toddlers requir-
ing routine care. The adolescent is physically
healthy and requires routine care.

o Neither the teen nor the child requires specially
trained Resource Parents.

o Parents or reunification resource, if different, re-
quires support and to maintain their emotional
bond with the teen and the teen’s child and to ad-
dress identified safety issues and permanency
goals.

Services:
Referrals:

The DHS Central Referral Unit and the DHS On-going
Worker, the DHS Investigating Worker (if a newly ac-
cepted case), or CUA Case Manager (CUA CM) must
share with the Provider pertinent information as re-
quired by the five county standards which include:
medical consent form, Medical and Immunization Rec-
ords, Universal referral, service plan, placement his-
tory, court disposition, Court Orders, educational rec-
ords, birth certificate, and the name of the child’s or
youth’s attorney.

[Appx. 1035]
Case Management:

Case management will be provided either by the Pro-
vider (for DHS placements) or one of the CUA’s (for
CUA placements). The CUA Case Manager will visit
the resource home at least once per month. For DHS
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placements, the Provider Case Manager will visit the
home as required pursuant to DHS performance
standards.

For CUA placements, the Provider offers support to
the resource caregivers via a Provider Staff as defined
earlier in this document. They may visit the resource
caregiver as often as needed but at a minimum, once
per quarter. They provide other supportive services to
resource caregivers and act as a possible liaison to
CUAs as needed.

For DHS placements, there is a Provider Case Man-
ager assigned to the case.

Examples of relevant topics to be discussed with the
DHS Worker or CUA Case Manager include:

o Child’s or youth’s adjustment to the home.

o Behavior management strategies.

o Child’s or youth’s educational, medical, and behav-
1oral health progress.

o Resource Parent’s ability to meet needs and assis-
tance needed.

o Relationship with parents and reunification re-
source, and quality of visits (if applicable).

Examples of relevant topics to be discussed with Case
Manager (CUA or DHS) include:

o Placement stability.

o Relationship issues with the other children in the
resource home.

o Child’s educational, medical, and behavioral health
needs and proposed interventions.

o Behavior management strategies utilized by the
Resource Parents.
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Relationship between Resource Parent and parents
and reunification resource, if different and issues
related to the resource caregiver as a mentor.
Clarification of the role of the CUA Case Manager.
Youth’s interaction in the community and use of
community resources.

Progress or lack of progression toward attainment
of service plan goals.

Permanency planning.

Results of Like Skills Assessment and related plan-
ning to help youth develop life skills.

Provision of routine medical and dental care.
Supplemental services or needs.

All resource caregivers and the Provider must ensure
that:

O

Three nourishing meals and additional snacks
daily are provided and any special dietary needs or
religious food restrictions are accommodated. Food
is never to be withheld as a means of discipline.

Provide children and youth with new, age appro-
priate, and seasonal clothing. All clothing should
be purchased new with the child or youth, when ap-
propriate, having choice in the selection. Consign-
ment shops may be used as long as all household
members utilize this option. Foster children and
youth are to be treated no differently. All clothing
purchased 1s the property of the child or youth.
Purchase of necessary clothing is never to be with-
held as a means of discipline by Resource Parents.

All resource homes must and the Provider must en-
sure that:
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The home 1s free of infestation, structural damage
that poses an immediate threat to safety, lead (un-
less being treated), non-functioning utilities, fire or
other health or safety hazards.

There must be a working land line phone within
the residence.

The home meets all of the requirements of an ap-
proved adoptive placement. At the same time, Re-
source Parents must be willing to work with and
mentor the reunification resource to ensure [Appx.
1036] that children and youth can reunify in a
timely way. If reunification is not feasible, Re-
source Parents must be willing to consider being a
permanency resource for children and youth placed
in their care.

More specifically resource homes must meet the fol-
lowing criteria:

o

All doors leading outside of the house are able to be
locked or otherwise secured.

There are cribs for infants and beds for each child
and youth.

There are working smoke detectors, fire extin-
guishers, and carbon monoxide detectors. Chemi-
cals and drugs are stored properly away from chil-
dren and youth.

Firearms are locked and ammunition is stored sep-
arately in a locked container.

Safe infant and toddler care, as applicable to the
age of the children placed in the home including:

e Safe bathing and the use of bath water ther-
mometers.
e Safe sleeping.
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e Car seats appropriate to the age and weight of
the children if the resource family owns or will
transport children in a vehicle.

e Child proofing of the home and environment in-
cluding stair gates, radiator covers, fireplace
guards and other necessary safety devices in-
cluding outlet covers.

The home must have and the Provider must ensure
that there are the following resources:

Mobile Crisis number and contacting procedures.

Suicide Prevention Hotline number.

Poison Control number.

Smoke detectors and fire extinguishers.

Police Department number and contacting proce-

dures.

o Drug and Alcohol Intervention numbers and con-
tacting procedures.

o No smoking signs.

O O O O O

The Provider must complete an inspection of the above
for all Resource Parents on a quarterly basis. The Pro-
vider is responsible for offering training and related
support to Resource Parents that includes the impact
that trauma has on youth behaviors and functioning,
ways to motivate positive behaviors of children and
youth, and strategies on ways to manage child and
youth behaviors and encourage positive behaviors in a
manner that is not vindictive, abusive, or degrading
for children and youth placed by CUA’s, this support
1s provided to resource caregivers by Provider Staff.
The Provider recognizes that the interaction between
a caring Resource Parent and the child or youth is an
opportunity to help them recognize their inherent as-
sets and strengths, and develop acceptable behaviors.
Such support assists children and youth in developing
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skills that promote their successful integration into
the community.

Provider and Resource Parents are prohibited by both
PA Regulation and DHS policy from using corporal
punishment, threats or derogatory remarks, the de-
priving of meals, and the depriving of visits with par-
ents or others, verbal abuse or any punitive, unusual,
or unnecessary consequences for behaviors.

In deciding on an effective means of intervening dur-
ing conflict, Resource Parents assess and ensure the
following:

o The child’s or youth’s ability to problem solve and
social or emotional maturity.

o There is open communication with the child or
youth to understand reactions and feelings.

o Set clear limits and guidelines for positive behavior
and ensure they have been communicated effec-
tively.

o That expectations for improved behaviors are de-
fined or explained so that youth can develop new
skills and receive Incentives for pro social or posi-
tive behaviors.

[Appx. 1037]

If the Provider Staff (CUA cases) or Provider Case
Manager (DHS cases) suspect that the disciplinary ac-
tions occurring in the foster home violate the Pennsyl-
vania Child Protective Services Law, it is the man-
dated obligation of the Provider Staff to immediately
report this incident to the Pennsylvania Child Abuse
Hotline and to DHS. In some cases, the police and the
District Attorney’s Office may also be involved in in-
vestigating any alleged criminal actions. The State in-
vestigates these reports and determines if the incident
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is indicated or unfounded. State Foster Family Care
Regulations mandate that the agency remove children
and youth in situations where their safety is in ques-
tion. Children and youth may require removal from
the resource home while an investigation is taking
place unless an acceptable plan of supervision can be
put in place to ensure safety. This decision is made in
conjunction with the Southeast Regional Office inves-
tigating the report, the CUA CM, if a CUA case and
either the DHS Worker or the DHS Investigator as-
signed.

If the decision is made to allow the child or youth to
remain in the home during or following an investiga-
tion, a written plan of supervision must be developed
by the appropriate case management team. If the Re-
source Parent is placed on probation for this or any
other reasons, no additional placements will be made
in the Resource Parent’s home during a probationary
period or whenever the investigation is complete.

All placement moves must be legally approved by the
Court or by agreement of all parties except in the case
of emergencies. It is the case management’s team re-
sponsibility to obtain Court authorization to move
children or youth through the City of Philadelphia
Law Department.

Visitation:

The frequency and duration of visits both with reuni-
fication resources, concurrent plan resources, and sib-
lings must be as liberal as possible from the time of
placement. Whenever possible, visitation should be
weekly but parental and sibling visitation cannot be
less than twice monthly unless otherwise prohibited or
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specified by Court. The visitation plan must be dis-
cussed and agreed upon. It must be accommodating to
the schedules of the reunification resource, children,
and youth and include weekends or evenings or both
where needed.

For DHS placements, Provider Case Managers are re-
sponsible for visitation. For CUA placements, CUA’s
are responsible for visitation based on the SCP. Either
Provider or CUA must ensure that children and youth
have adequate resources and Items provided by the
Resource Parent to have successful visits. This may in-
clude a provision of transportation for the visitation,
food, diapers, etc. to meet the child’s needs.

Whenever children or youth are placed or re-placed, a
visit must occur between the child or youth and the
parent from whom they are removed as soon as possi-
ble and no later than two business days.

An introductory meeting between the Resource Parent
or the Provider Staff and the parents must also occur
within five business days of the placement or replace-
ment. Resource Parents should communicate with the
parents or other reunification resources regularly and
at least monthly about the children or youth outside of
regularly scheduled visits. Siblings are to be placed to-
gether whenever possible. When siblings are not able
to be placed together, visits are to occur between the
siblings bi-weekly, at a minimum, unless otherwise di-
rected by Court Order.

Whenever possible visits must be:

o In the home of the reunification resource unless
there is a Court Order, clear documentation in the
visitation plan, service plan or in a Structured Pro-
gress Note as to why this cannot occur. If other
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than the home of the reunification resource, visits
must be in a family-like and family friendly visita-
tion space that allows for normal parent-child in-
teraction, ideally in the home of a relative or Re-
source Parent. If such home 1s not available, visits
should occur at a community [Appx. 1038] location
familiar to the child, youth, or parent (such as a
recreation center, playground, or church). The op-
tion of last resort is a family-friendly area of the
Provider’s as the case manager or subcontractor for
a CUA. In order to move from the best option in the
hierarchy to a lower option, the higher option must
be ruled out and the reasons for ruling it out must
be clearly documented. When visits are not in the
home, a progression plan for visits in the home
must be considered at the service plan meetings
and court hearings.

o Supervised only if necessary, based on clear threats
to the safety of children and youth or Court Order.
Persons supervising visits must ensure safety, re-
main in line of sight and earshot, and provide un-
obtrusive constructive feedback and coaching on
parenting.

o Accommodating to the schedules of the reunifica-
tion resource, children, and youth.

Transportation: Will be coordinated between all par-
ties. Visits between parents and children and youth
are critical to support and enhance the process of
reaching the goals of reunification.

Teaming: For DHS cases, the Provider’s Case Man-
ager participates in DHS Family Service Plan (FSP)
meetings and develops the Individual Service Plan
(ISP). For CUA cases, Resource Parents or an agency
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representative, such as Provider Staff as defined ear-
lier, or both will participate in teaming as needed. In-
formation critical for decision making and planning
will be shared with the CUA Case Manager prior to all
teaming meetings.

Court:

For CUA, Provider Staff may be called upon to testify
to safety or any other matters as providers currently
are called upon. The Law Department will notify the
CUA CM, and, if necessary, subpoena the provider.
For DHS cases, the Provider Case Manager appears in
court and provides safety testimony as well as family
progress Information to the Court.

Placement Disruption:

Providers and Resource Parents must give 30 days no-
tice to DHS CRU regarding the need to remove a child
or youth.

Whenever there appears or it is reported by either the
child or youth or the Resource Parent that the place-
ment is in danger of disruption or the Resource Parent
gives 30 days notice, the Provider must notify CRU im-
mediately. An emaill must be sent to
DHS_CRU@phila.gov with the subject line to read: “30
Day Notice.”

If a CUA case, the CUA CM 1is to be notified and a
Placement Stability Conference must be requested.
The Provider and Resource Parent must be invited
and must participate in this conference. The focus of
the conference is to determine whether there are addi-
tional supports that could be put into place to avoid
the disruption.
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If it 1s a DHS case, the Provider and DHS Worker and
Supervisors must conference the case together to de-
termine whether there are additional supports that
could be put into place to avoid the disruption.

Reporting:
High Profile Cases:

In an effort to keep abreast of high profile cases, Child
Welfare Operations Leadership is requiring that all
Directors of all agencies report to the appropriate Op-
erations Director (DHS Front End, DHS Permanency
and Well-being Services, or DHS CUA) via telephone
and email any high profile case that come to their at-
tention. These high profile cases must be conferenced
with the assigned chain of command, including the
CUA Director, and then the Director determines if a
CWO Management team meeting is needed. This is a
collaborative effort between CWO Management and
Support Centers to extend support and guidance to
DHS Social Work Services and CUA staff in their de-
cision-making.

[Appx. 1039]
Criteria:

o Death of a child or youth involved with DHS or In
a DHS Involved household.

o Any missing child 12 years of age or under and ac-
tive with DHS (committed to DHS or receiving in-
home services).

o Any child or youth sexually abused while in care.

Media report Involving DHS cases or families.

o Any child or youth committed to DHS and hospital-
1zed subsequent to injury (whether accidentally or
intentionally injured).

©)
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o The arrest of a kin, Resource Parent, or any house-
hold member of a resource home, including any
child or youth committed to the Department.

o Notification from any placement agency that a
child or youth has been moved due to a report of
abuse or neglect and the kin, Resource Parent, or
household member is the alleged perpetrator.

o Any other type of incident as may be subsequently
designated by the Department as High Profile.

Notification Procedure:

o The Provider must immediately notify the CUA
Chain of Command until an in-person contact is
made or through the CUA after hours mechanism.

o The CUA staff who is informed must notify the
chain of command {up to Director level).

o Directors must immediately notify via telephone
the Operations Director who has responsibility for
their service and subsequently send an email noti-
fication within 24 hours to
e Operations Director for Front End Services;

e Operations Director for Permanency and Well-
being Services;

e Operations Director for Improving Outcomes
for Children; and

e Chief of Staff for the Deputy Commissioner.

o The CWO Deputy Commissioner will be contacted
as needed. The CWO Deputy Commissioner noti-
fies the Commissioner and other Executive Staff
members as appropriate and always if the media is
involved.

e After hours notifications must be given to the
Hotline Staff and Hotline Staff must immedi-
ately alert the Operations Director.
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The above does not relieve any agency required to re-
port incidents through HCSIS.

Information Sharing:

Routine information that emerges during or between
visits such as a change in school functioning, relevant
communication with a family member, emerging well-
ness concerns, or new legal family information that po-
tentially changes goals or objectives identified In the
FSP or SCP, whichever is applicable, must be reported
to the DHS Worker or Supervisor (DHS case), or the
CUA Case Manager or Supervisor (CUA case), during
the same business week that the information becomes
known.

Media Inquiries:

In the event that the Provider receives a media in-
quiry, the Provider must notify the CUA Director and
DHS Communications Director. Staff are not permit-
ted to comment or even acknowledge a case, but should
direct such inquiries to the Department’s Communica-
tions Director.

Megan’s Law Requirements:

When a sexually violent predator from the National
Megan’s Law database lives or moves within 1000 feet
of any of a Provider’s resource home, the Provider re-
ceives an electronic notification from the Department.
Upon receipt of this notification, the Provider must do
the following:

[Appx. 1040]

o Make a telephone call (within 24 hours of the elec-
tronic notification) to the resource home notifying
the Resource Parent that a sexually violent preda-
tor lives within 1000 feet of the home.
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o Visit the resource home within 48 hours and:

e Review the Megan’s Law Safety Plan with the
Resource Parent and any youth 14 and older.

e Have all parties sign the Megan’s Law Notifica-
tion and Safety Plan.

e Provide a picture of the predator.

o Mail a copy of the signed Megan’s Law Notifica-
tion/Safety Plan or Receipt of Megan’s Law Notifi-
cation and Safety Plan to the DHS Ombudsman in
care of the DHS Commissioner’s Office: 1515 Arch
Street, 8th Floor, Philadelphia, PA 19102

o Email the signed Megan’s Law Notification and
Safety Plan to the CUA Director of Quality Assur-
ance for any child or youth residing in the facility.

Foster Parent Registry

Providers promptly provide information to the PA Fos-
ter Parent Registry regarding Resource Parent Care-
giver status and changes in status between annual
certification and re-certification time frames.

Providers must ensure current and updated copies of
each Resource Caregiver’s Certificate of Compliance
are provided to the Department and the CUA. Provid-
ers must upload Resource Home certification infor-
mation and documentation to the Provider Licensure
module of DHSConnect whenever Resource Caregiv-
ers are certified and whenever their certification sta-
tus changes.

Mentoring:

The Resource Parent must play a role in facilitating
reunification as described in the service plans. Primar-
ily this will be based on the Resource Parents’ capabil-
ities to serve as a mentor to the legal family and assist
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legal family in strengthening parental capabilities, as-
sisting with planned activities, modeling and fostering
positive parent-child interaction.

See also, the DHS Performance Standards, DHS pol-
icy, and as appropriate, the IOC Practice and Fiscal
Guidelines for relevant policy.

Hours and location of work:

The Provider must have 24 hours a day, 7 days a week
accessibility. For CUA cases, resource homes are lo-
cated ideally in the CUA region.

Emergency contact procedures are as follows:

Departmental supervisory staff will provide emer-
gency coverage on a rotational basis to ensure access
to agency assistance and services outside of regular
business hours for referrals from the Philadelphia De-
partment of Human Services and Community Um-
brella Agencies for the placement of children in appro-
priate foster homes and to respond to emergencies in-
volving the children and families served by the pro-
gram. The on call supervisor can be reached at 215-
808-8656.

The administrative office for the Provider is located at:

Catholic Human Services
222 N. 17th Street

3rd floor

Philadelphia, PA 19103

[Appx. 1041]

Referrals are typically accepted during normal work
hours although emergency placements are considered
on a case by case basis.
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Staffing Structure:

Attach Agency Organizational Chart and Program Or-
ganizational Chart.

Technology requirements:

Internet access to utilize DHSConnect.
Funding restrictions:

(Insert N/A or describe restrictions)
The program is overseen by:

Robert Montoro, MSW, Administrator
[Appx. 1042]
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GENERAL PROVISIONS

ARTICLE I: DEFINITIONS

1.1 ADA. “ADA” shall have the meaning set forth in
Section 15.5 (Americans with Disabilities Act) below.

1.2 Additional Services and Materials. “Additional
Services and Materials” shall have the meaning set
forth in Section 3.3 (Additional Services and Materi-
als; Change in Scope of Services) below.

1.3 Additional Term, Additional Terms. “Additional
Term” and “Additional Terms” shall have the mean-
ings set forth in Section 2.2 (Additional Terms) below.

1.4 Agency. “Agency” shall have the meaning set forth
in Section 7 .8 (Audits Pursuant to Section 6-400 of the
Home Rule Charter) below.

1.5 Aggregate Actual Cost. “Aggregate Actual Cost”
means the sum of all Total Actual Costs incurred by
Provider in provision of the Services.



JA 548

1.6 Appropriated Fiscal Year. “Appropriated Fiscal
Year” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 6.4
(Crossing Fiscal Years) below.

1.7 Amendment. “Amendment” means (a) a written
modification or change to any Contract Document
signed by both Parties, and (b) a Modification Notice
(see Section 6.9 Maximum Daily Rate, Days of Care or
Units of Service (or combination thereof) below).

1.8 Applicable Law. “Applicable Law” means all appli-
cable present and future federal, state or local laws,
ordinances, executive orders, rules, regulations and all
court orders, injunctions, decrees and other official in-
terpretations thereof of any federal, state or local
court, administrative agency or governmental body,
including the City, the Commonwealth and the United
States of America. Applicable Law includes, without
limitation, the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter, the
Philadelphia Code, the Pennsylvania Code, and the
specific laws set forth in Article XV (Additional Cove-
nants of Provider Relating to Certain Applicable
Laws) below, each as amended from time to time.

1.9 Applicant. “Applicant” has the meaning as set
forth in Subsection 17-1401(1) of The Philadelphia
Code, as it may be amended from time to time. As of
June 2012, that definition was “[a] Person who has
filed an application to be awarded a Non-Competi-
tively Bid Contract.”

1.10 CBES. “CBES” means Community Based Emer-
gency Shelter, an emergency placement facility for de-
linquent or alleged delinquent youth.
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1.11 Certification of Restrictions on Lobbying. “Certi-
fication of Restrictions on Lobbying,” if required in the
Provider Agreement, means a certificate in the form
attached to the Provider Agreement.

1.12 City. The “City” means The City of Philadelphia,
a corporation and body politic existing under the laws
of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and includes
1ts various executive and administrative departments,
agencies, boards and commissions, including the De-
partment, and its legislature, City Council (defined be-
low). The City is a City of the First Class under the
laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.

1.13 City Agency. “City Agency” has the meaning as
set forth in Subsection 17-1401(5) of The Philadelphia
Code, as it may be amended from time to time. As of
June 2012, that definition was “[a]ny office, depart-

ment, board, commission or other agency of the City of
Philadelphia.”

1.14 City Council. “City Council” means the Council of
The City of Philadelphia, as described in Article II of
the Philadelphia Home Rule Charter, as it may be
amended from time to ti